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Airgas is a company of doers, not talkers. Our associates would rather roll up their sleeves than 
write a memo. They embrace change, instead of running from it. This entrepreneurial spirit has 
fueled Airgas’ growth from a small Connecticut packaged gas operation in 1982 to America’s 
largest supplier of industrial, medical and specialty gases and welding and safety supplies.

Last year, we took action at all levels of the company to build on the hard-earned momentum 
we’ve gained during the past three decades. At the corporate level, we made acquisitions to 
strengthen our core gas business and also created new business structures to support our growing 
strategic accounts, retail, bulk and refrigerant gases customer base. 

Our regional companies and business units worked together to provide seamless service 
and to prove that our responsibility doesn’t end after a sale or delivery. With OUTLOOK® 
Managed Services we remove the burden of supply management from our customers and take 
accountability for handling their supply chain in the most efficient and cost-effective way.

At the local level, our people put their strong customer service skills into practice. They steered 
store customers to the right welding tips for the job, answered our telesales phones with a friendly 
greeting and even made a late-night delivery of fire-suppressing nitrogen to save a farmer’s silo.

From top to bottom, Airgas is a company that believes in taking initiative and taking our future  
into our own hands.
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a culture that  
values initiative
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a culture that  
values expertise

Airgas associates know their stuff. Our company deals with serious products and services 
– gases that require regulatory and safety knowledge, filling and testing equipment 
that call for strong technical competence, and trucks that need the skills of experienced 
drivers.

We have developed a number of programs and positions that ensure we are exceeding 
the rigorous demands of the industry. 

Teams of sales specialists operate in all Airgas regions to provide customers with insight 
and advice on everything from welding and construction to specialty gas and bulk gas. 
These specialists bring a solutions mindset to the table. 

Last year, a leading medical research organization approached Airgas for ideas to address 
its crowded cryogenic site and preserve the integrity of its culture samples. An Airgas 
specialty gas specialist outlined how Airgas could build an off-site nitrogen-cooled 
repository complete with freezers, liquid nitrogen bulk tanks, monitoring, monthly 
reporting and double-layered security systems. In April 2010, the customer signed a five-
year agreement.

products
distribution

management
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Airgas drivers are also masters of their jobs. Every Airgas driver, even if they have 20 years 
behind the wheel, is required to complete driver training, which includes classroom lessons 
and co-pilot driving instruction with more experienced drivers. These “driver mentors” have 
the driving resume and clean driving record needed to steer their students through record-
keeping requirements, cylinder handling tips and every scenario they might face on the road.

The skill of our 5,000 drivers – who cover millions of miles of city streets, busy highways 
and mountain roads – was evident again last year. In 2009, the Compressed Gas Association 
recognized both our bulk and cylinder truck drivers as the safest in the industry. 

Longevity is one of the key reasons our people have become experts in their areas. Once they 
join, associates stay with Airgas. The company is still run by its founder, Peter McCausland, 
and most of the company’s senior executives and managers rose through the ranks. They 
earned their way to the top, and associates like the fact that people who know how to fill a 
gas cylinder and run a branch store are always involved in the most important decisions we 
make as a company.

From cylinder fillers and store managers to bulk 
gas specialists and truck drivers, Airgas’ 14,000 
associates have the training and technical 
proficiency that make them the industry’s 
reliable, go-to source for more than one million 
customers.
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a culture that  
values customer 
focus
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Airgas customers run the gamut, from weekend welders to the biggest businesses in  
America. Airgas associates have a genuine commitment to the success of every one  
of them.

For our largest strategic account customers, which have operations that stretch across 
multiple states and Airgas businesses, we are forming tighter connections that allow us 
to anticipate and meet their needs. Following a strategy that has worked well with our 
national medical and construction customers, we created strategic account teams focused 
on distinct market segments.

Energy. Retail. Food and beverage. Metal production and fabrication. Medical. These are a 
few examples of our 10 new strategic account teams, each one led by an Airgas executive 
with extensive background in their market segment, and supported by a network of 
national and local strategic account managers. Customers are already seeing value in 
having dedicated Airgas teams that understand their unique needs and issues, and with 
this strategy, we’re poised to accelerate sales.

knowledge
service

partnership

a culture that  
values customer 
focus
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We’re listening to our customers in many other important ways. This past year, when 
customers asked for an easier way to train their employees on the right and safe way to work 
with gases, we launched Airgas University. The online curriculum offers courses on product, 
process, safety and regulatory training, and lets users log on any time, day or night.

On the front lines, we’re improving the customer experience by providing associates with 
straight-ahead, sensible service techniques that they can take back to their branch, office, call 
desk or fill plant. The training mantra – connect, consult and complete – is quickly enhancing 
customers’ perception of Airgas. We’ve always had the products they need. Now we have the 
service that makes them want to call on Airgas.

This past year, we also built the foundation for a common business information platform using 
SAP that will unite our decentralized enterprise and make it easier for customers to do business 
with Airgas. Our company is formed from the integration of more than 400 acquisitions, and 
we take great pride in the local autonomy at our regions and branches. But as business unit 
conversions to this SAP system begin in fiscal 2011, we will be able to provide better answers, 
faster service and simplify all of our customer interactions. While this information platform 
requires a considerable investment of resources, it will generate substantial returns in the form 
of increased profitability and customer loyalty.

Airgas associates don’t just sell products, they 
provide solutions. Whether it’s a national energy 
company, regional retailer, local medical office or 
small metal-working shop, our customers know 
they can count on Airgas for the right answers 
and tight turnaround on product delivery.
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At Airgas, we don’t settle for second best or take shortcuts. If there’s a better and 
safer way to get the job done, we’ll find it. In many important ways, we are setting the 
standards for the packaged gas industry.

Consider our investment in technology that provides the most accurate calibration of 
specialty gas mixtures. Our mixtures are so precise that the U.S. National Institute of 
Standards and Technology (NIST) signed a five-year supply contract with us this year for 
500 different high-tolerance gas mixtures. These Airgas samples are now the benchmark 
that NIST uses to certify the gases used by industries to calibrate their instruments or 
perform other tasks safely within environmental guidelines.

At the core of this breakthrough advance in gas mixing is our patented automated gas 
filling technology, AcuGrav™, and its extension into automated analytics, FTIR (Fourier 
Transform Infrared) Spectroscopy. Developed by innovative Airgas engineers, these 
represent a quantum leap forward, eliminating manual filling and removing the human 
element from the exacting process of mixing high-tolerance specialty gas blends and their 
subsequent analysis. In early 2010, we also introduced StatusChecker™, a wireless system 
that lets labs and life science customers accurately monitor many gas and cryogenic 
functions remotely and without the need for additional staff.

innovation
efficiency

compliance

a culture that 
values quality
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Our commitment to quality extends to all parts of our operation. We are now using ultrasonic 
equipment to test the integrity of our 10 million cylinders. These “x-ray” systems are not only 
faster and more environmentally friendly than traditional water-intensive hydrostatic testing 
systems, they are also better at identifying small faults.

Our drivers perform intense pre-trip inspections every morning before they climb into their 
trucks – and they still meet customers’ delivery demands. Our distribution centers, which 
process more than 20,000 orders a day and make more than 5 million shipments each year, 
are using new radio frequency systems to improve their speed and accuracy.

Advanced technologies are helping us set a high bar for quality. But it’s our people that allow 
us to easily exceed even the most rigorous expectations and requirements. At Airgas, we hire 
talented, stand-up people and give them the tools and training – more than 200,000 hours of 
instruction in 2009 alone – they need to achieve our commitment to excellence.

Truck inspections and safety meetings. High 
technology cylinder filling and testing systems. 
Airgas is a company committed to compliance. 
We make the investments and take the time to 
perform our jobs the right way.
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As Airgas has grown through the years, so too have our citizenship efforts. We work 
hard to minimize our impact on the environment and maximize the reach of our helping 
hands into our communities and the causes that matter to all of us.

For us, citizenship starts with safety. We are stewards of a product line that demands 
untiring vigilance, and we never waver in our oversight efforts. Airgas drivers, forklift 
operators, cylinder fillers and even office workers receive intense and ongoing safety 
training, and our Airgas Emergency Response Organization (AERO) has more than 30 
teams and 300 technicians throughout the country with extensive training to respond to  
gas-related emergency situations. As acknowledged safety experts, our AERO teams 
are commonly called upon to assist firefighters and emergency personnel in stabilizing 
potentially dangerous situations even when Airgas products are not involved. 

Airgas is also becoming “greener” by the day. Our commitment to environmental 
responsibility extends to all parts of our company. Recent efforts in this area range from 
reduced driving miles to recyclable chemical cylinders and are outlined in more detail in 
the Social and Environmental Responsibility overview in this report.

safety
responsibility

citizenship

a culture that  
values caring
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The caring nature of Airgas associates is readily evident in their growing grassroots support of 
Operation Homefront. In 2010, Airgas continued its three-year, $300,000 commitment to this 
charity, which provides emergency assistance and moral support to military families left behind 
when troops are deployed and to wounded soldiers when they return home. Associates have 
made this much more than a “checkbook charity” by organizing fundraising walks, serving on 
the board of directors for their local Operation Homefront chapters, and literally donating tons 
of goods, gifts and holiday food.

Airgas associates aren’t looking for recognition for their safety, environmental and community 
service actions, but our company reinforces their good works through annual awards and 
high-profile articles in our company publications. Airgas has always strived to do the right 
thing for the long-term, and our associates have embraced that commitment in ways that 
make Airgas a great company and even better corporate citizen.

As a good neighbor, Airgas has products 
that minimize our environmental impact 
and AERO emergency response teams that 
safeguard our communities. We help people 
– from performing welding repairs at quad 
rugby tournaments, to providing services 
and contributions to Operation Homefront in 
support of military families.
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to our shareholders, customers, 
associates and friends:

a culture  
that values 
performance
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Every year, when I sit down to write this message, I look for 
the theme that sums up the previous 12 months at Airgas. 
This year, it was simple because the theme that defines fiscal 
year 2010 is the same one that has defined Airgas from the 
start: character.

Airgas is an organization that is up to any challenge. We have 
been able to grow and evolve over the years because our 
associates recognize that you don’t grab success. You earn 
it by stacking one small win on top of another, cultivating 
one satisfied and loyal customer after another, adjusting to 
market conditions and making changes that set you up for 
success far into the future.

This past year tested our character. It was a true gut check. In 
the midst of the worst recession since The Great Depression, 
we had to adapt, but calling on the core strengths of our 
people and our culture, we came out of the year with some 
incredible successes and major momentum. It wasn’t another 
across-the-board record year, but it was a year when our 
resiliency and strong business model came to the fore.

Overall, Airgas sales in fiscal 2010 declined 11 percent from 
the prior year to $3.9 billion, and the resulting adjusted 
earnings per share* were down 14 percent to $2.68. Same-
store sales declined 14 percent in total, driven by a 20 percent 
decline in hardgoods. In a sharp illustration of the economic 
severity, we experienced a down year in gas and rent same-
store sales – one of our key profit drivers – for the first time in 
our company history. 

doing the right thing for the long term 
Operating in one of the toughest financial environments 
in recent memory, Airgas responded by staying true to our 
company ethos: “Do the right thing for the long term.”

We completed construction on two new air separation 
units, strengthening our supply chain and our expanding 
bulk gas business. We made six acquisitions with aggregate 
annual revenue of $47 million. We opened a world-class 
hydrocarbon center of excellence and a new a liquid carbon 
dioxide plant in Houston, and made other major plant 
upgrades nationwide.

Investments in fiscal 2010 also centered on our people, product 
lines and operating processes. With Core Strategy II training, 
we continued to improve our service skills. We also made major 
strides in the construction of a new SAP information system 
that will give all Airgas associates access to shared, real-time 
data and give us the ability to work between branches and 
across regions to find the right solutions – more quickly – for 
our customers. After an intense year of planning and training, 
the phased implementation of the new system begins in  
July 2010.

It doesn’t end there. In the past year, we also introduced a new 
service group focused on providing helium to retail customers, 
developed a product – our AiRx™ diesel exhaust fluid – to 
help fleets reduce harmful emissions from diesel trucks and 
continued to advance efficiency programs at our gas production 
sites, fill plants and stores.

In the face of society’s “take the money and run” mentality, 
Airgas held true to its beliefs in 2010. We did the right things 
for the long term.

highlights and encouraging momentum 
That’s how Airgas reacts to a rough economic situation. We 
find ways to adapt and advance, and as a result, we chalked up 
some big wins in a tough year.

In fiscal 2010, Airgas achieved record free cash flow* of $411 
million, even as we made substantial capital expenditures 
including opening new plants, adding to our stock of cylinders 
and tanks, investing in new computer systems, purchasing 
“green” electric vehicles for our distribution centers and 
installing ultrasonic cylinder testing equipment in our fill plants. 
This robust cash flow is vital for our long-term vision, enabling 
us to continue to expand our footprint, enhance our operations 
and retain our position as the leading packaged gas company in 
America.

There were other financial highlights, as well. Our adjusted 
earnings per share* of $2.68 was within our May 2009 guidance 
and in line with our fiscal 2008 results. We were upgraded to 
an investment grade credit rating, and we increased our annual 
dividend by 36 percent compared to the previous year. 
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*Reconciliations of non-GAAP measures appear on pages 72 through 75, including a 
reconciliation to reported earnings of $2.34 per share, which reflects the impact of 
debt extinguishment, multi-employer pension plan withdrawal charges, costs related 
to an unsolicited takeover attempt, and tax benefits. Note that Interest Expense 
includes the discount on the securitization of trade receivables.  
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Most encouraging was the way the year played out. Airgas 
ended fiscal 2010 with a number of positive indicators. Our 
fourth quarter sales were 4 percent higher than the previous 
quarter, and we saw a 2 percent increase in sales-per-day 
during the last 90 days of the year. March 2010 was our first 
positive same-store sales month since November 2008, when 
the global economy came crashing down.

ready for the rebound 
The economic recovery appears to be building momentum, 
and Airgas has historically performed well following a 
downturn. But we’re not simply looking to past performance 
as an indicator of future success. Compared to the last 
major recession in 2002, Airgas is a much stronger and 
more customer-centric company. Our sales are more heavily 
weighted to our profitable gas business. We have better trained 
associates and increased and improved functional capabilities. 

Our progress in these areas accelerated in fiscal 2010. 

In the strategic accounts area – the multi-site, regional and 
national customers that today account for nearly 20 percent 
of our overall revenue – we realigned our sales and marketing 
organization and formed dedicated teams for 10 distinct 
and unique industry segments. Now, when a large energy 
company or healthcare chain comes to Airgas, they get access 
to experts who are steeped in the workings of their particular 
market segments and can engineer the right solutions. This 
same segment expertise also supports our local sales force in 
towns all across the country, making Airgas the right choice for 
customers of all shapes and sizes.

Our company also evolved in the way we deal with new 
business lines. Throughout our history, Airgas has continually 
expanded outside our core industrial cylinder gas offering into 
new higher-growth business categories: bulk, medical and 
specialty gases; safety products; and carbon dioxide and dry 
ice. Now, our organization has evolved in the way we integrate 
these new businesses into the existing Airgas culture and foster 
cooperation between our Airgas functional groups and these 
new adjacent businesses. 

Fiscal 2010 offers two great examples of how this synergy 
enhances customer service and revenue growth.

In fiscal 2009, we combined three recent acquisitions to form 
Airgas Refrigerants, which instantly took its place as the 
leading refrigerant gases supplier in the heating, ventilation, air 
conditioning and refrigeration industries. In the past, it would 
have operated as a standalone business, with its own sales and 
service representatives. But in fiscal 2010, with a program dubbed 
“Operation Cold Front,” we combined the strengths of  
Airgas regional companies – customer contacts and strong 
reputation – with the capabilities of the Airgas Refrigerants team. 
The team approach is generating wins both big and small across 
the country.

We took a similar integration approach with our Airgas Merchant 
Gases business, which produces and delivers bulk gases to 
customers across the U.S. Working with our regional companies 
and market-focused teams, our merchant gas business has 
been earning business from new customers in many different 
industries. This winning combination, which leverages the 
benefits of being a fully integrated gas supplier, and our customer 
base of 1 million strong will contribute powerful profitability as 
the economy recovers.

no retreat 
I’m particularly proud that this growth and progress occurred 
during a time period when Airgas could easily have fallen prey 
to a bunker mentality. But that’s not in our DNA. We are a 
company that always looks forward and finds ways to improve 
regardless of the external environment. Simply put, we find ways 
to overcome obstacles. Even when business is booming, we’re not 
satisfied if we think there’s a better way to gain ground and serve 
customers.

Above all else, Airgas values performance. We’re people of action 
– and results. In fiscal 2010, we earned the Compressed Gas 
Association’s (CGA) two top driving safety awards – for safest 
bulk fleet and safest cylinder fleet. This only happened because 
we set our mind to making safety top-of-mind in our culture.  
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We also earned the CGA’s Environmental Recognition 
Award for energy efficiency and recycling programs at our 
six distribution centers. And, we earned a place in both the 
S&P 500 index and the FORTUNE 500 list. All of this while 
continuing to support soldiers and their families through our 
corporate sponsorship of Operation Homefront.

With incentive compensation programs linked to EBITDA, 
growth, return on capital and other financial performance 
metrics, Airgas associates get rewarded only when the 
company and its shareholders do. Fiscal 2010 wasn’t the best 
year for financial rewards, but it could easily have been much 
worse. 

Outstanding financial management has always been a 
hallmark at Airgas, but this year, we saw an incredible financial 
performance by our managers who kept us on track despite 
the challenging economy. Their work – and the amazing 
performance of Airgas associates at every level and in every job 
– was impressive beyond words.

When Air Products launched an opportunistic hostile takeover 
bid for Airgas at a grossly inadequate price, the Airgas board of 
directors moved swiftly to protect the interests of shareholders 
and unanimously rejected the offer. The Airgas board stayed 
true to its conviction that shareholders deserve full and fair 
value for their investment in the world’s premier packaged 
gas company. The response of Airgas associates has been 
outstanding, and all 14,000 of us are energized. As a leader I 
have come to appreciate the fact that a bright light is shining 
on Airgas, and we are excited to show the world the great 
results we’ll deliver as we remain focused on our customers and 
our business.

driving better results ... together 
Looking back from a not-so-distant vantage point, I really 
believe that fiscal 2010 was a year of extraordinary challenges 
and extraordinary achievements. 

Our board of directors provided invaluable guidance and 
wisdom. Our executive team developed outstanding programs 
and lent strong leadership. Our regional management 
addressed every challenge on the front lines and, for sure, our 
front-line associates carried our company forward – taking care 
of their customers even as they found ways to reduce costs, 
taking part in customer service and computer training and 
volunteer in their local communities.

It was a collective effort that allowed us to win new customers, 
maintain our long-term competitive edge, achieve strong 
earnings deep into the recession and post solid results through 
the downturn. 

Now, as we start to recover from the economic tsunami, Airgas 
has its sights set on sales increases and double digit earnings 
growth in fiscal 2011 – and has set balanced three-year 
earnings targets. The investments we made in infrastructure, 
training, acquisitions and our new enterprise-wide information 
platform will generate healthy returns. Our operating, growth 
and financial planning strategies, which steered us through the 
storm, will guide us to greater heights in a recovering economy. 

But more than anything, you can depend on Airgas’ character 
to deliver the type of performance and results that have 
defined our company for the past three decades. There is 
no doubt that it is the Airgas culture which is responsible for 
driving our results over the years. And, our culture is stronger 
than ever and will enable us to outperform in the future.

Peter McCausland
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
June xx, 2010

Airgas is making investments in advanced 
technologies and infrastructure that enable us 
to better serve our core industrial gas customers 
and meet the needs of our expanding customer 
base in high-growth market segments such as 
bulk, specialty and medical gases.
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Serving a broad customer baseAirgas is the largest U.S. distributor of 
packaged gases and welding hardgoods

Airgas at a glance

We are a leading distributor and producer, with a full line of products and services in a broad range of 
categories, and capabilities to engineer solutions for customer needs. Our national platform of approximately 
1,100 locations and more than 14,000 employees serves a diversified customer base through branch-based 
field sales, retail stores, strategic accounts, telesales, catalog, and eBusiness channels.

Industrial Gases: 
More than 10 million cylinders, more than 325 high-pressure 
cylinder fill plants, and 18 acetylene manufacturing facilities to 
supply a full range of industrial gases, including welding, shielding 
and cutting gases

Bulk Gases: 
Production and distribution of merchant volumes — Airgas 
Merchant Gases’ 60 bulk gas specialists, 16 air separation 
units, and more than 13,500 bulk tanks supply our distribution 
infrastructure and bulk gas customers

Medical Gases: 
More than 350 FDA-registered medical gas fill plants serving 
hospitals, medical institutions, home healthcare distributors, 
physicians’ practices, and other medical businesses with a full 
range of medical gases, medical gas equipment, home respiratory 
therapy equipment and related supplies, as well as medical facility 
certification through Airgas Medical Gas Services

Specialty Gases: 
Airgas Specialty Gases’ network of eight national labs, 63 regional 
labs, two equipment centers, and one R&D center support 
products including high-purity, rare, calibration, and specialty-
blend gases – approximately three-quarters of labs are ISO 9001 
registered; four are also ISO/IEC 17025 accredited 

CO2/Dry Ice: 
Airgas Carbonic’s five liquid carbon dioxide plants and Airgas 
Dry Ice’s more than 45 dry ice facilities supply customers in food 
processing, food service, beverage, pharmaceutical and biotech 
industries, including Penguin Brand® Dry Ice in grocery and other 
retail outlets nationwide

Welding Hardgoods and Safety Products: 
Six national distribution centers streamline the supply chain for 
welding hardgoods, safety products, gas equipment, tools, and 
construction supplies, including Radnor® private-label products, to 
Airgas branches and customers

Engineering Solutions: 
More than 330 specialists bring expertise to our customers in 
the areas of bulk, medical, and specialty gas applications, safety, 
construction, welding and process automation, and supply chain 
management, and work together with our national Engineering 
Solutions team to design and implement solutions to our 
customers’ complex challenges

ENERGY AND INFRASTRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION 10%

MEDICAL 9%

PETROCHEMICAL 7%

FOOD AND BEVERAGE 6%

RETAIL AND WHOLESALE 4%

OTHER 3%

ANALYTICAL 3%

UTILITIES 3%

TRANSPORTATION 2% 

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 30%

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 23%

Refrigerants: 
Airgas Refrigerants’ nationwide network of distribution and 
reclamation centers for full range of refrigerant products and 
services dedicated to providing complete refrigerant supply and 
service for the air conditioning and refrigeration industries

Ammonia: 
Airgas Specialty Products’ national distribution network providing 
products and services in the U.S. for nitrogen oxide abatement 
(DeNOx), chemical processing, water treatment and metal 
finishing

Red-D-Arc®: 
Welding equipment rental and welding-related services through 
over 40 Red-D-Arc® locations and Airgas construction stores in 
North America, while serving Europe through locations in the 
United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and France and serving the 
Middle East through a location in the United Arab Emirates. 
Equipment and services are also available in the Caribbean, Spain, 
Kazakhstan, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and Australia through 
dealer representation

Energy and Infrastructure Construction Offering: 
Complete line of supplies for energy and infrastructure 
construction contractors and maintenance and repair operations 
(MRO) through construction-focused branches; safety products 
and consulting services through Oilind Safety

Strategic Accounts: 
Lowest total cost solution for customers with multiple locations; 
supply chain management solutions and streamlined cylinder 
and hardgoods procurement through OUTLOOK® Managed 
Services; organized to support general and specialized industries, 
including:

• Oxygen
• Nitrogen
• Argon
• Carbon dioxide
• Helium

• Acetylene
• Fuel gases
• Refrigerants
• Ammonia
• Nitrous oxide

• Construction
• Energy
• Food and Beverage
• Government and Alternate   
 Channels
• Medical
• Metal Production and   
 Fabrication

• Multi-Sector Conglomerates  
 and Materials
• Petroleum and Chemicals
• Retail Solutions
• Universities, Commercial 
 Labs and Nanotechnology

Primary Gases:
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Distribution 
• Installed specialized routing and logistics software to reduce miles 

traveled and associated emissions by an estimated 40 million 
pounds of CO

2
 annually

• Improved fleet fuel efficiency through on-board computers  
that modify driving behaviors and have the potential to save  
1.5 million gallons of diesel fuel annually

• Installing Selective Catalytic Reduction technology on 500 trucks 
in calendar year 2010 and all new trucks entering our fleet to 
reduce harmful nitrogen oxide diesel exhaust pollutants

•  Achieved the lowest fleet accident rate of any large fleet in the 
industry and improved our fleet safety record for the fifth year in 
a row

Airgas: Greener, Safer and a Deep Commitment to Caring

Social and Environmental Responsibility

AIRGAS…  
Known locally nationwide, with approximately 
1,100 locations.

(accidents per million miles driven)

(per 200,000 hours worked)

SOUTH

SOUTHWEST

MID SOUTH

NATIONAL WELDERS

MID AMERICA

GREAT LAKES

NORTH CENTRAL
EAST

WEST
INTERMOUNTAIN
NCN
NOR PAC

 
Calendar 
Year

Fleet Vehicle Accident 
Frequency Rate

Preventable Vehicle  
Accident Frequency Rate

2005 3.6 2.3

2006 3.2 1.9

2007 3.1 1.7

2008 3.0 1.6

2009 2.8 1.5

Operations
• Increased energy efficiency at our 16 air separation units by 4.8 

percent

• Reduced greenhouse gas emissions at our six distribution 
centers by the equivalent of almost 2 million pounds per year 

• Used recycling programs to reduce cardboard waste from our six 
distribution centers by 700,000 pounds per year

• Reduced water usage by 11 million gallons per year by replacing 
hydrostatic cylinder testing with ultrasonic cylinder testing

• Improved our workplace safety record in terms of recordable 
injuries and kept lost workdays within our three-year average

Calendar 
Year

Total Recordable Injury 
Incidence Rate

Lost Workday  
Incident Rate

2005 3.0 0.7

2006 3.0 0.6

2007 3.0 0.6

2008 2.7 0.4

2009 2.5 0.5

Products
• Teamed with customer to develop environmentally responsible 

dry ice blast cleaning technology

• Introduced AiRx™ Diesel Exhaust Fluid for diesel engine trucks 
with SCR technology – including our own – to reduce harmful 
nitrogen oxide diesel exhaust pollutants by up to 90 percent 

• Developed Safe-T-Cyl™, an environmentally responsible 
returnable package for small volumes of process chemicals

• Helped bring to market hydrogen generators and fuel cells to 
power fork lifts and reduce the greenhouse gas footprint for 
large fleet users

Citizenship
• Supported rescue efforts in Haiti, working with Partners in 

Health to deliver medical grade oxygen to hospitals

• Provided military veterans with free welding training

• Continued financial commitment and expanded employee 
volunteerism for Operation Homefront, which provides 
assistance to military families and wounded soldiers 

Recognition
• Earned three Compressed Gas Association awards:

 – Best safety record among bulk gas fleets with more than 20 
  million miles driven

 – Best safety record among cylinder gas fleets with more than 
  3 million miles driven 

 – Environmental Recognition Award for low-energy lighting, 
  energy efficiency and recycling programs at Airgas’ six 
  distribution centers

2 0 1 0  A I R G A S  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

AIRGAS 20%

INDEPENDENTS 57%

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 29%

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 26%

UTILITIES 2%

TRANSPORTATION 2%

OTHER 3%

ANALYTICAL 3%

PETROLEUM & CHEMICALS 5%

RETAIL AND WHOLESALE 5%

FOOD PRODUCTS 6%

MEDICAL 7%

CONSTRUCTION 12%



(from Left to Right)

Michael L. Molinini / Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 
Robert M. McLaughlin / Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
Robert A. Dougherty / Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer 
Peter McCausland / Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
Robert H. Young, Jr. / Senior Vice President and General Counsel 
Dwight T. Wilson / Senior Vice President, Human Resources 
Leslie J. Graff / Senior Vice President, Corporate Development 

Andrew R. Cichocki 
Division President, Process Gases & 
Chemicals

Max D. Hooper 
Division President, West

B. Shaun Powers 
Division President, East

Kelly P. Justice 
Senior Vice President,  
Airgas Puritan Medical

James A. Muller 
Senior Vice President, Specialty Gas 
and Life Sciences

Michael E. Rohde 
Senior Vice President,  
Distribution Operations

Thomas S. Thoman 
Senior Vice President,  
Tonnage and Merchant Gases

Ronald J. Stark 
Senior Vice President, Sales  
and Marketing

Patrick M. Visintainer 
Senior Vice President, Corporate 
Accounts

David E. Levin 
Vice President, Hardgoods

Thomas M. Smyth 
Vice President, Controller

Joseph C. Sullivan 
Vice President, Treasurer

Carey M. Verger 
Vice President, Taxes

R. Jay Worley 
Vice President, Communications  
and Investor Relations

E. David Coyne 
Director, Internal Audit

Airgas East 
Frederick E. Manley

Airgas Great Lakes 
Kevin M. McBride

Airgas Intermountain  
Douglas L. Jones

Airgas Mid America 
J. Robert Hilliard

Airgas Mid South 
Terry L. Lodge

Airgas National Welders 
Steve Marinelli

Airgas Nor Pac 
Edward A. Richards

Airgas North Central 
Pamela M. Swanson

Airgas Northern California & Nevada 
Michael T. Chandler

Airgas South 
L. Jay Sullivan

Airgas Southwest 
J. Brent Sparks

Airgas West 
J. Samuel Thompson

Airgas Carbonic/Dry Ice 
Philip J. Filer

Airgas Refrigerants 
Charles E. Broadus, Sr.

Airgas Safety 
Donald S. Carlino, Jr.

Airgas Specialty Products 
Ted R. Schulte

Red-D-Arc 
Mitch M. Imielinski

corporate officers airgas operating companies and presidents

management committee 
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Financial Highlights
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

Net Sales 
(in millions of dollars)

Diluted Earnings Per Share from
Continuing Operations, Excluding
Certain Benefits and Charges

 

(1)

Free Cash Flow(1)

(in millions of dollars)
Return on Capital(1)

(1) Definitions of and reconciliations between these financial metrics and their most comparable measure under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles are presented on pages 72 and 73.
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Stockholder Return Performance Presentation
Below is a graph comparing the yearly change in the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s common stock against
broad equity market indices for the five-year period that began April 1, 2005 and ended March 31, 2010. During fiscal 2010, the
Company was added to the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index (“S&P 500 Index”). Accordingly, the Company updated the equity
indices to which it compares its total shareholder return to be the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Chemicals Index. In prior periods,
the Company compared its total shareholder return to the S&P MidCap 400 Index and the S&P 400 Chemicals Index. The Company
was formerly a component of both the S&P MidCap 400 Index and the S&P 400 Chemicals Index. The total shareholder returns of
the S&P MidCap 400 Index and the S&P 400 Chemicals Index have been presented below for comparison to the Company’s
performance versus both its former and new indices.

The Company believes the use of the S&P 500 Index and S&P 500 Chemicals Index for purposes of this performance comparison is
appropriate because Airgas is a component of the indices and they include companies of similar size as Airgas.

Airgas, Inc $ 100.00 $ 164.91 $ 179.10 $ 194.76 $ 146.75 $ 280.42
S&P 500 Index $ 100.00 $ 111.73 $ 124.94 $ 118.60 $    73.43 $ 109.97
S&P 500 Chemicals $ 100.00 $   98.06 $ 117.19 $ 132.72 $   86.59 $ 123.90

2010

20102005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Airgas, Inc

S&P MidCap 400
Index

S&P 500 Index

S&P 400 Chemicals

100

50

150

200

250

300

March 31 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

S&P MidCap 400 Index $ 100.00 $ 121.62 $ 131.90 $ 122.70 $    78.41 $ 128.65
S&P 400 Chemicals $ 100.00 $ 103.15 $ 125.87 $ 136.81 $   90.94 $ 180.54

The graph above assumes that $100 was invested on April 1, 2005, in Airgas, Inc. Common Stock, the S&P 500 Index, the S&P 500 Chemicals Index,
the S&P MidCap 400 Index, and the S&P 400 Chemicals Index. 

S&P 500 Chemicals
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Selected Financial Data Selected financial data for the Company are presented in the table below and should be read in
conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
and the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included herein.

(In thousands, except per share amounts):
Years Ended March 31, 2010(1) 2009(2) 2008(3) 2007(4) 2006(5)

Operating Results:
Net sales $ 3,864,005 $ 4,349,455 $ 4,017,024 $ 3,205,051 $ 2,829,610
Depreciation and amortization 234,949 220,795 189,775 147,343 127,542
Operating income 399,598 524,868 475,824 341,497 269,142
Interest expense, net 63,310 84,395 89,485 60,180 54,145
Discount on securitization of trade receivables 5,651 10,738 17,031 13,630 9,371
Losses on the extinguishment of debt 17,869 — — 12,099 —
Other income (expense), net 1,332 (382) 1,454 1,556 2,411
Income taxes 117,800 168,265 144,184 99,883 77,866
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate — — (3,230) (2,845) (2,656)

Income from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle 196,300 261,088 223,348 154,416 127,515

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — — — — (1,424)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax — — — — (2,540)

Net earnings $ 196,300 $ 261,088 $ 223,348 $ 154,416 $ 123,551

Net Earnings Per Common Share
Basic

Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of
a change in accounting principle $ 2.39 $ 3.19 $ 2.74 $ 1.98 $ 1.66

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — — — — (0.02)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — — — (0.03)

Net earnings per share $ 2.39 $ 3.19 $ 2.74 $ 1.98 $ 1.61

Diluted
Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle $ 2.34 $ 3.12 $ 2.66 $ 1.92 $ 1.62
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — — — — (0.02)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — — — (0.03)

Net earnings per share $ 2.34 $ 3.12 $ 2.66 $ 1.92 $ 1.57

Dividends per common share declared and paid (6) $ 0.76 $ 0.56 $ 0.39 $ 0.28 $ 0.24

Balance Sheet and Other Data at March 31:
Working capital $ 235,692 $ 296,442 $ 132,323 $ 121,543 $ (17,138)
Total assets 4,495,932 4,426,310 3,987,264 3,333,457 2,474,412
Current portion of long-term debt 10,255 11,058 40,400 40,296 131,901
Long-term debt 1,499,384 1,750,308 1,539,648 1,309,719 635,726
Deferred income tax liability, net 652,389 576,715 439,782 373,246 327,818
Other non-current liabilities 72,972 79,231 80,104 39,963 30,864
Minority interest in affiliate — — — 57,191 57,191
Stockholders’ equity 1,795,544 1,571,755 1,413,336 1,125,382 947,159
Capital expenditures for years ended March 31, 252,828 351,912 267,378 238,274 208,603

(1) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and in the notes to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements, the results for fiscal 2010 include $23.4 million ($14.8
million after tax) or $0.18 per diluted share in costs related to an unsolicited takeover attempt
and $6.7 million ($4.1 million after tax) or $0.05 per diluted share in multi-employer pension
plan withdrawal charges. Also included in the results for fiscal 2010 are a charge of $17.9
million ($11.3 million after tax) or $0.14 per diluted share for the early extinguishment of debt
and a tax benefit of $2.2 million or $0.03 per diluted share associated with the reorganization of
certain facilities within the All Other Operations business segment. Stock-based compensation
expense in fiscal 2010 was $22.9 million ($16.0 million after tax), or $0.19 per diluted share.

(2) Stock-based compensation expense in fiscal 2009 was $20.6 million ($14.1 million after tax), or
$0.17 per diluted share. As discussed in Note 1 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, certain adjustments were made to the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31,
2009, which did not affect the Company’s results of operations.

(3) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and in the notes to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements, the results for fiscal 2008 include a one time, non-cash, after
tax charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share, related to the National Welders Exchange
Transaction through which the joint venture became a 100% owned subsidiary. Also included in
the results for fiscal 2008 is a tax benefit of $1.3 million, or $0.01 per diluted share, due to
additional guidance issued with respect to a prior year change in Texas state income tax law.
Fiscal 2008 acquisition integration costs, principally related to the Linde AG Bulk Gas and Linde
AG Packaged Gas acquisitions, were $10.1 million ($6.2 million after tax) or $0.06 per diluted
share. Stock-based compensation expense in fiscal 2008 was $16.6 million ($11.3 million after
tax), or $0.13 per diluted share.

(4) The results for fiscal 2007 include a charge of $12.1 million ($7.9 million after tax), or
$0.10 per diluted share, for the early extinguishment of debt and a tax benefit of $0.02 per
diluted share related to a change in Texas state income tax law. The Company also adopted
the revised guidance on accounting for stock-based compensation utilizing the modified
prospective method in fiscal 2007. Under the modified prospective method, no stock-based
compensation expense was reflected in periods prior to fiscal 2007. Stock-based
compensation expense in fiscal 2007 was $15.4 million ($10.9 million after tax), or $0.13
per diluted share.

(5) The results for fiscal 2006 include an after-tax charge of $2.5 million as a result of the
adoption of accounting guidance for asset retirement obligations (which was recorded as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle), an after-tax loss of $1.9 million on
the divestiture of Rutland Tool (which was reported as a discontinued operation), and an
estimated loss of $2.2 million ($1.4 million after tax) related to Hurricanes Katrina and Rita.

(6) The Company paid its stockholders quarterly cash dividends of $0.18 per share at the end
of each of the first three quarters of fiscal 2010. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the
Company paid dividends of $0.22 per share. During fiscal 2009, the Company paid regular
quarterly cash dividends of $0.12 per share at the end of each of the first two quarters and
$0.16 per share in the third and fourth quarters. During fiscal 2008, the Company paid
regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.09 per share during the first three quarters and $0.12
per share during the fourth quarter. In fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, the Company paid its
stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.07 and $0.06 per share, respectively. On
May 25, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend
of $0.22 per share, which is payable on June 30, 2010 to stockholders of record as of
June 15, 2010. Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon
the Company’s earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements and other
factors deemed relevant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

Results of Operations: 2010 Compared to 2009

Overview
Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Airgas” or the “Company”) had
net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 (“fiscal 2010”
or “current year”) of $3.9 billion compared to $4.3 billion for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 (“fiscal 2009” or “prior year”).
The fiscal 2010 net sales reflect a challenging sales environment
due to the economic downturn in the U.S., with a modest
improvement in the fiscal fourth quarter ended March 31, 2010
relative to the first three quarters of the fiscal year. Fourth quarter
sales were $980 million compared to $992 million in the prior
year, a decline of 1%. Total same-store sales in the fourth quarter
declined 3%, with hardgoods sales down 2% and gas and rent
down 3%. Acquisitions contributed 2% sales growth in the
quarter. Company management regularly reviews sales results in
not only a year-over-year manner, but also in terms of sales per
selling day, a metric commonly used in operating the business.
Daily sales increased 2% sequentially from the third to the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2010, marking the second consecutive quarter of
sequential daily sales growth. Due to the current year’s improving
fourth quarter sales environment, management has provided a
separate discussion on fourth quarter fiscal 2010 versus fourth
quarter fiscal 2009 below.

For fiscal 2010, net sales decreased by 11% driven by a decline in
same-store sales offset slightly by the impact of current and prior
year acquisitions. The decline in same-store sales contributed 14%
to the decrease in total sales, driven by a 13% decrease in sales
volume and a 1% decrease in pricing. Acquisitions contributed
sales growth of 3% for the current year. Lower sales volumes
reflect the effects of the economic recession in the U.S. and
decreased demand, especially in the first three quarters of the
fiscal year, across all customer and geographic segments. Steep
declines in the Company’s selling price to customers in response
to price reductions from the Company’s suppliers for ammonia
and filler metals accounted for the majority of the pricing decline.
The Company’s strategic products and related growth initiatives
helped to somewhat mitigate the impact of the economic
downturn.

Operating income margin declined 180 basis points to 10.3% in
fiscal 2010 compared to 12.1% in the prior year. The decline in
the current year’s operating income margin reflects the impact of
lower sales as well as $23.4 million ($14.8 million after tax) or
$0.18 per diluted share in costs related to an unsolicited takeover
attempt and $6.7 million ($4.1 million after tax) or $0.05 per
diluted share in multi-employer pension plan (“MEPP”) withdrawal
charges, partially offset by the impact of cost reduction and
operating efficiency initiatives and a favorable sales mix shift from
hardgoods to gas and rent sales. The costs related to the
unsolicited takeover attempt and the MEPP charges accounted for
80 basis points (44%) of the decline in operating income margin.
Net earnings per diluted share fell 25% to $2.34 in fiscal 2010
versus $3.12 in the prior year. The results reflect lower operating
income as well as losses on the extinguishment of debt of $17.9

million ($11.3 million after tax) or $0.14 per diluted share, partially
offset by lower borrowing costs in the current fiscal year and a
$2.2 million or $0.03 per diluted share income tax benefit
associated with the reorganization of certain facilities within the
All Other Operations business segment. The costs related to the
unsolicited takeover attempt, MEPP charges and debt
extinguishment charges accounted for over half of the decline in
net earnings per diluted share.

Acquisitions
In fiscal 2010, the Company acquired a total of six businesses with
aggregate historical annual sales of more than $47 million. The
largest of these acquisitions was Tri-Tech, an independent
distributor with 16 locations throughout Florida, Georgia and
South Carolina and historical annual sales of $31 million. The
Company also improved its presence and density in Oklahoma and
Texas with its acquisition of Fitch Industrial and Welding Supply, a
Lawton, Oklahoma-based distributor with historical annual sales
of $10 million. Both of these acquisitions were merged into the
operations of the Distribution business segment. The acquisitions
expand the Company’s coverage in key geographies and
strengthen its national distribution network. Acquisition activity
slowed during the current year as potential sellers opted to wait
out the economic downturn.

Unsolicited Takeover Attempt
In February 2010, Air Products & Chemicals, Inc. (“Air Products”)
made public an unsolicited proposal to acquire the Company and
subsequently commenced a tender offer for all outstanding shares
of common stock of the Company and initiated a proxy fight to
elect three directors to our board. The Company’s Board of
Directors carefully evaluated each proposal made by Air Products
and, after consultation with its financial and legal advisors,
unanimously determined that Air Products’ proposals were not in
the best interests of the Company or our shareholders. In
response to Air Products’ actions, the Company incurred $23.4
million of legal and professional fees, which principally represent
up-front accruals for the minimum obligations to the Company’s
advisors. The Company expects to incur additional costs in the
future in connection with Air Products’ unsolicited tender offer
and proxy contest.

Multi-employer Pension Plan Withdrawal
The Company participates, with other employers, in a number of
MEPPs providing defined benefits to union employees under the
terms of collective bargaining agreements (“CBAs”).
Contributions are made to the plans in accordance with those
CBAs. The plans generally provide retirement benefits to
participants based on their service to contributing employers. In
connection with the renewal of certain CBAs during the current
year, the Company negotiated its withdrawal from participation in
underfunded MEPPs and will instead contribute to a defined
contribution plan for the affected union employees. Ratification of
the CBAs led to $6.7 million in MEPP withdrawal charges during
the current year. Over the next two years, the Company intends to
negotiate its withdrawal from the MEPPs provided for in five
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

remaining CBAs that provide for such plans. These CBAs cover
approximately 60 employees.

Cost Reduction and Operating Efficiency Initiatives
In response to the economic downturn, the Company reacted
quickly and effectively to mitigate the impact of declining sales.
Between December 2008 and September 2009, the Company
fully implemented $57 million of annualized expense reductions,
which were in addition to $10 million of annualized savings in
fiscal 2010 from ongoing efficiency initiatives.

Financing and Losses on the Extinguishment of Debt
In September 2009, the Company issued $400 million of 4.50%
senior notes due September 15, 2014 (the “2009 Notes”).
Additionally, in March 2010, the Company issued $300 million of
2.85% senior notes due October 1, 2013 (the “2010 Notes”). The
net proceeds from both offerings were used to repay debt under
the Company’s senior credit facility with a syndicate of lenders
(“Credit Facility”). Additionally, in March 2010, the Company
signed a two year, $295 million securitization agreement replacing
the previous $345 million agreement that was expiring. At
March 31, 2010, $295 million of accounts receivable had been
sold under the securitization agreement.

In October 2009, the Company redeemed in full its $150 million
6.25% senior subordinated notes due July 15, 2014 (the “2004
Notes”) at a premium of 103.125% of the principal amount with
borrowings under the Company’s Credit Facility. In conjunction
with the redemption of the 2004 Notes, the Company recognized
a loss on the early extinguishment of debt of $6.1 million.

Also during the current year, the Company repurchased $154.6
million of its original $400 million 7.125% senior subordinated
notes that are due on October 1, 2018 (the “2008 Notes”) at an
average price of 106.4%. In conjunction with the repurchase of
the 2008 Notes, the Company recognized losses on the early
extinguishment of debt of $11.8 million.

As a result of the redemption of the 2004 Notes and the
repurchases of the 2008 Notes, the Company recognized total
losses on the early debt extinguishment of $17.9 million. The
losses reflected the redemption premiums as well as writing-off
the associated unamortized debt issuance costs.

As of March 31, 2010, approximately $823 million remained
unused under the Company’s Credit Facility. Based on the
financial covenants of the Credit Facility, the Company’s
borrowing capacity at March 31, 2010 was limited to $748
million.

Enterprise Information System
During the current year, the Company continued with the design
and configuration phase of its SAP enterprise information system
(“SAP”). Through the two-year period ended March 31, 2010, the
Company has incurred capital expenditures of approximately $50
million related to the project. During the summer of fiscal 2011,
the Company will begin its phased, multi-year rollout of the SAP
platform, whereby business units will implement the new system

in succession. The Company believes the implementation of SAP
will standardize work processes across all facets of its distribution
business, drive operating efficiencies and improve the customer’s
buying experience.

Looking Forward
Looking forward, the Company expects earnings per diluted share
of $0.70 to $0.72 for the first quarter ending June 30, 2010, an
increase of 6% to 9% over prior year, which includes $0.02 per
diluted share of incremental expense associated with the SAP
implementation. For the full year fiscal 2011, the Company
expects earnings per diluted share of $2.95 to $3.05, an increase
of 10% to 14% over prior year, which includes $0.10 per diluted
share of incremental expense associated with the SAP
implementation. The first quarter and fiscal 2011 guidance does
not incorporate the impact of further debt extinguishment
charges and future MEPP withdrawal charges, if any, and future
costs related to the unsolicited takeover attempt.

Income Statement Commentary—
Three Months Ended March 31, 2010 Compared to Three
Months Ended March 31, 2009
Net Sales
Net sales decreased 1% to $980 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2010 (“current quarter”) compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2009 (“prior year quarter”), driven by
acquisition growth of 2% and same-store sales decline of 3%.
Gas and rent same-store sales declined 3% and hardgoods
declined 2%. Gas volumes for the current quarter were 2% lower
than the prior year quarter while pricing was down 1%.
Hardgoods volumes were 1% lower than the prior year quarter
while pricing was down 1%, as declines in costs and prices for
filler metals had the most significant impact on hardgoods pricing,
with most other product lines stable to slightly down. On a
sequential basis, net sales increased 4% from the quarter ended
December 31, 2009 (“third quarter”), driven by an incremental
selling day and a 2% sequential increase in daily sales.

Strategic products account for about 40% of revenues and
include safety products, bulk, medical and specialty gases, as well
as carbon dioxide and dry ice. The Company has identified these
products as strategic because it believes they have good long-term
growth profiles relative to the Company’s core industrial gas and
welding products due to favorable end customer markets,
application development, increasing environmental regulation,
strong cross-selling opportunities or a combination thereof. Many
of the strategic products are sold to customers whose growth
profile tends to outperform GDP, including medical, life sciences,
food processing and environmental markets. While consolidated
same-store sales declined 3%, strategic products increased 1% on
a same-store sales basis in the current quarter compared to the
prior year quarter.

The Company estimates same-store sales growth based on a
comparison of current period sales to prior period sales, adjusted
for acquisitions and divestitures. The pro forma adjustments
consist of adding acquired sales to, or subtracting sales of divested
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

operations from, sales reported in the prior period. The table
below reflects actual sales and does not include the pro forma
adjustments used in calculating the same-store sales metric. The
intercompany eliminations represent sales from the All Other
Operations business segment to the Distribution business
segment.

(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2010 2009

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $ 886,206 $ 893,967 $ (7,761) -1%
All Other Operations 100,184 103,559 (3,375) -3%
Intercompany eliminations (6,015) (5,426) (589)

$ 980,375 $ 992,100 $ (11,725) -1%

The Distribution business segment’s principal products include
industrial, medical and specialty gases, and process chemicals;
cylinder and equipment rental; and hardgoods. Industrial, medical
and specialty gases are distributed in cylinders and bulk
containers. Equipment rental fees are generally charged on
cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers, bulk and micro-bulk tanks,
tube trailers, and welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of
welding consumables and equipment, safety products,
construction supplies, and maintenance, repair and operating
supplies.

Distribution business segment sales declined 1% compared to the
prior year quarter with incremental sales of 2% contributed by
current and prior year acquisitions partially offsetting a decline in
same-store sales of 3%. The Distribution business segment gas
and rent same-store sales declined 3% with volumes down 2%
and pricing down 1%. The decline in pricing was driven by lower
costs related to both purchased and produced gases, increased
price competition as well as some pricing decline in welder rentals.
Hardgoods same-store sales declined 2% with both volumes and
pricing each down 1%. The decline in pricing reflects a decline in
costs and pricing for filler metals. Both gas and rent and
hardgoods volumes were negatively impacted by the general
slowdown in economic activity, but have shown sequential
improvement. On a sequential basis, Distribution business
segment sales increased 4% from the third quarter, driven by a
2% increase in sequential daily sales rates and an incremental
selling day. Both gas and rent and hardgoods sales increased
sequentially on a daily sales basis from the third quarter, with
hardgoods up 5%.

Sales of strategic gas products sold through the Distribution
business segment increased 1% compared to the prior year
quarter. Among strategic products, bulk gas sales were up 3% as
sales of bulk nitrogen for food-freezing applications continued to
show strength, and bulk sales to industrial manufacturing
customers continued to recover in the steel, auto and alternative
energy customer segments. Sales of medical gases were up 1% as
a result of new business signings, partially offset by slowing in
elective and non-critical medical procedures. Sales of specialty
gases were down 7% driven primarily by a softening in demand in
the chemical processing industry.

Sales of core industrial gases, which experienced the sharpest
volume declines, were down 7% compared to the prior year
quarter, with the related rental revenues down 5.5%. However,
the Company’s rental welder business experienced a 16% decline
in same-store sales as a result of sluggish construction activity.

Mitigating the decline in Distribution business segment hardgoods
sales was an increase in safety products sales. Safety product sales
increased 5% compared to the prior year quarter as a result of
increased cross-sell opportunities. The Company’s Radnor® private
label line was down 1% compared to the prior year quarter,
relatively consistent with the overall decline in hardgoods volumes.

The All Other Operations business segment consists of six business
units. The primary products manufactured and distributed are
carbon dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide, ammonia and refrigerant
gases.

The All Other Operations business segment sales decreased 3%
compared to the prior year quarter with a 4% decline in same-
store sales partially offset by acquisitions. Positive same-store sales
in the carbon dioxide business were more than offset by declines
in refrigerants and ammonia. On a sequential basis, All Other
Operations business segment sales increased 4% from the third
quarter, driven by an incremental selling day and a seasonal
improvement in the refrigerants business offset somewhat by
normal seasonal declines in the dry ice and carbon dioxide
businesses, as well as lower ammonia pricing.

Gross Profits (Excluding Depreciation)
Gross profits (excluding depreciation) do not reflect deductions
related to depreciation expense and distribution costs. The
Company reflects distribution costs as an element of selling,
distribution and administrative expenses and recognizes
depreciation on all its property, plant and equipment in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings line item, “Depreciation.”
Other companies may report certain or all of these costs as
elements of their cost of products sold and, as such, the
Company’s gross profits (excluding depreciation) discussed below
may not be comparable to those of other businesses.

Consolidated gross profits (excluding depreciation) decreased 3%
principally due to a same-store sales decline as well as a decline in
gross profit margins (excluding depreciation). The consolidated
gross profit margin (excluding depreciation) in the current quarter
decreased 80 basis points to 54.1% compared to 54.9% in the
prior year quarter, reflecting a sales mix shift within gas and rent
and lower growth incentive rebates on hardgoods.

(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2010 2009

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $ 487,194 $ 498,358 $ (11,164) -2%
All Other Operations 43,390 46,013 (2,623) -6%

$ 530,584 $ 544,371 $ (13,787) -3%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits (excluding
depreciation) decreased 2% compared to the prior year quarter.
The Distribution business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding
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depreciation) was 55.0% versus 55.7% in the prior year quarter, a
decrease of 70 basis points. The decline in the Distribution
business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding depreciation)
reflects a shift in sales mix within gas and rent and lower growth
incentive rebates on hardgoods.

The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits
(excluding depreciation) decreased 6% compared to the prior year
quarter, primarily as a result of lower sales pricing for ammonia
and lower volumes for refrigerants. The All Other Operations
business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding depreciation)
decreased 110 basis points to 43.3% in the current quarter from
44.4% in the prior year quarter. The decrease in the All Other
Operations business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding
depreciation) was driven primarily by margin compression on
ammonia products as a result of rising product costs.

Operating Expenses
Selling, distribution and administrative (“SD&A”) expenses consist
of labor and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing
and distributing of the Company’s products, as well as costs
associated with a variety of administrative functions such as legal,
treasury, accounting, tax and facility-related expenses.

Current quarter SD&A expenses of $364 million declined $8
million, or 2%, as compared to the prior year quarter, primarily
driven by an approximately $13 million decline in operating costs
offset by approximately $5 million of incremental operating costs
associated with acquired businesses. The $13 million decrease in
operating costs was primarily due to benefits from the Company’s
cost reduction and operating efficiency initiatives. As a percentage
of net sales, SD&A expense decreased 30 basis points to 37.2%
compared to 37.5% in the prior year quarter, again reflecting the
cost reduction and operating efficiency initiatives.

During the current quarter, the Company incurred $23.4 million
of legal and professional fees in response to Air Products’
unsolicited takeover attempt and accompanying litigation, which
principally represent up-front accruals for the minimum
obligations to the Company’s advisors.

Depreciation expense of $55 million increased $4 million, or 7%,
in the current quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. The
increase primarily reflects depreciation on two new air separation
units in New Carlisle, Indiana and Carrollton, Kentucky, which
came on-line in late fiscal 2009 and early fiscal 2010, respectively.
The current quarter’s depreciation expense also reflects the
current year’s capital investments in revenue generating assets to
support customer demand, such as cylinders, bulk tanks, and
rental welders, and infrastructure spending on cylinder fill plants
and branch locations. Amortization expense of $6 million in the
current quarter was consistent with the prior year quarter.

Operating Income
Consolidated operating income decreased 28% in the current
quarter driven primarily by the $23.4 million of costs related to the
unsolicited takeover attempt. The operating income margin

decreased 310 basis points to 8.4% compared to 11.5% in the
prior year quarter. Costs related to the unsolicited takeover
attempt accounted for approximately 230 basis points of the
decline in operating income margin. The legal and professional
fees incurred as a result of the unsolicited takeover attempt were
not allocated to the Company’s business segments, and are
reflected in the “Other” line item in the table below.

(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2010 2009

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $ 99,875 $ 105,295 $ (5,420) -5%
All Other Operations 5,443 9,211 (3,768) -41%
Other (23,435) — (23,435)

$ 81,883 $ 114,506 $ (32,623) -28%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment decreased
5% in the current quarter. The Distribution business segment’s
operating income margin decreased 50 basis points to 11.3%
compared to 11.8% in the prior year quarter. The operating
income margin decline was driven by a sales mix shift within gas
and rent as well as lower growth incentive hardgood rebates,
partially offset by a continued focus on operating efficiency
programs and the impact of cost reduction efforts.

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment
decreased 41% compared to the prior year quarter. The All Other
Operations business segment’s operating income margin of 5.4%
was 350 basis points lower than the operating income margin of
8.9% in the prior year quarter. The decline in operating income
margin resulted primarily from margin compression in the ammonia
business. In the prior year quarter, the market moved in the opposite
direction (ammonia product costs were falling and pricing was
stable), thus creating incremental margins in the prior year.

Income Statement Commentary—
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year
Ended March 31, 2009
Net Sales
Net sales decreased 11% in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009
driven by a same-store sales decline of 14% partially offset by
incremental sales of 3% contributed by acquisitions. Gas and rent
same-store sales declined 10% and hardgoods declined 20%.
Same-store sales were driven by volume declines of 13% and a
1% price decline. Strategic products account for about 40% of
revenues. In the aggregate, strategic products declined 6% on a
same-store sales basis in the current year compared to the prior
year with growth in medical gases offset by declines in all other
strategic product categories.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2010 2009

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $ 3,467,327 $ 3,918,376 $ (451,049) -12%
All Other Operations 420,941 457,329 (36,388) -8%
Intercompany eliminations (24,263) (26,250) 1,987

$ 3,864,005 $ 4,349,455 $ (485,450) -11%
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Distribution business segment sales decreased 12% compared to
the prior year with a decline in same-store sales of 13%, slightly
offset by incremental sales of 1% contributed by current and prior
year acquisitions. The Distribution business segment’s gas and rent
same-store sales declined 8% driven entirely by volumes.
Hardgoods same-store sales declined 20% driven by volume
declines of 19% and a 1% pricing decline. Hardgoods as well as
gas and rent volumes were negatively impacted by the general
slowdown in economic activity and customers delaying or
deferring capital projects.

Sales of strategic gas products sold through the Distribution
business segment declined 4%. Among strategic gas products,
bulk gas sales were down 5% due to the impact of production
slowdowns in the metal fabrication and steel customer segments,
as well as reduced activity from oil field service customers. The
decline in bulk gas sales related to these customer segments was
partially offset by growth in sales of bulk nitrogen for food-
freezing applications. Sales of medical gases grew 2% as a result
of new business signings, which were partially offset by slowing in
overall demand for medical gases used in elective and non-critical
medical procedures. Specialty gas sales declined 9% as a result of
a general softening in demand in the chemicals processing
industry as well as strong sales of high-value rare gases in the
prior year.

Sales of core industrial gases, which experienced the sharpest
volume declines, were down 15% for the current year, while the
related rental revenues were down only 4%. However, revenues
from the Company’s rental welder business experienced a 21%
decline in same-store sales as compared to the prior year.

Distribution hardgoods same-store sales declined 20% driven by
volume declines of 19% and a 1% pricing decline. Sales of safety
products decreased 9% in the current year resulting from plant
shutdowns, shift reductions and relatively high unemployment
levels. The Company’s Radnor® private label line was down 16%
for the current year driven by the overall drop in hardgoods
volumes.

The All Other Operations business segment sales decreased 8%
compared to the prior year with a 17% decline in same-store sales
offset by incremental sales of 9% contributed by acquisitions,
primarily the prior year acquisition related to the refrigerants
business. The decline in same-store sales reflects lower pricing for
ammonia products, a decline in carbon dioxide and dry ice
volumes, and reduced refrigerant volumes. After a significant
run-up in the costs of ammonia products in the first half of fiscal
2009, ammonia costs from suppliers suddenly dropped in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, while pricing to customers initially
remained stable. Progressing through fiscal 2010, pricing to
customers has been under increasing pressure contributing to the
same-store sales decline, while the cost of ammonia from
suppliers has been rising. Reduced carbon dioxide volumes reflect
weakness in the beverage carbonation customer segment. Dry ice
volumes were impacted by a decline in the airline services
customer segment and strong prior year sales during the second

quarter in the wake of major hurricanes. Refrigerants volume
declined primarily due to mild summer weather in the eastern U.S.
along with customers’ deferral of HVAC maintenance and
conversion projects in light of the economic downturn.

Gross Profits (Excluding Depreciation)
Consolidated gross profits (excluding depreciation) decreased 8%
principally due to a same-store sales decline offset by an
expansion of gross profit margins (excluding depreciation). The
consolidated gross margin (excluding depreciation) in the current
year increased 220 basis points to 55.2% compared to 53.0% in
the prior year primarily driven by margin expansion in the
Distribution business segment resulting from a favorable shift in
sales mix.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2010 2009

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $ 1,933,162 $ 2,105,251 $ (172,089) -8%
All Other Operations 198,419 199,184 (765) 0%

$ 2,131,581 $ 2,304,435 $ (172,854) -8%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits (excluding
depreciation) decreased 8% compared to the prior year. The
Distribution business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding
depreciation) was 55.8% versus 53.7% in the prior year. The 210
basis point increase in the gross profit margin (excluding
depreciation) largely reflects the favorable shift in product mix
toward gas and rent, which carry higher gross profit margins
(excluding depreciation) than hardgoods. As a percentage of the
Distribution business segment’s sales, gas and rent increased to
60.7% in the current year as compared to 57.2% in the prior year.

The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits
(excluding depreciation) were consistent with the prior year as a
result of lower same-store sales offset by acquisitions (primarily
the prior year acquisition in the refrigerants business) and margin
expansion in the ammonia business. The All Other Operations
business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding depreciation)
increased 350 basis points to 47.1% versus 43.6% in the prior
year. The year-over-year improvement in the All Other Operations
business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding depreciation)
was driven by the margin improvement in the ammonia business.
The improved ammonia margin reflects the impact of the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2009 drop in the cost of ammonia and a lag in a
corresponding drop in the selling price to customers. Throughout
fiscal 2010, ammonia margins have declined as customer pricing
has fallen in line with product costs. Product mix also contributed
to the margin improvement.

Operating Expenses
SD&A expenses of $1,474 million declined $85 million (5%) as
compared to the prior year resulting from a $118 million decline
in operating costs partially offset by approximately $33 million of
incremental operating costs associated with acquired businesses.
The $118 million decrease in operating costs reflects lower
variable costs due to the decline in sales and the benefits from the
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Company’s cost reduction and operating efficiency initiatives. Also
included in the current year SD&A expenses are $6.7 million
related to withdrawals from multi-employer pension plans. As a
percentage of net sales, SD&A expense increased 230 basis points
to 38.1% compared to 35.8% in the prior year reflecting the
overall decline in sales and by the shift in sales mix to gas, which
carry higher operating expense in relation to sales and
corresponding higher gross margins.

During the fourth quarter, the Company incurred $23.4 million of
legal and professional fees in response to Air Products’ unsolicited
takeover attempt and accompanying litigation, which principally
represent up-front accruals for the minimum obligations to the
Company’s advisors.

Depreciation expense of $213 million increased $15 million
(7%) as compared to the prior year. Acquired businesses added
approximately $2 million to depreciation expense. The remaining
increase primarily reflects the two new air separation units in New
Carlisle, Indiana and Carrollton, Kentucky, which came on-line in
late fiscal 2009 and early fiscal 2010, respectively. The current
year’s depreciation expense also reflects capital investments in
revenue generating assets to support customer demand, such as
cylinders, bulk tanks and rental welders, and infrastructure
spending on cylinder fill plants and branch locations. Amortization
expense of $22 million was $1 million (2%) lower than the prior
year primarily due to lower amortization of acquired customer lists
and non-compete agreements due to reduced acquisition activity.

Operating Income
Consolidated operating income of $400 million decreased 24% in
the current year on lower sales and special charges of
approximately $30 million related to the unsolicited takeover
attempt and MEPP withdrawal charges, partially offset by gross
profit margin (excluding depreciation) expansion and the benefits
from the Company’s cost reduction and operating efficiency
initiatives. The operating income margin decreased 180 basis
points to 10.3% compared to 12.1% in the prior year; of the
decline, 80 basis points was the result of the costs related to the
unsolicited takeover attempt and MEPP withdrawal charges. The
legal and professional fees incurred as a result of the unsolicited
takeover attempt were not allocated to the Company’s business
segments, and are reflected in the “Other” line item in the table
below.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2010 2009

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $ 371,317 $ 469,888 $ (98,571) -21%
All Other Operations 51,716 54,980 (3,264) -6%
Other (23,435) — (23,435)

$ 399,598 $ 524,868 $ (125,270) -24%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment decreased
21% in the current year. The Distribution business segment’s
operating income margin decreased 130 basis points to 10.7%
compared to 12.0% in the prior year. The operating income

margin decline was driven by lower sales and the $6.7 million (20
basis points) MEPP withdrawal charges, partially offset by
favorable mix-driven gross profit margin (excluding depreciation)
expansion and the Company’s cost reduction and operating
efficiency initiatives that were implemented in response to the
economic downturn.

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment
decreased 6% compared to the prior year mainly as a result of
lower same-store sales partially offset by acquisition growth
(primarily the prior year acquisition in the refrigerants
business). The segment’s operating income margin of 12.3% was
30 basis points higher than the operating income margin of
12.0% in the prior year. The increase in operating income margin
was driven principally by gross margin expansion in the ammonia
business.

Interest Expense, Net, and Discount on Securitization
of Trade Receivables
Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade
receivables totaled $69 million representing a decrease of $26
million, or 28%, compared to the prior year. The decrease
resulted from lower weighted-average interest rates related to the
Company’s variable rate debt instruments, the Company’s
redemption of higher interest rate notes, as well as lower average
debt levels from the pay down during the current year of
approximately $268 million of debt and borrowings under the
trade receivables securitization.

The Company participates in the Securitization Agreement with
three commercial banks to sell up to $295 million of qualifying
trade receivables ($345 million at March 31, 2009). The amount
of outstanding receivables under the securitization agreements
was $295 million at March 31, 2010 versus $311 million at
March 31, 2009. The discount on the securitization of trade
receivables represents the difference between the carrying value
of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The amount
of the discount varies on a monthly basis depending on the
amount of receivables sold and market rates.

The Company manages its exposure to interest rate risk through
participation in interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect
of the interest rate swap agreements and the trade receivables
securitization, the Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at
March 31, 2010 was 50% fixed to 50% variable. A majority of
the Company’s variable rate debt is based on a spread over the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Based on the
Company’s fixed to variable interest rate ratio, for every 25 basis
point increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates that its annual
interest expense would increase approximately $2.2 million.

Losses on the Extinguishment of Debt
During the current year, the Company redeemed in full its $150
million of 2004 Notes at a price of 103.125% of the principal
amount. Additionally, the Company repurchased approximately
$154 million of its 2008 Notes at an average price of 106.4%. In
conjunction with these transactions, the Company recognized
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losses on the early extinguishment of debt of $17.9 million. The
losses related to the redemption premiums and the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.

Income Tax Expense
The effective income tax rate in fiscal 2010 was 37.5% of pre-tax
earnings compared to 39.2% in the prior year. The lower tax rate
for the current year reflects the impact of tax benefits of $2.2
million associated with the reorganization of certain facilities
within the All Other Operations business segment and the
recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits associated
with uncertain tax positions.

Net Earnings
Net earnings were $196 million, or $2.34 per diluted share,
compared to $261 million, or $3.12 per diluted share, in the prior
year. The current year’s net earnings include costs related to the
unsolicited takeover attempt of $23.4 million ($14.8 million after
tax) or $0.18 per diluted share, losses related to the early
extinguishment of debt of $17.9 million ($11.3 million after tax) or
$0.14 per diluted share and charges related to withdrawals from
multi-employer pension plans of $6.7 million ($4.1 million after
tax) or $0.05 per diluted share, slightly offset by an income tax
benefit of $2.2 million or $0.03 per diluted share.

Results of Operations: 2009 Compared to 2008

Overview
Airgas had net sales for fiscal 2009 of $4.3 billion compared to
$4.0 billion for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008 (“fiscal
2008”). Net sales increased by 8% in fiscal 2009 driven by the
impact of acquisitions and same-store sales growth. Acquisitions
accounted for 7% of the overall sales growth in fiscal 2009.
Same-store sales growth contributed 1% to the increase in total
sales, driven by a 4% increase in pricing, offset by a 3% decrease
in sales volumes. Price increases were designed to offset rising
product, operating and distribution costs. Lower sales volumes
reflected the effects of the slowing economy and the decreased
demand experienced in the second half of fiscal 2009 across all
customer and geographic segments. The Company’s strategic
products and related growth initiatives mitigated the impact of
the economic slowdown.

Operating leverage and the benefit of acquisition synergies
resulted in a 30 basis point expansion in the operating income
margin to 12.1% in fiscal 2009 compared to 11.8% in fiscal
2008. Net earnings per diluted share grew 17% to $3.12 in fiscal
2009 versus $2.66 in fiscal 2008. The strong performance was
driven by good sales growth in the first half of the year and
effective management of costs in response to the slowing
economy in the second half of the year. Fiscal 2008 included
$0.06 of integration expense primarily associated with the
June 30, 2007 acquisition of Linde AG’s U.S. packaged gas
business, a one-time, non-cash charge of $0.03 per diluted share
related to the conversion of National Welders Supply Company,
Inc. (“National Welders”) from a joint venture to a 100% owned
subsidiary, and $0.01 per diluted share tax benefit related to a
change in state tax law.

Acquisitions
In fiscal 2009, the Company acquired a total of 14 businesses with
aggregate historical annual sales of more than $205 million. The
largest of these acquisitions was Refron, Inc. (“Refron”), a New
York-based distributor of refrigerant gases with historical annual
sales of $93 million, acquired on July 31, 2008. With the
acquisition of Refron, the Company formed Airgas Refrigerants,
Inc. and merged the newly acquired operations with its existing
refrigerant gas business. Airgas Refrigerants, Inc. is reflected in the
All Other Operations business segment. Other significant
acquisitions included Oilind Safety, a Arizona-based provider of
industrial safety services including rental equipment, safety
supplies, and technical support and training, with historical annual
sales of $23 million; A&N Plant, a European-based supplier of
positioning and welding equipment for sale and rent with
historical annual sales of $20 million; and Gordon Woods Welding
Supply, an industrial gas and welding supply distributor in the
northern Los Angeles area with historical annual sales of $25
million. These acquisitions were merged into the operations of the
Distribution business segment. The acquisitions expand the
Company’s coverage in key geographies, strengthen its national
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distribution network and broaden its refrigerant gas and safety
product offerings. The acquisition of A&N Plant provides for
increased international presence and an expansion of the
Red-D-Arc rental welder business into Europe.

Stock Repurchase Plan
In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a
stock repurchase plan (the “Repurchase Plan”) that provided the
Company with the authorization to repurchase up to $150 million
of its common stock. During the year ended March 31, 2009, the
Company purchased 2.4 million shares for $115.6 million to
complete the Repurchase Plan.

Income Statement Commentary—
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2009 Compared to Fiscal Year
Ended March 31, 2008
Net Sales
Net sales increased 8% in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008
driven by acquisition growth of 7% and same-store sales growth
of 1%. Pricing contributed 4% to same-store sales growth, which
was largely offset by volume declines of 3%. The Company
estimates same-store sales based on a comparison of current
period sales to prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions and
divestitures. The pro forma adjustments consist of adding acquired
sales to, or subtracting sales of divested operations from, sales
reported in the prior period. The table below reflects actual sales
and does not include the pro forma adjustments used in
calculating the same-store sales metric. The intercompany
eliminations represent sales from the All Other Operations
business segment to the Distribution business segment.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 2008 Increase

Distribution $ 3,918,376 $ 3,688,966 $ 229,410 6%
All Other Operations 457,329 343,246 114,083 33%
Intercompany eliminations (26,250) (15,188) (11,062)

$ 4,349,455 $ 4,017,024 $ 332,431 8%

Distribution business segment sales increased 6% in fiscal 2009
compared to fiscal 2008 driven by sales contributed by both fiscal
2009 and fiscal 2008 acquisitions of $234 million (6%) and flat
same-store sales growth. Flat same-store sales in fiscal 2009
reflects growth in gas and rent same-store sales of $66 million
(3%), offset by lower hardgoods sales of $70 million (-4%). Same-
store sales growth from gas and rent reflect strong strategic
product growth which mitigated same-store sales declines in the
Company’s industrial gas and welding hardgoods business. The
same-store sales declines in the Company’s industrial gas and
welding hardgoods business reflects the impact of the economic
downturn on manufacturing and the steep decline in demand for
equipment and welding consumables experienced in the second
half of fiscal 2009.

The Distribution business segment’s gas and rent same-store sales
growth of 3% in fiscal 2009 reflects both price increases of 4%
and a decline in volume of 1%. Sales of strategic gas products
sold through the Distribution business segment increased 8% in

fiscal 2009 driven by bulk, medical, and specialty gas sales gains.
Bulk gas sales were up 10% in fiscal 2009 reflecting both price
and volume increases. Volume growth benefited from new
production capabilities and the Company’s ability to engineer
solutions for customer applications, leading to an increase in new
bulk accounts during the year. Medical gas sales grew 7% in fiscal
2009 attributable to continued success with the hospital,
physician, and dental care markets. These markets continue to
perform well and have good future growth prospects. Strong
specialty gas sales growth of 8% in fiscal 2009 was driven by
demand from key customers in bio-tech, life sciences, research,
and environmental monitoring markets. Sales of core industrial
gases were down 1% in fiscal 2009. Revenues from the
Company’s rental welder business contributed growth of 21% in
fiscal 2009 with acquisition growth of 22%, offset by a 1%
decline in same-store sales.

The decline in hardgoods same-store sales of 4% in fiscal 2009
reflects a combination of price gains and volume declines, with
pricing adding about 3%, offset by a 7% volume decline. The
Company’s successful Radnor® private label brand of products
generated sales growth of 21% in fiscal 2009, reaching a total of
$192 million. Sales of safety products increased 1% in fiscal 2009
resulting from the success of the telemarketing operations
(telesales) and effective cross-selling of safety products to new and
existing customers helping to mitigate the significant decline in
fourth quarter sales in fiscal 2009 related to the economic
downturn.

Fiscal 2009 sales of the All Other Operations business segment
increased $114 million (33%) compared to fiscal 2008 resulting
from acquisitions and same-store sales growth. Acquisitions
contributed 23% to the segment’s sales growth in fiscal 2009,
which was primarily driven by $55 million in sales contributed by
Refron (a part of Airgas Refrigerants), which was acquired on
July 31, 2008. Same-store sales growth of 10% in fiscal 2009 was
driven by sales gains of anhydrous ammonia and carbon dioxide
products.

Gross Profits (Excluding Depreciation)
Gross profits (excluding depreciation) increased 10% in fiscal 2009
principally from acquisitions and gas and rent sales growth. The
consolidated gross margin (excluding depreciation) in fiscal 2009
increased 100 basis points to 53% compared to 52% in fiscal
2008, with the increase driven primarily by a favorable shift in
product mix towards higher-margin gas and rent as well as the
impact of pricing.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 2008 Increase

Distribution $ 2,105,251 $ 1,918,966 $ 186,285 10%
All Other Operations 199,184 168,795 30,389 18%

$ 2,304,435 $ 2,087,761 $ 216,674 10%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits (excluding
depreciation) increased 10% in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal
2008. The Distribution business segment’s gross profit margin
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(excluding depreciation) was 53.7% in fiscal 2009 versus 52.0% in
fiscal 2008. The 170 basis point increase in the gross profit margin
(excluding depreciation) reflected the favorable shift in product
mix toward gas and rent as well as the impact of price increases.
Gas and rent as a percentage of the Distribution business
segment’s sales was 57.2% in fiscal 2009 as compared to 55.5%
in fiscal 2008.

The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits
(excluding depreciation) increased 18% in fiscal 2009 primarily
from strong growth of anhydrous ammonia, refrigerant, and
carbon dioxide products. The segment’s gross margin (excluding
depreciation) decreased 560 basis points to 43.6% in fiscal 2009
versus 49.2% in fiscal 2008 driven by the growth of refrigerants,
which generally have lower gross profit margins (excluding
depreciation) than the other products within the businesses in the
All Other Operations business segment.

Operating Expenses
As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expense increased 40 basis
points to 35.8% in fiscal 2009 compared to 35.4% in fiscal 2008
reflecting the impact of the deteriorating business climate in the
second half of fiscal 2009. SD&A expenses increased $137 million
(10%) in fiscal 2009 primarily from operating costs of acquired
businesses. Acquisitions contributed estimated incremental SD&A
expenses of approximately $105 million in fiscal 2009. The
increase in SD&A expense attributable to factors other than
acquisitions was approximately $32 million, or an increase of 2%,
in fiscal 2009 primarily due to salaries and wages and distribution-
related expenses primarily related to the higher sales levels in the
first half of fiscal 2009.

Depreciation expense of $198 million increased $22 million
(13%) in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. Acquired businesses
added approximately $10 million to depreciation expense in fiscal
2009. The remainder of the increase primarily reflects capital
investments in both fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 in revenue
generating assets to support customer demand, primarily
cylinders, bulk tanks and rental welders, as well as the addition of
new fill plants, the New Carlisle, Indiana air separation unit in late
fiscal 2009, and branch stores. Amortization expense of $23
million was $9 million (63%) higher in fiscal 2009 than fiscal 2008
driven by the amortization of customer lists and non-compete
agreements associated with acquisitions.

Operating Income
Operating income increased 10% in fiscal 2009 driven by higher
sales levels and improvement of operating income margins. The
operating income margin increased 30 basis points to 12.1% in
fiscal 2009 compared to 11.8% in fiscal 2008.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 2008 Increase

Distribution $ 469,888 $ 425,922 $ 43,966 10%
All Other Operations 54,980 49,902 5,078 10%

$ 524,868 $ 475,824 $ 49,044 10%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment increased
10% in fiscal 2009. The Distribution business segment’s operating
income margin increased 50 basis points to 12.0% in fiscal 2009
compared to 11.5% in fiscal 2008. The operating income margin
improvement reflects lower integration expenses which
contributed 20 basis points, gross profit margin (excluding
depreciation) expansion resulting from pricing actions during fiscal
2009 and a shift in product mix toward higher margin gas and
rent and attainment of acquisition synergies and cost savings from
expense reduction and operating efficiency programs.

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment
increased 10% in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008, principally
driven by strong growth in ammonia. The segment’s operating
income margin of 12.0% was 250 basis points lower in fiscal
2009 than the operating income margin of 14.5% in fiscal 2008.
The margin decline resulted from margin pressure on ammonia
products in the first half of fiscal 2009 and from a shift in sales
mix toward refrigerants, which carry a lower margin than other
products in the segment. The shift in product mix toward
refrigerants was driven by the acquisition of Refron in fiscal 2009.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade
Receivables
Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade
receivables totaled $95 million in fiscal 2009 representing a
decrease of 11% compared to fiscal 2008. The decrease primarily
resulted from lower weighted-average interest rates related to the
Company’s variable rate debt instruments, partially offset by
higher average debt levels associated with acquisitions and the
Company’s share repurchases.

The Company participated in the Securitization Agreement with
three commercial banks to sell up to $345 million of qualifying
trade receivables at March 31, 2009 ($360 million at March 31,
2008). The amount of outstanding receivables under the
Securitization Agreement was $311 million at March 31, 2009
versus $360 million at March 31, 2008. Net proceeds from the
sale of trade receivables were used to reduce borrowings under
the Company’s Credit Facilities. The discount on the securitization
of trade receivables represents the difference between the
carrying value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale.

Income Tax Expense
The effective income tax rate in fiscal 2009 was 39.2% of pre-tax
earnings compared to 38.9% in fiscal 2008. The fiscal 2008
effective income tax rate includes a $0.01 per diluted share tax
benefit associated with a change in the Texas state income tax law,
which reduced the effective tax rate by 0.3%. The fiscal 2008 tax
benefit was based on additional guidance issued by the state of
Texas regarding a prior year change in law. These tax benefits
reflect the reduction of deferred tax liabilities previously established
for temporary differences under the prior state tax law.
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Net Earnings
Net earnings were $261 million, or $3.12 per diluted share, in
fiscal 2009 compared to $223 million, or $2.66 per diluted share,
in fiscal 2008. Net earnings in fiscal 2008 included $0.06 per
diluted share of integration expense primarily associated with the
June 30, 2007 acquisition of Linde AG’s U.S. packaged gas
business, a one-time, non-cash charge of $0.03 per diluted share
related to the conversion of National Welders from a joint venture
to a 100% owned subsidiary, and a $0.01 per diluted share tax
benefit related to a change in Texas state income tax law.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal 2010 Cash Flows
Net cash provided by operating activities was $600 million in fiscal
2010 compared to $583 million in fiscal 2009. Fiscal 2010 cash
from operations reflects lower net earnings adjusted for non-cash
and non-operating items more than offset by lower working
capital requirements. Net earnings adjusted for non-cash and
non-operating items provided cash of $541 million in fiscal 2010
versus $605 million in the prior year. Reduced inventory levels,
principally as a result of lower hardgoods sales and a draw-down
of refrigerants gases, drove the lower working capital
requirements. Exclusive of the cash used by the trade receivables
securitization agreement, lower working capital requirements
provided cash of $79 million in fiscal 2010 versus providing cash
of $27 million in the prior year. The trade receivables securitization
used cash of $16 million during the current period as a result of
the March 2010 agreement renewal, which reduced the
maximum amount of receivables that could be sold under the
agreement.

On April 1, 2010, the Company adopted new guidance
establishing revised standards on accounting for the transfers of
financial assets. These standards apply to the Company’s trade
receivable securitization agreement and effectively require the
Company to recognize the trade receivable securitization
agreement as a secured borrowing, as it no longer meet the
conditions required for sales accounting treatment. This change in
accounting also requires that the cash proceeds received under the
Securitization Agreement no longer be treated as a source of cash
from operating activities, but to be recognized in the statement of
cash flows as a source of cash from financing activities. With the
adoption of the new standards, cash provided by operating
activities is expected to decrease by the amount of the secured
borrowing, which was $295 million at March 31, 2010.

Net cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2010 totaled
$322 million and primarily consisted of cash used for capital
expenditures and acquisitions. Cash used in investing activities
decreased $288 million from the prior year primarily due to a $99
million reduction in capital spending and less acquisition activity
during the current year. The decrease in capital expenditures
reflects the completion of major capital projects such as the New
Carlisle, Indiana and Carrollton, Kentucky air separation units, and
the carbon dioxide plant in Deer Park, Texas and reduced capital
expenditures in response to the decline in sales. Cash of $81
million was paid in the current year to acquire six businesses, the
largest of which was Tri-Tech, a Florida-based industrial gas and
welding supply distributor, and to settle acquisition holdback
liabilities associated with prior year acquisitions. During fiscal
2009, the Company paid $274 million to acquire 14 businesses,
the largest of which was Refron, Inc., now a part of Airgas
Refrigerants, Inc., and to settle acquisition holdback liabilities.

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $278 million in fiscal
2010, principally reflecting the net repayment of $254 million of
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debt. On September 11, 2009, the Company issued $400 million
of 4.5% fixed rate senior notes. The 2009 Notes were issued at a
discount and mature on September 15, 2014 with an effective
yield of 4.527%. On March 15, 2010, the Company issued $300
million of 2.85% fixed rate senior notes. The 2010 Notes were
issued at a discount and will mature on October 1, 2013 with an
effective yield of 2.871%. The Company used the net proceeds
from both offerings to reduce the borrowings under its Credit
Facility. During fiscal 2010, the Company also repurchased
portions of its higher fixed rate senior subordinated notes. On
October 13, 2009, the Company redeemed in full its $150 million
6.25% 2004 Notes at a price of 103.125% of the principal.
During fiscal 2010, the Company also repurchased $154.6 million
of its original $400 million 7.125% 2008 Notes at an average
price of 106.4%. As a result of the redemption of the 2004 Notes
and the repurchases of the 2008 Notes, the Company recognized
total losses of $17.9 million on the early debt extinguishment. The
losses reflected the redemption premiums as well as writing-off
the associated unamortized debt issuance costs.

Dividends
The Company paid its stockholders quarterly cash dividends of
$0.18 per share at the end of each of the first three quarters of
fiscal 2010. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company
paid dividends of $0.22 per share. On May 25, 2010, the
Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.22
per share, which is payable on June 30, 2010 to the stockholders
of record as of June 15, 2010. During fiscal 2009, the Company
paid regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.12 per share at the
end of each of the first two quarters and $0.16 per share in the
third and fourth quarters. During fiscal 2008, the Company paid
regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.09 per share during the first
three quarters and $0.12 per share during the fourth quarter.
Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid will
depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial condition, loan
covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed
relevant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

Financial Instruments
Senior Credit Facility
At March 31, 2010, the Credit Facility permitted the Company to
borrow up to $991 million under a U.S. dollar revolving credit line,
up to $75 million (U.S. dollar equivalent) under the multi-currency
revolving credit line, and up to C$40 million (U.S. $39 million)
under a Canadian dollar revolving credit line. The Credit Facility
also contains a term loan provision through which the Company
borrowed $600 million with scheduled repayment terms. The term
loans are repayable in quarterly installments of $22.5 million
through June 30, 2010. The quarterly installments then increase
to $71.2 million from September 30, 2010 to June 30, 2011.
Principal payments due over the next twelve months on the term
loans are classified as “Long-term debt” in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets based on the Company’s ability and
intention to refinance the payments with borrowings under its
long-term revolving credit facilities. As principal amounts under
the term loans are repaid, no additional borrowing capacity is

created under the term loan provision. The Credit Facility will
mature on July 25, 2011.

As of March 31, 2010, the Company had approximately $548
million of borrowings under the Credit Facility: $199 million under
the U.S. dollar revolver, $31 million (in U.S. dollars) under the
multi-currency revolver, C$10 million (U.S. $10 million) under the
Canadian dollar revolver, and $308 million under the term loans.
The Company also had outstanding letters of credit of $42 million
issued under the Credit Facility. The U.S. dollar borrowings and
the term loans under the Credit Facility bear interest at LIBOR plus
50 basis points. The multi-currency revolver bears interest based
on a spread of 50 basis points over the Euro currency rate
applicable to each foreign currency borrowing. The Canadian
dollar borrowings bear interest at the Canadian Bankers’
Acceptance Rate plus 50 basis points. As of March 31, 2010, the
average effective interest rates on the U.S. dollar revolver, the
term loans, the multi-currency revolver, and the Canadian dollar
revolver were 0.73%, 0.79%, 0.96%, and 1.00%, respectively.

On January 25, 2010, the Company obtained a committed
revolving line of credit of up to 3 million Euro (U.S. $4 million) to
fund its expansion into France. The French revolving credit
borrowings are outside of the Company’s Credit Facility. At
March 31, 2010, French revolving credit borrowings were
1 million Euro (U.S. $1.35 million). The Company intends to
refinance the French revolving credit borrowings with the Credit
Facility. The variable interest rates on the French revolving credit
borrowings are based on the Euro currency rate plus 50 basis
points. As of March 31, 2010, the effective interest rate on the
French revolving credit borrowings was 0.90%.

Total Borrowing Capacity
As of March 31, 2010, approximately $823 million remained
unused under the Company’s Credit Facility. The Company
believes that it has sufficient liquidity from cash from operations
and under its revolving credit facilities to meet its working capital,
capital expenditure and other financial commitments. The debt
covenants under the Company’s Credit Facility require the
Company to maintain a leverage ratio not higher than 4.0 times
and an interest coverage ratio not lower than 3.5 times. The
leverage ratio is a contractually defined amount principally
reflecting debt and certain elements of the Company’s off-balance
sheet financing divided by a contractually defined Earnings Before
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) for the
trailing twelve-month period with pro forma adjustments for
acquisitions. The interest coverage ratio reflects the same
contractually defined EBITDA divided by total interest expense also
with pro forma adjustments for acquisitions. Both ratios measure
the Company’s ability to meet current and future obligations. At
March 31, 2010, the Company’s leverage ratio was 2.9 times and
its interest coverage ratio was 9.0 times. Based on the leverage
ratio at March 31, 2010, the Company’s borrowing capacity is
limited to $748 million. The Credit Facility contains customary
events of default, including nonpayment and breach of covenants.
In the event of default, repayment of borrowings under the Credit
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Facility may be accelerated. The Company’s Credit Facility also
contains cross default provisions whereby a default under the
Credit Facility would likely result in defaults under the senior and
senior subordinated notes discussed below.

With the October 13, 2009 redemption of the 2004 Notes, the
guarantees and collateral under the Credit Facility were released.
Prior to the redemption of the 2004 Notes, the Company’s
domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of the bankruptcy-remote special
purpose entity (the “domestic subsidiaries”), guaranteed the U.S.
dollar revolver, term loans, multi-currency revolver and Canadian
dollar revolver. The multi-currency revolver and Canadian dollar
revolver were also guaranteed by the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries. The guarantees were full and unconditional and were
made on a joint and several basis. The Company had pledged
100% of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the
stock of its foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under
the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility provided for the release of
the guarantees and collateral if the Company attained an
investment grade credit rating and a similar release on its 2004
Notes.

The Company continues to look for acquisition candidates. The
financial covenant calculations of the Credit Facility include the
pro forma results of acquired businesses. Therefore, total
borrowing capacity is not reduced dollar-for-dollar with
acquisition financing.

The Company continually evaluates alternative financing and
believes that it can obtain financing on reasonable terms. The
terms of any future financing arrangements depend on market
conditions and the Company’s financial position at that time.

Money Market Loans
The Company also has an agreement with a financial institution
that provides access to short-term advances not to exceed $35
million. The agreement expires on December 1, 2010, but may be
extended subject to renewal provisions contained in the
agreement. The advances are generally overnight or for up to
seven days. The amount, term and interest rate of an advance are
established through mutual agreement with the financial
institution when the Company requests such an advance. At
March 31, 2010, there were no advances outstanding under the
agreement.

Senior Notes
On September 11, 2009, the Company issued $400 million of
senior notes. The 2009 Notes were issued at a discount and
mature on September 15, 2014 with an effective yield of 4.527%.
The net proceeds from the sale of the 2009 Notes were used to
reduce the borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit line
under the Credit Facility. The 2009 Notes bear interest at a fixed
annual rate of 4.5%, payable semi-annually on March 15 and
September 15 of each year, commencing March 15, 2010.
Additionally, the Company has the option to redeem the 2009
Notes prior to their maturity, in whole or in part, at 100% of the

principal plus any accrued but unpaid interest and any applicable
make-whole amounts.

On March 15, 2010, the Company issued $300 million of senior
notes. The 2010 Notes were issued at a discount and mature on
October 1, 2013 with an effective yield of 2.871%. The net
proceeds from the sale of the 2010 Notes were used to reduce
the borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit line under
the Credit Facility. The 2010 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual
rate of 2.85%, payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of
each year, commencing October 1, 2010. Additionally, the
Company has the option to redeem the 2010 Notes prior to their
maturity, in whole or in part, at 100% of the principal plus any
accrued but unpaid interest and any applicable make-whole
amounts.

Senior Subordinated Notes
At March 31, 2010, the Company had $245 million of its 2008
Notes outstanding with a maturity date of October 1, 2018. The
2008 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 7.125%,
payable semi-annually on October 1 and April 1 of each year. The
2008 Notes have a redemption provision, which permits the
Company, at its option, to call the 2008 Notes at scheduled dates
and prices. The first scheduled optional redemption date is
October 1, 2013 at a price of 103.563% of the principal amount.

The 2008, 2009 and 2010 Notes contain covenants that could
restrict the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common
stock, the issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of
additional indebtedness and liens. With the July 31, 2009 credit
rating upgrades and the October 13, 2009 redemption of the
2004 Notes, the subsidiary guarantees on the 2008 and 2009
Notes were released.

Acquisition Notes and Other
The Company’s long-term debt also includes acquisition and other
notes, principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of businesses
acquired, which are repayable in periodic installments. At
March 31, 2010, acquisition and other notes totaled $16 million
with an average interest rate of approximately 6% and an average
maturity of approximately two years.

Trade Receivables Securitization
The Company participates in the Securitization Agreement with
three commercial banks to which it sells qualifying trade
receivables on a revolving basis. Upon its renewal in March 2010,
the maximum amount of the facility was established at $295
million, down from $345 million at March 31, 2009. The
Securitization Agreement expires in March 2012 and contains
customary events of termination, including standard cross default
provisions with respect to outstanding debt. During the year
ended March 31, 2010, the Company sold approximately $3.5
billion of trade receivables and remitted to bank conduits,
pursuant to a servicing agreement, approximately $3.5 billion in
collections on those receivables. The amount of receivables sold
under the securitization agreements was $295 million at
March 31, 2010 and $311 million at March 31, 2009.
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The Company retains a subordinated interest in trade receivables
sold under the Securitization Agreement. The fair value of the
retained interest, which was $142 million at March 31, 2010, is
measured based on management’s best estimate of the
undiscounted expected future cash collections on the receivables
sold in which the Company has a retained interest. Changes in the
fair value are recognized as bad debt expense. Historically, bad
debt expense reflected in the Company’s financial results has
generally been in the range of 0.3% to 0.5% of sales. As
disclosed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, fair
values of the retained interest are classified as Level 3 inputs on
the fair value hierarchy because of the judgment required by
management to determine the ultimate collectability of
receivables. The amounts ultimately collected on past due trade
receivables are subject to numerous factors including general
economic conditions, the condition of the receivable portfolio
assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of individual
customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts exiting
bankruptcy. The Company monitors the credit risk associated with
the aforementioned factors, as well as aging trends and historic
collections and records additional bad debt expense when
appropriate. The Company is exposed to the risk of loss for any
uncollectable amounts associated with the subordinated retained
interest in trade receivables sold.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements
The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest
rates. The Company’s involvement with derivative instruments is
limited to highly effective interest rate swap agreements used to
manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The Company
monitors its positions and credit ratings of its counterparties and
does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties.
Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into for trading
purposes. The Company recognizes certain derivative instruments
as either assets or liabilities at fair value on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. At March 31, 2010, the Company was party to a
total of twelve interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate
notional amount of $550 million.

The Company designates fixed interest rate swap agreements as
cash flow hedges of interest payments on variable-rate debt
associated with the Company’s Credit Facility. For derivative
instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion
of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and is
reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during
which the hedge transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses on
the derivative instruments representing hedge ineffectiveness are
recognized in current earnings.

During fiscal 2010, eleven fixed interest rate swap agreements
with an aggregate notional amount of $377 million matured. At
March 31, 2010, the Company had seven fixed interest rate swap
agreements outstanding with a notional amount of $250 million.
These swaps effectively convert $250 million of variable interest
rate debt associated with the Company’s Credit Facility to fixed

rate debt. At March 31, 2010, these swap agreements required
the Company to make fixed interest payments based on a
weighted average effective rate of 3.21% and receive variable
interest payments from the counterparties based on a weighted
average variable rate of 0.59%. The remaining terms of these
swap agreements range from six to nine months. For the year
ended March 31, 2010, the fair value of the liability for the fixed
interest rate swap agreements decreased and the Company
recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)” of $8.6 million, or $5.6 million after
tax. For the year ended March 31, 2009, the fair value of the
liability for the fixed interest rate swap agreements decreased and
the Company recorded a corresponding adjustment to
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” of $8.3
million, or $5.4 million after tax. For the year ended March 31,
2008, the fair value of the liability for the fixed interest rate swap
agreements increased and the Company recorded a
corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)” of $21.0 million, or $13.6 million after tax.

The Company also has variable interest rate swap agreements,
which are designated as fair value hedges. For derivative
instruments designated as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on
the derivative as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged
item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in current
earnings.

On March 15, 2010, the Company entered into five variable
interest rate swaps to effectively convert its $300 million of fixed
rate 2010 Notes to variable rate debt. At March 31, 2010, these
swap agreements required the Company to make variable interest
payments based on a weighted average forward rate of 2.96%
and receive fixed interest payments from the counterparties based
on a fixed rate of 2.85%. The maturity of these fair value swaps
coincides with the maturity date of the Company’s 2010 Notes in
October 2013. Through March 31, 2010, the fair value of the
variable interest rate swaps decreased to a liability of $625
thousand and was recorded in “Other Non-Current Liabilities.”
The corresponding reduction in the carrying value of the 2010
Notes caused by the hedged risk was $392 thousand and was
recorded in “Long-Term Debt.” The Company records the gain or
loss on the hedged item (the 2010 Notes) and the loss or gain on
the variable interest rate swaps in interest expense. Accordingly,
the ineffective portion of the hedge was $233 thousand for fiscal
2010 and was reflected as additional interest expense. At
March 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had no outstanding
variable interest rate swaps.

The Company measures the fair value of its interest rate swaps
using observable market rates to calculate the forward yield curves
used to determine expected cash flows for each interest rate swap
agreement. The discounted present values of the expected cash
flows are calculated using the same forward yield curve. The
discount rate assumed in the fair value calculations is adjusted for
non-performance risk, dependent on the classification of the
interest rate swap as an asset or liability. If an interest rate swap is
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a liability, the Company assesses the credit and non-performance
risk of Airgas by determining an appropriate credit spread for
entities with similar credit characteristics as the Company. If,
however, an interest rate swap is in an asset position, a credit
analysis of counterparties is performed assessing the credit and
non-performance risk based upon the pricing history of
counterparty specific credit default swaps or credit spreads for
entities with similar credit ratings to the counterparties. The
Company does not believe it is at risk for non-performance by its
counterparties. However, if an interest rate swap is in an asset
position, the failure of one or more of its counterparties would
result in an increase in interest expense and a reduction of
earnings. The Company compares its fair value calculations to the
fair values calculated by the counterparties for each swap
agreement for reasonableness.

Other

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make judgments, assumptions and
estimates that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant
accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Estimates are used for, but not
limited to, determining the net carrying value of trade receivables,
inventories, goodwill, other intangible assets, business insurance
reserves and deferred tax assets. Uncertainties about future events
make these estimates susceptible to change. Management
evaluates these estimates regularly and believes they are the best
estimates, appropriately made, given the known facts and
circumstances. For the three years ended March 31, 2010, there
were no material changes in the valuation methods or
assumptions used by management. However, actual results could
differ from these estimates under different assumptions and
circumstances. The Company believes the following accounting
estimates are critical due to the subjectivity and judgment
necessary to account for these matters, their susceptibility to
change and the potential impact that different assumptions could
have on operating performance.

Trade Receivables/Subordinated Retained Interest
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables and the
subordinated retained interest in trade receivables sold under the
trade receivables securitization agreement (collectively referred to
as trade receivables) to fair value based on estimates of accounts
that will not ultimately be collected. An allowance for doubtful
accounts is generally established as trade receivables age beyond
their due date. As past due balances age, higher valuation
allowances are established lowering the net carrying value of
receivables. The amount of valuation allowance established for
each past due period reflects the Company’s historical collections
experience and current economic conditions and trends. The
Company also establishes valuation allowances for specific
problem accounts and bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately
collected on past due trade receivables are subject to numerous
factors including general economic conditions, the condition of
the receivable portfolio assumed in acquisitions, the financial
condition of individual customers, and the terms of reorganization
for accounts emerging from bankruptcy. Changes in these
conditions impact the Company’s collection experience and may
result in the recognition of higher or lower valuation allowances.
Management evaluates the allowance for doubtful accounts
monthly. Historically, bad debt expense reflected in the
Company’s financial results has generally been in the range of
0.3% to 0.5% of sales. The Company has a low concentration of
credit risk due to its broad and diversified customer base across
multiple industries and geographic locations, and its relatively low
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average order size. The Company’s largest customer accounts for
approximately 0.5% of total net sales.

Inventories
The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market. The majority of the products the Company carries in
inventory have long shelf lives and are not subject to technological
obsolescence. The Company writes its inventory down to its
estimated market value when it believes the market value is below
cost. The Company estimates its ability to recover the costs of
items in inventory by product type based on its age, the rate at
which that product line is turning in inventory, its physical
condition as well as assumptions about future demand and
market conditions. The ability of the Company to recover its cost
for products in inventory can be affected by factors such as future
customer demand, general market conditions and the relationship
with significant suppliers. Management evaluates the
recoverability of its inventory at least quarterly. In aggregate,
inventory turns at four-to-five times per year.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are not amortized, but are instead tested for impairment at least
annually and whenever events or circumstances indicate that it is
more likely than not that they may be impaired. The Company has
elected to perform its annual tests for indications of goodwill
impairment as of October 31 of each year or whenever indicators
of impairment exist.

The goodwill impairment analysis is a two-step process. The first
step used to identify potential impairment involves comparing
each reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its carrying value,
including goodwill. The Company uses a discounted cash flow
approach to develop the estimated fair value of its reporting units.
Management judgment is required in developing the assumptions
for the discounted cash flow model. These assumptions include
revenue growth rates, profit margins, future capital expenditures,
working capital needs, discount rates, perpetual growth rates, etc.
If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying
value, goodwill is not impaired. If the carrying value exceeds
estimated fair value, there is an indication of potential impairment
and the second step is performed to measure the amount of
impairment.

The second step of the process involves the calculation of an
implied fair value of goodwill for each reporting unit for which
step one indicated potential impairment. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined in a manner similar to how goodwill is
calculated in a business combination. That is, the estimated fair
value of the reporting unit, as calculated in step one, is allocated
to the individual assets and liabilities as if the reporting unit was
being acquired in a business combination. If the implied fair value
of goodwill exceeds the carrying value of goodwill assigned to the
reporting unit, there is no impairment. If the carrying value of
goodwill assigned to a reporting unit exceeds the implied fair
value of the goodwill, an impairment charge is recorded to write
down the carrying value. An impairment loss cannot exceed the

carrying value of goodwill assigned to a reporting unit and the
loss establishes a new basis in the goodwill. Subsequent reversal
of an impairment loss is not permitted.

The discount rate, sales growth and profitability assumptions and
perpetual growth rate are the material assumptions utilized in the
discounted cash flow model used to estimate the fair value of
each reporting unit. The Company’s discount rate reflects a
weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) for a peer group of
companies in the chemical manufacturing industry with an equity
size premium added, as applicable, for each reporting unit. The
WACC is calculated based on observable market data. Some of
this data (such as the risk free or treasury rate and the pretax cost
of debt) are based on market data at a point in time. Other data
(such as beta and the equity risk premium) are based upon market
data over time.

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estimates, assumptions
and judgments about future events. The Company’s analysis uses
internally generated budgets and long-range forecasts. The
Company’s discounted cash flow analysis uses the assumptions in
these budgets and forecasts about sales trends, inflation, working
capital needs, and forecasted capital expenditures along with an
estimate of the reporting unit’s terminal value (the value of the
reporting unit at the end of the forecast period) to determine the
implied fair value of each reporting unit. The Company’s
assumptions about working capital needs and capital expenditures
are based on historical experience. The perpetual growth rate
assumed in the discounted cash flow model was consistent with
the long-term rate of growth as measured by the U.S. Gross
Domestic Product.

The Company believes the assumptions used in its discounted cash
flow analysis are appropriate and result in reasonable estimates of
the implied fair value of each reporting unit. However, the
Company may not meet its sales growth and profitability targets,
working capital needs and capital expenditures may be higher
than forecast, changes in credit markets may result in changes to
the Company’s discount rate and general business conditions may
result in changes to the Company’s terminal value assumptions for
its reporting units. In order to evaluate the sensitivity of the fair
value calculations on the goodwill impairment test, the Company
applied a hypothetical 7% decrease to the estimated fair value of
each reporting unit. In most cases, the estimated fair value of the
reporting units exceeded the carrying value of the reporting units
by a substantial amount. However, this hypothetical 7% decrease
in fair value would have triggered the need to perform additional
step two analyses for one of the Company’s reporting units. The
amount of goodwill associated with this reporting unit was $88
million at October 31, 2009.

Business Insurance Reserves
The Company has established insurance programs to cover
workers’ compensation, business automobile and general liability
claims. During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, these programs had
high deductible limits of $1 million per occurrence. For fiscal 2011,
the high deductible limits will remain $1 million per occurrence
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with no additional aggregate retention. The Company reserves for
its self-insured retention based on individual claim evaluations
establishing loss estimates for known claims based on the current
facts and circumstances. These known claims are then
“developed” through actuarial computations, to reflect the
expected ultimate loss for the known claims, as well as incurred
but not reported claims. Actuarial computations use the
Company’s specific loss history, payment patterns and insurance
coverage, plus industry trends and other factors to estimate the
required reserve for all open claims by policy year and loss type.
Reserves for the Company’s self-insurance retention are evaluated
monthly. Semi-annually, the Company obtains a third-party
actuarial report to validate that the computations and
assumptions used are consistent with actuarial standards. Certain
assumptions used in the actuarial computations are susceptible to
change. Loss development factors are influenced by items such as
medical inflation, changes in workers’ compensation laws, and
changes in the Company’s loss payment patterns, all of which can
have a significant influence on the estimated ultimate loss related
to the Company’s self-insured retention. Accordingly, the ultimate
resolution of open claims may be for amounts more or less than
the reserve balances. The Company’s operations are spread across
a significant number of locations, which helps to mitigate the
potential impact of any given event that could give rise to an
insurance-related loss. Over the last three years, business
insurance expense has generally been in the range of 0.6% to
0.8% of sales.

Income Taxes
At March 31, 2010, the Company had deferred tax assets of
$104.0 million (net of valuation allowances of $8.2 million),
deferred tax liabilities of $707.8 million and a net $8.1 million of
unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions
(see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements).

The Company estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative
and regulatory structures that exist in various jurisdictions where
the Company conducts business. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities represent tax benefits or obligations that arise from
temporary differences due to differing treatment of certain items
for accounting and income tax purposes. The Company evaluates
deferred tax assets each period to ensure that estimated future
taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g., capital gain
versus ordinary income treatment), amount and timing to result in
their recovery. A valuation allowance is established to reduce the
deferred income tax assets to their realizable value when
management determines that it is more likely than not that a
deferred tax asset will not be realized. Considerable judgments are
required in establishing deferred tax valuation allowances and in
assessing exposures related to tax matters. The ultimate realization
of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences and carryforward deferred tax assets become
deductible or utilized. Management considers the reversal of
taxable temporary differences and projected future taxable
income in making this assessment. As events and circumstances

change, related reserves and valuation allowances are adjusted to
income at that time. Based upon the level of historical taxable
income and projections for future taxable income over the periods
during which the deferred tax assets reverse, at March 31, 2010
management believes it is more likely than not that the Company
will realize the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the
existing valuation allowances.

Unrecognized tax benefits represent income tax positions taken
on income tax returns that have not been recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. The Company’s tax returns are
subject to audit and local taxing authorities could challenge the
Company’s tax positions. The Company’s practice is to review tax
filing positions by jurisdiction and to record provisions for
uncertain income tax positions, including interest and penalties
when applicable. The Company does not anticipate significant
changes in the amount of unrecognized income tax benefits over
the next year.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table presents the Company’s contractual obligations as of March 31, 2010:

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations: Total Less than 1 Year(a) 1 to 3 Years(a) 3 to 5 Years(a) More than 5 Years(a)

Long-term debt (1) $ 1,510,676 $ 10,255 $ 553,809 $ 700,990 $ 245,622

Estimated interest payments on

long-term debt (2) 265,480 49,054 89,630 65,581 61,215

Estimated payments on

interest rate swap agreements (3) 4,606 3,981 — 625 —

Non-compete agreements (4) 20,352 3,292 7,546 6,042 3,472

Letters of credit (5) 41,732 41,732 — — —

Operating leases (6) 269,268 82,075 113,045 48,201 25,947

Purchase obligations:

Liquid bulk gas supply agreements (7) 745,943 129,943 220,741 195,620 199,639

Liquid carbon dioxide supply

agreements (8) 192,245 17,964 30,959 25,477 117,845

Ammonia supply commitments (9) 1,157 1,157 — — —

Other purchase commitments (10) 2,739 2,739 — — —

Construction commitments (11) 4,146 4,146 — — —

Total Contractual Obligations $ 3,058,344 $ 346,338 $ 1,015,730 $ 1,042,536 $ 653,740

(a) The “Less than 1 Year” column relates to obligations due in fiscal 2011. The “1 to 3 Years”
column relates to obligations due in fiscal years ending March 31, 2012 and 2013. The “3
to 5 Years” column relates to obligations due in fiscal years ending March 31, 2014 and
2015. The “More than 5 Years” column relates to obligations due in fiscal years ending
March 31, 2016 and beyond.

(1) Aggregate long-term debt instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
March 31, 2010. Long-term debt includes capital lease obligations, which were not material
and, therefore, did not warrant separate disclosure. Principal payments on the term loan
under the Credit Facility are not reflected in the “Less than 1 Year” column above due to the
Company’s ability and intention to refinance the payments with borrowings under its long-
term revolving credit line. See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more
information regarding long-term debt instruments.

(2) The future interest payments on the Company’s long-term debt obligations were estimated
based on the current outstanding principal reduced by scheduled maturities in each period
presented and interest rates as of March 31, 2010. The actual interest payments may differ
materially from those presented above based on actual amounts of long-term debt
outstanding and actual interest rates in future periods.

(3) Payments or receipts under interest rate swap agreements result from changes in market
interest rates compared to contractual rates and payments to be exchanged between the
parties to the agreements. The estimated payments in future periods were determined based
on forward LIBOR rates as of March 31, 2010. Actual payments or receipts may differ
materially from those presented above based on actual interest rates in future periods.

(4) Non-compete agreements are obligations of the Company to make scheduled future
payments, generally to former owners of acquired businesses, contingent upon their
compliance with the covenants of the non-compete agreement.

(5) Letters of credit are guarantees of payment to third parties. The Company’s letters of credit
principally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-insured retention on
workers’ compensation, business automobile and general liability claims. The letters of credit
are supported by the Company’s Credit Facility.

(6) The Company’s operating leases at March 31, 2010 include approximately $183 million in
fleet vehicles under long-term operating leases. The Company guarantees a residual value of
$29 million related to its leased vehicles.

(7) In addition to the gas volumes supplied by Airgas Merchant Gases, the Company purchases
industrial, medical and specialty gases pursuant to requirements contracts from national and
regional producers of industrial gases. The Company has a long-term take-or-pay supply
agreement, in effect through August 31, 2017, with Air Products to supply the Company
with bulk liquid nitrogen, oxygen and argon. Additionally, the Company purchases helium

and hydrogen gases from Air Products under long-term supply agreements. Based on the
volume of fiscal 2010 purchases, the Air Products supply agreements represent
approximately $55 million annually in liquid bulk gas purchases.

The Company also has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements with Linde AG to purchase
oxygen, nitrogen, argon, helium and acetylene. The agreements expire at various dates
through July 2019 and represent almost $55 million in annual bulk gas purchases.
Additionally, the Company has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements to purchase oxygen,
nitrogen, argon and helium from other major producers. Annual purchases under these
contracts are approximately $20 million and they expire at various dates through 2024.

The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates
based on fiscal 2010 purchases. The supply agreements noted above contain periodic
adjustments based on certain economic indices and market analysis. The Company believes
the minimum product purchases under the agreements are within the Company’s normal
product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under the supply agreements could
differ materially from those presented in the table due to fluctuations in demand
requirements related to varying sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions.

(8) The Company is a party to long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of
liquid carbon dioxide with approximately 15 suppliers that expire at various dates through
2044. The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the table above reflect
estimates based on fiscal 2010 purchases. The Company believes the minimum product
purchases under the agreements are within the Company’s normal product purchases.
Actual purchases in future periods under the carbon dioxide supply agreements could differ
materially from those presented in the table due to fluctuations in demand requirements
related to varying sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions. Certain of the
liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements contain market pricing subject to certain economic
indices.

The Company signed a 15-year take-or-pay supply agreement with First United Ethanol LLC,
(“FUEL”) to supply the Company with feed stock of raw carbon dioxide. The agreement is
expected to commence in mid-calendar year 2010 after the Company completes its 450 tons
per day liquification plant at FUEL’s new complex in Camilla, Georgia. Annual purchases
under this contract will be approximately $1.3 million.

(9) The Company purchases ammonia from a variety of sources and is obligated to purchase
approximately $1.2 million annually under these contracts.

(10) Other purchase commitments primarily include property, plant and equipment expenditures.

(11) Construction commitments represent an outstanding commitment to a customer to construct
a raw liquid carbon dioxide plant in Camilla, Georgia.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As disclosed in Note 4 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company participates in the Securitization
Agreement with three commercial banks to sell, on a revolving
basis, up to $295 million of qualifying trade receivables. The
Securitization Agreement was renewed in March 2010 for two
years. Under the Securitization Agreement, trade receivables are
sold on a monthly basis to three commercial banks through a
bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity. The Company retains a
subordinated interest in the receivables sold, which is included in
“Trade receivables” on the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheet. At March 31, 2010, the amount of retained interest in the
receivables sold was approximately $142 million.

The Securitization Agreement is a form of off-balance sheet
financing. The discount taken by the commercial banks reduces
the proceeds from the sale of trade receivables. The table below
reflects the amount of trade receivables sold at March 31, 2010
and the amount of the anticipated discount to be taken, based on
market rates at March 31, 2010, on the sale of that quantity of
receivables each month through the expiration date of the
Securitization Agreement. The Securitization Agreement expires in
March 2012.

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period

Off-balance sheet
obligations as of
March 31, 2010: Total

Less than
1 Year

1 to 3
Years

3 to 5
Years

More than
5 Years

Trade receivables
securitization $ 295,000 $ — $ 295,000 $ — $ —

Estimated discount
on securitization 7,074 3,606 3,468 — —

Total off-balance
sheet obligations $ 302,074 $ 3,606 $ 298,468 $ — $ —

Accounting Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Adopted
In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements – a consensus of the FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force (“ASU 2009-13”), regarding the
allocation of revenue in arrangements containing multiple
deliverables. Specifically, ASU 2009-13 modifies existing U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) by providing
new guidance concerning (1) the determination of whether an
arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than
one unit of accounting, and (2) the manner in which arrangement
consideration should be allocated to such deliverables. The
guidance requires the use of an entity’s best estimate of the
selling price of a deliverable if vendor specific objective evidence
or third-party evidence of the selling price cannot be determined.
Additionally, ASU 2009-13 eliminates the use of the residual
method of allocating consideration when vendor specific objective
evidence or third-party evidence of the selling price is known for
some, but not all, of the delivered items in a multiple element
arrangement. Finally, ASU 2009-13 requires expanded qualitative
and quantitative disclosures in the financial statements. ASU

2009-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after June 15,
2010, with early adoption permitted. Upon adoption, the
guidance may be applied either prospectively from the beginning
of the fiscal year for new or materially modified arrangements, or
it may be applied retrospectively. The Company currently has
contracts in place that contain multiple deliverables, principally
product supply agreements for gases and container rental. The
Company treats the deliverables in these arrangements under
current GAAP as separate units of accounting with selling prices
derived from Company specific or third-party evidence, and the
new guidance is not expected to significantly modify the
accounting for these types of arrangements. The Company is
continuing to evaluate the effects that ASU 2009-13 and its
method of adoption may have on its consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-16, Transfers
and Servicing (Topic 860): Accounting for Transfers of Financial
Assets (“ASU 2009-16”), which codifies a previous accounting
standard and amends existing GAAP to establish new standards
that will change how companies account for transfers of financial
assets. Significant changes include (1) elimination of the qualifying
special purpose entity (“QSPE”) concept, (2) new requirements for
determining whether transfers of portions of financial assets are
eligible for sale accounting, (3) clarification of the derecognition
criteria for a transfer to qualify as a sale, (4) changes in
recognition of gains or losses on transfers accounted for as sales,
and (5) extensive new disclosures. ASU 2009-16 is effective for
transfers of financial assets occurring in fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2009, and in interim periods within those
fiscal years, with early adoption prohibited. The disclosure
provisions of ASU 2009-16 shall be applied to transfers that occur
both before and after the effective date of ASU 2009-16.

On April 1, 2010, the Company adopted ASU 2009-16. The
Company currently participates in the Securitization Agreement,
which expires in March 2012, with three commercial banks to
which it sells qualifying trade receivables on a revolving basis. The
adoption of ASU 2009-16 affects the Company’s Securitization
Agreement and effectively requires the Company to recognize the
trade receivables sold under the Securitization Agreement and the
related short-term borrowings on its balance sheet as debt. The
Securitization Agreement will be reflected as such on the
Company’s balance sheet for the fiscal quarter ending on June 30,
2010. However, the Company’s debt covenants will not be
impacted by the balance sheet recognition of the short-term
borrowings, as borrowings under the Securitization Agreement
are already factored into the debt covenant calculations. Prior to
the adoption of ASU 2009-16, transfers of receivables were
reflected as operating cash flows, whereas after the adoption of
ASU 2009-16, only cash collections are classified as operating cash
flows. Subsequent to the adoption of the new guidance, cash
flows related to the transfer of receivables from the Company to
the banks will be classified as financing cash flow. For the first
quarter ending on June 30, 2010, the Company’s statement of
cash flows will be uniquely affected by the adoption of ASU
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2009-16, as the cash proceeds received under the Securitization
Agreement will no longer be treated as a source of cash from
operating activities, but will instead be recognized as a source of
cash from financing activities. Therefore, for the period ending
June 30, 2010, the Company will reflect a reduced amount of
operating cash inflows from trade receivables.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-17,
Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Financial Reporting
by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities (“ASU 2009-
17”), which codifies a previous accounting standard. ASU
2009-17 establishes new standards that will change the
consolidation model for variable interest entities (“VIEs”).
Significant changes as a result of ASU 2009-17 include
(1) changes in considerations as to whether an entity is a VIE, (2) a
qualitative rather than quantitative assessment to identify the
primary beneficiary of a VIE, (3) an ongoing rather than event-
driven assessment of the VIE’s primary beneficiary, and (4) the
elimination of the QSPE scope exception. ASU 2009-17 is effective
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after November 15, 2009 with early adoption
prohibited. Upon adoption, if a VIE is required to be consolidated,
an election must be made as to whether to retrospectively apply
the guidance of ASU 2009-17 or record a cumulative-effect
adjustment to retained earnings on the date of adoption.
Additionally, if a VIE is deconsolidated upon the adoption of ASU
2009-17, a separate cumulative-effect adjustment to retained
earnings will be recognized. The new guidance did not result in
the deconsolidation of the Company’s existing VIE.

Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains statements that are forward looking within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements
regarding: the Company’s expectations to incur additional costs in
the future in connection with Air Products’ unsolicited takeover
attempt; the Company’s beliefs as to future product purchases
under its long-term supply agreements and the ability to negotiate
alternative supply arrangements; the Company’s intentions to
negotiate its withdrawal from the multi-employer pension plans;
the Company’s plan to begin its phased, multi-year rollout of the
SAP platform during the summer of fiscal 2011; the Company’s
belief regarding the benefits of the SAP platform; the Company’s
expectations that earnings per diluted share will be $0.70 to
$0.72 for the first quarter ending June 30, 2010, including and
excluding anticipated charges; the Company’s expectations that
earnings per diluted share for the full year of fiscal 2011 will be
$2.95 to $3.05, including and excluding anticipated charges; the
Company’s expectation as to the long-term growth profiles of its
strategic products; the Company’s estimate that for every 25 basis
point increase in LIBOR, its annual interest expense would increase
approximately $2.2 million; the Company’s expectation that the
adoption of the new accounting standards for the transfer of
financial assets will not impact its debt covenants; the Company’s
future dividend declarations; the Company’s intention to refinance
its French revolving credit borrowings with its Credit Facility; the

Company’s belief that it has sufficient liquidity from cash from
operations and under its revolving credit facilities to meet its
working capital, capital expenditure and other financial
commitments; the Company’s belief that it can obtain financing
on reasonable terms; the Company’s expectations as to
non-performance by its counterparties to interest rate swap
agreements; the Company’s belief as to its realization of the tax
benefits of its deductible differences, net of the existing valuation
allowances; and the Company’s belief that it has the ability and
intention to refinance its principal payments on its term loan with
borrowings under its long-term revolving credit line.

Forward-looking statements also include any statement that is not
based on historical fact, including statements containing the
words “believes,” “may,” “plans,” “will,” “could,” “should,”
“estimates,” “continues,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “expects”
and similar expressions. The Company intends that such forward-
looking statements be subject to the safe harbors created thereby.
All forward-looking statements are based on current expectations
regarding important risk factors and should not be regarded as a
representation by the Company or any other person that the
results expressed therein will be achieved. The Company assumes
no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements
for any reason, except as required by law. Important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained
in any forward-looking statement include: adverse changes in
customer buying patterns resulting from deterioration in current
economic conditions; weakening in the operating and financial
performance of the Company’s customers, which can negatively
impact the Company’s sales and the Company’s ability to collect
accounts receivable; postponement of projects due to economic
developments; customer acceptance of price increases; the
success of implementing and continuing the Company’s cost
reduction programs; the Company’s ability to achieve anticipated
acquisition synergies; supply cost pressures; increased industry
competition; the Company’s ability to successfully identify,
consummate, and integrate acquisitions; the Company’s
continued ability to access credit markets on satisfactory terms;
significant fluctuations in interest rates; increases in energy costs
and other operating expenses eroding the planned cost savings;
higher than expected implementation costs of the SAP system;
conversion problems related to the SAP system that disrupt the
Company’s business and negatively impact customer relationships;
the impact of tightened credit markets on the Company’s
customers; the impact of changes in tax and fiscal policies and
laws; the potential for increased expenditures relating to
compliance with environmental regulatory initiatives; the impact
of new environmental, healthcare, tax, accounting, and other
regulation; continued potential liability under the Multiemployer
Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980 with respect to the
Company’s participation in or withdrawal from multi-employer
pension plans for union employees of the Company; costs
incurred associated with the Air Products’ unsolicited takeover
attempt and proxy contest; the timing of economic recovery in the
U.S. economy; and the effect of catastrophic events and political
and economic uncertainties associated with current world events.
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Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial
statements and related financial information in this Annual
Report. The consolidated statements are prepared in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The
consolidated financial statements reflect management’s informed
judgment and estimation as to the effect of events and
transactions that are accounted for or disclosed.

Management maintains a system of internal control, which
includes internal control over financial reporting, at each business
unit. The Company’s system of internal control is designed to
provide reasonable assurance that records are maintained in
reasonable detail to properly reflect transactions and permit the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, that transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s and the Board of
Directors’ authorization, and that unauthorized transactions are
prevented or detected on a timely basis such that they could not
materially affect the financial statements. The Company also
maintains a staff of internal auditors who review and evaluate the
system of internal control on a continual basis. In determining the
extent of the system of internal control, management recognizes
that the cost should not exceed the benefits derived. The
evaluation of these factors requires judgment by management.

Management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2010,
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. KPMG LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
appearing herein, issued their opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31,
2010 and an opinion on the fair presentation of the financial
position of the Company as of March 31, 2010 and 2009, and the
results of the Company’s operations and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2010.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely
of independent directors, meets regularly (jointly and separately)
with the independent registered public accounting firm, the
internal auditors and management to satisfy itself that they are
properly discharging their responsibilities. The independent
registered public accounting firm has direct access to the Audit
Committee.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Airgas, Inc.

Robert M. McLaughlin
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

May 27, 2010
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Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is
responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system
of internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision
and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an
assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework established by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on this
assessment, management concluded that, as of March 31, 2010,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective. KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report, has issued their opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31, 2010.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Airgas, Inc.

Robert M. McLaughlin
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

May 27, 2010
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2010 and 2009,
and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended March 31, 2010. We also have audited Airgas, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2010,
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Airgas, Inc.’s management
is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2010 and 2009,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2010, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also in our opinion, Airgas, Inc. maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
May 27, 2010
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Net Sales $ 3,864,005 $ 4,349,455 $ 4,017,024

Cost and Expenses
Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation expense) 1,732,424 2,045,020 1,929,263

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses 1,473,599 1,558,772 1,422,162

Costs related to unsolicited takeover attempt (Note 25) 23,435 — —

Depreciation 212,718 198,033 175,802

Amortization (Note 8) 22,231 22,762 13,973

Total costs and expenses 3,464,407 3,824,587 3,541,200

Operating Income 399,598 524,868 475,824

Interest expense, net (Note 16) (63,310) (84,395) (89,485)

Discount on securitization of trade receivables (Note 4) (5,651) (10,738) (17,031)

Losses on the extinguishment of debt (Note 10) (17,869) — —

Other income (expense), net 1,332 (382) 1,454

Earnings before income taxes and minority interest 314,100 429,353 370,762

Income taxes (Note 6) (117,800) (168,265) (144,184)

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate (Note 13) — — (3,230)

Net Earnings $ 196,300 $ 261,088 $ 223,348

Net Earnings per Common Share (Note 17)

Basic earnings per share $ 2.39 $ 3.19 $ 2.74

Diluted earnings per share $ 2.34 $ 3.12 $ 2.66

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 82,129 81,926 81,402

Diluted 83,787 83,816 84,235

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheets
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

March 31, 2010 2009

Assets
Current Assets
Cash $ 47,001 $ 47,188

Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $25,359 in

2010 and $27,572 in 2009 (Note 4) 186,804 184,739

Inventories, net (Note 5) 333,961 390,445

Deferred income tax asset, net (Note 6) 48,591 45,692

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 94,978 76,679

Total current assets 711,335 744,743

Plant and equipment at cost (Note 7) 3,774,208 3,558,730

Less accumulated depreciation (1,346,212) (1,192,204)

Plant and equipment, net 2,427,996 2,366,526

Goodwill (Note 8) 1,109,276 1,063,370

Other intangible assets, net (Note 8) 212,752 216,070

Other non-current assets 34,573 35,601

Total assets $ 4,495,932 $ 4,426,310

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable, trade $ 157,566 $ 156,838

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Note 9) 307,822 280,405

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) 10,255 11,058

Total current liabilities 475,643 448,301

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,499,384 1,750,308

Deferred income tax liability, net (Note 6) 652,389 576,715

Other non-current liabilities 72,972 79,231

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 18 and 19)

Stockholders’ Equity (Note 14)
Preferred stock, 20,030 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding in 2010 and 2009 — —

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000 shares

authorized, 86,253 and 85,542 shares issued in 2010 and 2009,

respectively 863 856

Capital in excess of par value 568,421 533,030

Retained earnings 1,332,759 1,198,985

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 3,442 (10,753)

Treasury stock, 3,027 and 4,139 shares at cost in 2010 and

2009, respectively (109,941) (150,363)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,795,544 1,571,755

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 4,495,932 $ 4,426,310

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

Years Ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(In thousands)

Shares of
Common

Stock
Common

Stock

Capital in
Excess of
Par Value

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Shares of
Treasury

Stock
Treasury

Stock

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

Balance—April 1, 2007 79,960 $ 799 $ 341,101 $ 792,433 $ 4,183 (1,292) $ (13,134) $ 1,125,382

Cumulative adjustment to retained earnings for adoption
of FIN 48 (Note 6) (290) (290)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 223,348 $ 223,348
Foreign currency translation adjustment 4,738 4,738
Net change in fair value of interest rate

swap agreements (Note 11) (20,956) (20,956)
Net tax benefit of other comprehensive income items 7,322 7,322

Total comprehensive income $ 214,452

Shares issued in connection with stock options exercised (Note 15) 1,238 13 20,368 20,381
Dividends paid on common stock ($0.39) (Note 14) (31,828) (31,828)
Tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options 13,327 13,327
Shares issued in connection with the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (Note 15) 407 4 14,087 14,091
Expense related to stock-based compensation (Note 15) 15,587 15,587
National Welders exchange transaction (Note 13) 2,471 25 63,832 63,857
Purchase of treasury stock (Note 14) (496) (21,623) (21,623)

Balance—March 31, 2008 84,076 $ 841 $ 468,302 $ 983,663 $ (4,713) (1,788) $ (34,757) $ 1,413,336

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 261,088 $ 261,088
Foreign currency translation adjustment (11,451) (11,451)
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 11) 8,325 8,325
Net tax expense of other comprehensive income items (2,914) (2,914)

Total comprehensive income $ 255,048

Shares issued in connection with stock options
exercised (Note 15) 1,027 10 16,178 16,188

Dividends paid on common stock ($0.56) (Note 14) (45,766) (45,766)
Tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options 11,846 11,846
Shares issued in connection with the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (Note 15) 439 5 16,502 16,507
Expense related to stock-based compensation (Note 15) 20,202 20,202
Purchase of treasury stock (Note 14) (2,351) (115,606) (115,606)

Balance—March 31, 2009 85,542 $ 856 $ 533,030 $ 1,198,985 $ (10,753) (4,139) $ (150,363) $ 1,571,755

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 196,300 $ 196,300
Foreign currency translation adjustment 8,629 8,629
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 11) 8,563 8,563
Net tax expense of other comprehensive income items (2,997) (2,997)
Total comprehensive income $ 210,495

Shares issued in connection with stock options exercised (Note 15) 187 2 (18,561) 1,112 40,422 21,863
Dividends paid on common stock ($0.76) (Note 14) (62,526) (62,526)
Tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options 15,444 15,444
Shares issued in connection with the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (Note 15) 524 5 15,423 15,428
Expense related to stock-based compensation (Note 15) 23,085 23,085

Balance—March 31, 2010 86,253 $ 863 $ 568,421 $ 1,332,759 $ 3,442 (3,027) $ (109,941) $ 1,795,544
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net earnings $ 196,300 $ 261,088 $ 223,348

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Depreciation 212,718 198,033 175,802

Amortization 22,231 22,762 13,973

Deferred income taxes 66,166 103,280 74,725

Loss (gain) on sales of plant and equipment 3,014 (964) 714

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate — — 3,230

Stock-based compensation expense 22,868 20,635 16,629

Losses on debt extinguishment 17,869 — —

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of business

acquisitions and divestitures:

Securitization of trade receivables (16,400) (48,600) 95,600

Trade receivables, net 18,287 77,209 (23,308)

Inventories, net 58,785 441 (37,079)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (18,028) (11,479) 1,693

Accounts payable, trade (3,863) (40,239) 8,053

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 24,085 744 (749)

Other non-current assets 4,012 (673) (81)

Other non-current liabilities (7,997) 530 (2,624)

Net cash provided by operating activities 600,047 582,767 549,926

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (252,828) (351,912) (267,378)

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 14,466 14,360 9,345

Business acquisitions and holdback settlements (80,777) (273,750) (480,096)

Other, net (3,142) 1,378 (1,316)

Net cash used in investing activities (322,281) (609,924) (739,445)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowings 1,446,500 1,364,423 1,162,452

Repayment of debt (1,700,368) (1,188,675) (953,749)

Financing costs (5,161) (9,201) —

Premium paid on call of senior subordinated notes (14,624) — —

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate — — (711)

Purchase of treasury stock — (120,219) (17,010)

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 21,863 16,188 20,381

Stock issued for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 15,428 16,507 14,091

Tax benefit realized from the exercise of stock options 15,444 11,846 13,327

Dividends paid to stockholders (62,526) (45,766) (31,828)

Change in cash overdraft 5,491 (13,806) (317)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (277,953) 31,297 206,636

Change in Cash $ (187) $ 4,140 $ 17,117

Cash—Beginning of year 47,188 43,048 25,931

Cash—End of year $ 47,001 $ 47,188 $ 43,048

For supplemental cash flow disclosures, see Note 22.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Description of the Business
Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Airgas” or the “Company”) became
a publicly traded company on the New York Stock Exchange in
1986. Since its inception, the Company has made nearly 400
acquisitions to become the largest U.S. distributor of industrial,
medical, and specialty gases (delivered in “packaged” or cylinder
form), and hardgoods, such as welding equipment and supplies.
Airgas is also one of the largest U.S. distributors of safety
products, the largest U.S. producer of nitrous oxide and dry ice,
the largest liquid carbon dioxide producer in the Southeast, the
fifth largest producer of atmospheric merchant gases in North
America, and a leading distributor of process chemicals,
refrigerants, and ammonia products. The Company markets its
products to its diversified customer base through multiple sales
channels including branch-based sales representatives, retail
stores, strategic customer account programs, telesales, catalogs,
eBusiness and independent distributors. More than 14,000
employees work in approximately 1,100 locations including
branches, retail stores, packaged gas fill plants, cylinder testing
facilities, specialty gas labs, production facilities, and distribution
centers.

(b) Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and
transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has made estimates and assumptions relating to the
reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities to prepare these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). Estimates are used for, but not limited to,
determining the net carrying value of trade receivables,
inventories, plant and equipment, goodwill, other intangible
assets, asset retirement obligations, business and health insurance
reserves, loss contingencies and deferred tax assets. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

(c) Reclassifications and Prior Period Adjustments
The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2009 reflects an
adjustment that reclassified refundable income taxes of $15.8
million from “Accrued expenses and other current liabilities” to
“Prepaid expenses and other current assets.” The March 31, 2009
Consolidated Balance Sheet also reflects an adjustment made to
reclassify $10.9 million of deferred tax assets from long-term to
current. The reclassification was made from “Deferred income tax
liability, net” to “Deferred income tax asset, net.” The
adjustments to the March 31, 2009 balances were also reflected
in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
March 31, 2009 as reclassifications within operating activities, but
with no change in net cash provided by operating activities.
Additionally, the March 31, 2009 balances included within
Note 6—Income Taxes and Note 9—Accrued Expenses and Other
Current Liabilities reflect the effect of the above adjustments. The

Company does not consider these adjustments to be material to
its financial position or liquidity, and the adjustments did not
affect its results of operations.

(d) Cash and Cash Overdraft
On a daily basis, all available funds are swept from depository
accounts into a concentration account and used to repay debt
under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. Cash principally
represents the balance of customer checks that have not yet
cleared through the banking system and become available to be
swept into the concentration account, and deposits made
subsequent to the daily cash sweep. The Company does not fund
its disbursement accounts for checks it has written until the
checks are presented to the bank for payment. Cash overdrafts
represent the balance of outstanding checks and are classified
with other current liabilities. There are no compensating balance
requirements or other restrictions on the transfer of cash
associated with the Company’s depository accounts.

(e) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables and the
subordinated retained interest in trade receivables sold under the
trade receivable securitization agreement for the estimate of
accounts that will ultimately not be collected. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is generally established as trade receivables age
beyond their due date. As past due balances age, higher valuation
allowances are established lowering the net carrying value of
receivables. The amount of valuation allowance established for
each past due period reflects the Company’s historical collections
experience and current economic conditions and trends. The
Company also establishes valuation allowances for specific
problem accounts and bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately
collected on past due trade receivables are subject to numerous
factors including general economic conditions, the condition of
the receivable portfolio assumed in acquisitions, the financial
condition of individual customers, and the terms of reorganization
for accounts exiting bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions
impact the Company’s collection experience and may result in the
recognition of higher or lower valuation allowances.

(f) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, average-cost
method and last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. At March 31, 2010,
approximately 73%, 17% and 10% of inventory was valued using
the FIFO, average-cost and LIFO methods, respectively. At
March 31, 2009, approximately 74%, 17% and 9% of inventory
was valued using the FIFO, average-cost and LIFO methods,
respectively.

(g) Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated
useful lives of the related assets. The carrying values of long-lived
assets, including plant and equipment, are reviewed for
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Airgas, Inc. 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the recorded value cannot be recovered from the
undiscounted future cash flows. When the book value of an asset
exceeds the associated undiscounted expected future cash flows, it
is considered to be potentially impaired and is written down to fair
value, which is determined based on either discounted future cash
flows or appraised values. The Company also leases property, plant
and equipment, principally under operating leases. Rent expense
for operating leases, which may have escalating rentals or rent
holidays, is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h) Computer Software
The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred to purchase or
develop computer software for internal use. These costs include
purchased software packages, payments to vendors and
consultants for the development, implementation or modification
of purchased software packages for Company use, payroll and
related costs for employees associated with internal-use software
projects, interest costs incurred in developing software for internal
use, and software costs that allow for access or conversion of old
data by new internal-use software. Capitalized computer software
costs are included within plant and equipment on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets and depreciated over the estimated
useful life of the computer software, which is generally from three
to ten years.

(i) Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Deferred
Financing Costs
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an
acquired entity over the amounts assigned to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. Goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually
and whenever events or circumstances indicate that it is more
likely than not that they may be impaired. The Company has
elected to perform its annual tests for indications of goodwill and
other indefinite lived intangibles impairment as of October 31 of
each year.

Other intangible assets primarily include non-competition
agreements and customer relationships resulting from business
acquisitions. Both non-competition agreements and customer
relationships are recorded based on their acquisition date fair
value. Non-competition agreements are amortized using the
straight-line method over the term of the agreement. Customer
relationships are amortized using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives, which range from seven to 17 years.
The Company assesses the recoverability of other intangible assets
by determining whether the carrying value of the intangible asset
can be recovered through projected undiscounted future cash
flows of the related business unit.

Financing costs related to the issuance of long-term debt and for
the trade receivables securitization agreement (see Note 4) are
deferred and included in other non-current assets. Deferred
financing costs are amortized as interest expense over the term of
the related debt instrument for long-term debt, and are amortized

as interest expense over the term of the agreement for the trade
receivables securitization.

(j) Asset Retirement Obligations
The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is
recognized in the period when the asset is placed in service. The
fair value of the liability is estimated using projected discounted
cash flows. In subsequent periods, the retirement obligation is
accreted to its future value, which is the estimate of the obligation
at the asset retirement date. When the asset is placed in service, a
corresponding retirement asset equal to the fair value of the
retirement obligation is also recorded as part of the carrying
amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the
asset’s useful life. The majority of the Company’s asset retirement
obligations are related to the restoration costs associated with
returning bulk tanks sites to their original condition upon
termination of long-term leases or supply agreements. The
Company’s asset retirement obligations totaled $11.1 million and
$10.2 million at March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

(k) Commitments and Contingencies
Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments,
litigation and other sources are recorded when it is probable that
a liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim,
assessment or damages can be reasonably estimated.

The Company maintains business insurance programs with self-
insured retention, which covers workers’ compensation, business
automobile and general liability claims. The Company accrues
estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on
historical loss experience. The actuarial calculations used to
estimate business insurance reserves are based on numerous
assumptions, some of which are subjective. The Company will
adjust its business insurance reserves, if necessary, in the event
future loss experience differs from historical loss patterns.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under
the plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not
reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,
some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan
participants and an aging employee base.

(l) Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability
method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards are
expected to be recovered, settled or utilized. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax
assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be
realized.

The Company recognizes the benefit of an income tax position
only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax
position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on
the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit is
recognized. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on
the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. Additionally, the
Company accrues interest and related penalties, if applicable, on
all tax exposures for which reserves have been established
consistent with jurisdictional tax laws. Interest and penalties are
classified as income tax expense in the Consolidated Statements
of Earnings.

(m) Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is
the applicable local currency. The translation of foreign currencies
into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using
current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for
revenue and expense accounts using average exchange rates
during each reporting period. The gains or losses resulting from
such translations are included in stockholders’ equity as a
component of “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).”
Gains and losses arising from foreign currency transactions are
reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as incurred.

(n) Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receivables.
Concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the Company’s
large number of customers and their dispersion across many
industries primarily throughout North America. Credit terms
granted to customers are generally net 30 days.

(o) Financial Instruments
In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company enters into
interest rate swap agreements. An interest rate swap is a
contractual exchange of interest payments between two parties. A
standard interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate
times a notional amount by one party in exchange for a floating
rate times the same notional amount from the other party. As
interest rates change, the difference to be paid or received is
accrued and recognized as interest expense or income over the life
of the agreement. These instruments are not entered into for
trading purposes. Counterparties to the Company’s interest rate
swap agreements are major financial institutions. The Company
recognizes interest rate swap agreements on the balance sheet at
fair value. The interest rate swap agreements are marked to
market with changes in fair value recognized in either
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) or in the carrying
value of the hedged portions of fixed rate debt, as applicable.

The carrying value of cash, trade receivables exclusive of the
subordinated retained interest, other current receivables, trade
payables and other current liabilities (e.g., deposit liabilities, cash
overdrafts, etc.) approximate fair value based on the short-term
maturity of these financial instruments.

(p) Revenue Recognition
Revenue from sales of gases and hardgoods products is
recognized when the product is shipped, a sales price is fixed or
determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Rental fees
on cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers, bulk gas storage tanks
and other equipment are recognized when earned. For contracts
that contain multiple deliverables, principally product supply
agreements for gases and container rental, revenue is recognized
for each deliverable based on its objectively determinable fair
value. For cylinder lease agreements in which rental fees are
collected in advance, revenues are deferred and recognized over
the term of the lease agreement. Amounts billed for sales tax,
value added tax or other transactional taxes imposed on revenue
producing transactions are presented on a net basis and are not
recognized as revenue.

(q) Cost of Products Sold (Excluding Depreciation)
Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation) for the Distribution
business segment principally consists of direct material costs,
direct labor, manufacturing overhead and freight-in for bulk gas
purchases and hardgoods (welding supplies and equipment, safety
products and supplies). Maintenance costs associated with
cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers and bulk tanks are also
reflected in cost of products sold (excluding depreciation).

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation) for the All Other
Operations business segment principally consists of direct material
costs, direct labor and freight-in for bulk gas purchases.

(r) Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses
Selling, distribution and administrative expenses consist of labor
and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing and
distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs associated
with a variety of administrative functions such as legal, treasury,
accounting and tax, and facility-related expenses.

(s) Depreciation
The Company determines depreciation expense using the straight-
line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
Company uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes
where appropriate. Depreciation expense is recognized on the
Company’s property, plant and equipment in the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings line item “Depreciation.”

(t) Shipping and Handling Fees and Distribution Costs
The Company recognizes delivery and freight charges to
customers as elements of net sales. Costs of third-party freight are
recognized as cost of products sold (excluding depreciation). The
majority of the costs associated with the distribution of the
Company’s products, which include labor and overhead
associated with filling, warehousing and delivery by Company

47

15565ACL.PDF   31 6/29/10   7:57:54 PM



Airgas, Inc. 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

vehicles, are reflected in selling, distribution and administrative
expenses and were $677 million, $712 million and $643 million
for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. The Company conducts multiple operations out of
the same facilities and does not allocate facility-related expenses
to each operational function. Accordingly, there is no facility-
related expense in the distribution costs disclosed above.
Depreciation expense associated with the Company’s delivery fleet
of $23 million, $18 million and $15 million was recognized in
depreciation for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively.

Note 2
Accounting and Disclosure Changes

(a) Recently adopted accounting pronouncements
In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
designated the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (the
“Codification”) as the source of authoritative accounting
principles to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP.
Concurrent with this designation, the FASB also issued guidance
on the framework for selecting the accounting principles used in
the preparation of financial statements. The Codification is a
structure which takes accounting pronouncements and organizes
them into approximately 90 accounting topics. In addition to the
Codification, the rules and interpretive releases of the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under federal securities laws
are considered sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants,
as the Codification does not replace or affect guidance issued by
the SEC or its staff for public entities in their filings with the SEC.
Upon the adoption of the Codification, all previously existing
non-SEC accounting and reporting standards are superseded, with
the exception of certain pronouncements grandfathered by the
FASB. Going forward, the FASB will issue Accounting Standards
Updates (“ASUs”) in order to update the Codification, provide
background information about new guidance and describe the
bases for conclusions on changes to the Codification. The
Codification and the guidance surrounding the framework for
selecting accounting principles is effective for financial statements
issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15,
2009. The Company adopted the Codification and associated
guidance for the interim period ended September 30, 2009. As a
result, previous references to former GAAP in the consolidated
financial statements have been eliminated (with the exception of
certain grandfathered pronouncements), and the financial
statement disclosures starting with the interim period ended
September 30, 2009 explain the accounting concepts utilized
rather than specific GAAP references from the Codification. The
adoption of the Codification and associated guidance did not
change the application of GAAP to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued accounting guidance on fair
value measurements and disclosures, effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15,

2007. The guidance did not require any new fair value
measurements; rather it replaced multiple existing definitions of
fair value with a single definition, established a consistent
framework for measuring fair value and expanded financial
statement disclosures regarding fair value measurements. In
February 2008, the FASB delayed the effective date of the new
fair value measurement and disclosure guidance until fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2008 for non-financial assets and
liabilities that are not recognized or disclosed at fair value in the
financial statements on a recurring basis. In April 2009, the FASB
also issued clarifying guidance on determining fair value when the
volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have
significantly decreased and on identifying transactions that are not
orderly, with the guidance effective for interim and annual
reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company
applied the fair value measurement and disclosure guidance to its
financial assets and liabilities as of April 1, 2008 and to its
non-financial assets and liabilities as of April 1, 2009, as required.
Additionally, the Company adopted the guidance regarding the
(1) determination of fair value when the level of activity and/or
volume has declined, and (2) identification of transactions that are
not orderly, for the interim reporting period ended June 30, 2009,
as required. The adoption of the new guidance over fair value
measurements and disclosures did not have a material impact on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
See Note 12 for required fair value disclosures.

In December 2007, the FASB issued revised guidance on
accounting for business combinations, which replaces Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, Business
Combinations (“SFAS 141”). The revised guidance is effective
prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, and prohibits
early adoption. The revised guidance significantly changes the way
the Company accounts for business combinations. The Company
has historically pursued new business opportunities through
acquisitions and intends to maintain this strategy for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Company expects the revised
guidance on accounting for business combinations to impact its
operating results as significant acquisitions are completed and
during the subsequent acquisition measurement periods when the
fair values of the individual assets and liabilities acquired are
determined. The principles contained in the revised guidance are,
in a number of ways, very different from those previously applied
to business combinations under SFAS 141. The impact of the
revised guidance on the consolidated financial statements may be
driven by, among other things, recognizing the direct costs of
acquisitions as period costs when incurred and recasting
previously issued consolidated financial statements as the
provisional values assigned to the assets and liabilities acquired are
trued-up to their acquisition date fair values. The Company
adopted the revised guidance on April 1, 2009 and accounted for
fiscal 2010 acquisitions based on the new guidance (see Note 3).
Transaction and other integration costs related to fiscal 2010
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acquisitions, which under the new guidance are required to be
recognized in current period income, were not material for the
year ended March 31, 2010. Additionally, no recasting of
previously issued consolidated financial statements was required.
However, should the Company enter into a material business
combination, or a series of individually immaterial business
combinations that are material collectively, the provisions of the
new guidance may have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued amended guidance on
accounting for noncontrolling interests (formerly minority
interests). The amended guidance establishes accounting and
reporting standards that require (1) noncontrolling interests held
by non-parent parties be clearly identified and presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separate from the
parent’s equity, and (2) the amount of consolidated net income
attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interests be
clearly presented on the face of the consolidated statement of
earnings. The amended guidance also requires consistent
reporting of any changes to the parent’s ownership interest while
retaining a controlling financial interest, as well as specific
guidelines over how to treat the deconsolidation of controlling
interests and any applicable gains or losses. The amended
guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and is
to be applied prospectively, except for the presentation and
disclosure requirements, which are to be applied retrospectively
for all periods presented. The Company adopted the amended
guidance for noncontrolling interests on April 1, 2009 with no
impact on the consolidated financial statements, as all of the
Company’s subsidiaries are currently 100% owned subsidiaries.
Additionally, the retrospective application of the presentation and
disclosure requirements was not material. Therefore, the
Company did not amend its fiscal 2008 presentation or disclosures
regarding the former minority interest in its National Welders joint
venture.

In April 2008, the FASB issued amended guidance on the
determination of the useful life of intangible assets, which
modifies the factors that should be considered in developing
renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful
life of a recognized intangible asset. The amended guidance is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008 with early
adoption prohibited. The amended guidance shall be applied
prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective date;
however, the disclosure requirements of the amended guidance
shall be applied prospectively to all intangible assets recognized as
of, and subsequent to, the effective date. The Company adopted
the amended guidance on April 1, 2009. The adoption of the
amended guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or liquidity, as the useful
lives of the Company’s intangible assets were not impacted by
renewal or extension provisions.

In November 2008, the FASB issued new guidance on accounting
for defensive intangible assets. The new guidance clarifies how to
account for acquired defensive intangible assets subsequent to
initial measurement in a business combination. The new guidance
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.
The Company adopted the new guidance on April 1, 2009, with
no material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or liquidity.

In April 2009, the FASB issued amended guidance regarding the
initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement
and accounting, and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from
contingencies in a business combination. The amended guidance
carries forward the general requirements of SFAS 141 for acquired
contingencies in a business combination, yet encourages greater
use of fair value when determinable. The amended guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008
with early adoption prohibited. The Company adopted the
amended guidance on April 1, 2009. The adoption of the
amended guidance did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new guidance for interim
disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments, which
requires disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments
for interim reporting periods as well as in annual financial
statements. Previously, these disclosures were only required in the
Company’s annual consolidated financial statements. The new
guidance is effective for interim reporting periods ending after
June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted under specified
circumstances. The Company adopted the new guidance
beginning with the interim reporting period ended June 30,
2009—see Note 12 for the required disclosures. The adoption of
the new guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-05, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Measuring Liabilities
at Fair Value (“ASU 2009-05”). ASU 2009-05 provides additional
guidance on how companies should measure liabilities at fair
value, including alternative valuation methods and a hierarchy for
their use. Specifically, when valuing a liability, an entity must use a
quoted price in an active market for an identical liability, if
available. Otherwise, an entity may use one or more prescribed
techniques, which in all instances should maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize unobservable inputs. Additionally,
ASU 2009-05 clarifies that an entity is not required to include a
separate adjustment relating to the existence of a restriction that
prevents the transfer of a liability when measuring a liability at fair
value. ASU 2009-05 is effective for the first reporting period
(including interim periods) beginning after issuance. The Company
adopted the additional guidance on measuring liabilities at fair
value on October 1, 2009. The adoption of the new guidance did
not affect the Company’s liabilities subject to measurement at fair
value, and did not impact the Company’s financial position, results
of operations or liquidity.
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In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures
about Fair Value Measurements (“ASU 2010-06”), which amends
the disclosure guidance with respect to fair value measurements.
Specifically, the new guidance requires disclosure of amounts
transferred in and out of Levels 1 and 2 fair value measurements,
a reconciliation presented on a gross basis rather than a net basis
of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, greater
disaggregation of the assets and liabilities for which fair value
measurements are presented and more robust disclosure of the
valuation techniques and inputs used to measure Level 2 and 3
fair value measurements. ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim and
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009,
with the exception of the new guidance around the Level 3
activity reconciliation, which is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2010. The Company adopted the new
guidance on January 1, 2010—see Note 12 for the required
disclosures. The adoption of ASU 2010-06 did not impact the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

In February 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-09, Subsequent
Events (Topic 855): Amendments to Certain Recognition and
Disclosure Requirements (“ASU 2010-09”). ASU 2010-09 provides
amendments to previously issued guidance on subsequent events
disclosure. The amendments remove the requirement for an SEC
filer to disclose the date through which a subsequent events
review is conducted, but do not remove the requirement for a
subsequent events review. The new guidance is effective upon
issuance, and the Company adopted the guidance beginning with
the period ended March 31, 2010. The adoption of the new
guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

(b) Accounting pronouncements issued but not yet adopted
In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, Revenue
Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue
Arrangements—a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task
Force (“ASU 2009-13”), regarding the allocation of revenue in
arrangements containing multiple deliverables. Specifically, ASU
2009-13 modifies existing GAAP by providing new guidance
concerning (1) the determination of whether an arrangement
involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of
accounting, and (2) the manner in which arrangement
consideration should be allocated to such deliverables. The
guidance requires the use of an entity’s best estimate of the
selling price of a deliverable if vendor specific objective evidence
or third-party evidence of the selling price cannot be determined.
Additionally, ASU 2009-13 eliminates the use of the residual
method of allocating consideration when vendor specific objective
evidence or third-party evidence of the selling price is known for
some, but not all, of the delivered items in a multiple element
arrangement. Finally, ASU 2009-13 requires expanded qualitative
and quantitative disclosures in the financial statements. ASU
2009-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after June 15,
2010, with early adoption permitted. Upon adoption, the
guidance may be applied either prospectively from the beginning

of the fiscal year for new or materially modified arrangements, or
it may be applied retrospectively. The Company currently has
contracts in place that contain multiple deliverables, principally
product supply agreements for gases and container rental. The
Company treats the deliverables in these arrangements under
current GAAP as separate units of accounting with selling prices
derived from Company specific or third-party evidence, and the
new guidance is not expected to significantly modify the
accounting for these types of arrangements. The Company is
continuing to evaluate the effects that ASU 2009-13 and its
method of adoption may have on its consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-16, Transfers
and Servicing (Topic 860): Accounting for Transfers of Financial
Assets (“ASU 2009 -16”), which codifies a previous accounting
standard and amends existing GAAP to establish new standards
that will change how companies account for transfers of financial
assets. Significant changes include (1) elimination of the qualifying
special purpose entity (“QSPE”) concept, (2) new requirements for
determining whether transfers of portions of financial assets are
eligible for sale accounting, (3) clarification of the derecognition
criteria for a transfer to qualify as a sale, (4) changes in
recognition of gains or losses on transfers accounted for as sales,
and (5) extensive new disclosures. ASU 2009-16 is effective for
transfers of financial assets occurring in fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2009, and in interim periods within those
fiscal years, with early adoption prohibited. The disclosure
provisions of ASU 2009-16 shall be applied to transfers that occur
both before and after the effective date of ASU 2009-16.

On April 1, 2010, the Company adopted ASU 2009-16. The
Company currently participates in a trade receivable securitization
agreement (the “Securitization Agreement”) with three
commercial banks to which it sells qualifying trade receivables on
a revolving basis (see Note 4). The adoption of ASU 2009-16
impacts the Company’s accounting under the Securitization
Agreement, as it effectively requires the Company to recognize
the trade receivables sold and the related short-term borrowings
on its balance sheet. The Securitization Agreement will be
reflected as such on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
beginning with the fiscal quarter ending on June 30, 2010.
However, the Company’s debt covenants will not be impacted by
the balance sheet recognition of the short-term borrowings, as
borrowings under the Securitization Agreement are already
factored into the debt covenant calculations. Additionally, the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows during the first
year under the new guidance will reflect the final remittance of
cash associated with the $295 million of receivables sold at
March 31, 2010 and subsequently collected by the Company on
behalf of the bank conduits as an operating cash outflow. Any
subsequent borrowing activity with the bank conduits will now be
treated as financing cash flows. The overall effect on the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in fiscal 2011 will be a
reduction in cash from operating activities and an increase in cash
from financing activities, whereas under the previous guidance,
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these cash flows were presented net as cash from operating
activities. With respect to the Consolidated Statement of Earnings,
the amounts recorded within the line item “Discount on
securitization of trade receivables,” which represents the
difference between the proceeds from the sale and the carrying
value of the receivables under the Securitization Agreement, will
now be reflected within “Interest expense, net” as a result of the
new accounting treatment of the facility as a secured borrowing
beginning on April 1, 2010.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-17,
Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Financial Reporting
by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities (“ASU 2009-
17”), which codifies a previous accounting standard. ASU
2009-17 establishes new standards that will change the
consolidation model for variable interest entities (“VIEs”).
Significant changes as a result of ASU 2009-17 include
(1) changes in considerations as to whether an entity is a VIE, (2) a
qualitative rather than quantitative assessment to identify the
primary beneficiary of a VIE, (3) an ongoing rather than event-
driven assessment of the VIE’s primary beneficiary, and (4) the
elimination of the QSPE scope exception. ASU 2009-17 is effective
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after November 15, 2009 with early adoption
prohibited. The Company adopted ASU 2009-17 on April 1, 2010.
The new guidance did not result in the deconsolidation of the
Company’s existing VIE.

Note 3
Acquisitions

Acquisitions occurring in fiscal 2010 were recorded using the
acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the revised
guidance on business combinations, which the Company adopted
on April 1, 2009. The results of acquired companies’ operations
have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements since the effective date of each respective acquisition.

Fiscal 2010
During fiscal year 2010, the Company purchased six businesses.
The largest of these businesses was Tri-Tech, a Florida-based
industrial gas and welding supply distributor with 16 locations
throughout Florida, Georgia, and South Carolina with historical
annual sales of approximately $31 million. A total of $80.8 million
in cash was paid for these businesses and for the settlement of
holdback liabilities and contingent consideration arrangements
associated with certain prior year acquisitions. Transaction and
other integration costs incurred in fiscal 2010 and included in the
Company’s fiscal 2010 results were insignificant. These businesses
had aggregate historical annual sales of approximately $47
million. Net sales from current year acquisitions that are included
in the Company’s fiscal 2010 results are $13.9 million. The
Company acquired these businesses in order to expand its
geographic coverage and strengthen its national network of
branch-store locations.

Purchase Price Allocation
The Company negotiated the respective purchase prices of the
businesses based on the expected cash flows to be derived from
their operations after integration into the Company’s existing
distribution network. The following table summarizes the fair
values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed related to
fiscal 2010 acquisitions, as well as adjustments related to certain
prior year acquisitions. Purchase price allocations are based on
third-party valuations and management’s estimates. The purchase
price allocations related to fiscal 2010 acquisitions are
substantially complete with the exception of property and
equipment and intangible assets for Tri-Tech and one other
acquisition, which continue to be based on provisional fair values
and are subject to revision as the Company finalizes appraisals and
other analyses. Adjustments to provisional amounts were not
significant. Final determination of the fair values may result in
further adjustments to the values presented below.

(In thousands)

Distribution
Business
Segment

All Other
Operations

Business
Segment Total

Current assets, net $ 5,750 $ 533 $ 6,283
Property and equipment 22,477 83 22,560
Goodwill 40,821 1,056 41,877
Other intangible assets 17,029 1,035 18,064
Current liabilities (3,060) (1,097) (4,157)
Long-term liabilities (3,694) (156) (3,850)

Total cash consideration $ 79,323 $ 1,454 $ 80,777

The fair value of trade receivables acquired, net of an allowance
for doubtful accounts was $4.2 million, with gross contractual
amounts receivable of $4.5 million. Of the total goodwill in the
table above, $33.7 million is deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill largely consists of expected synergies resulting from the
acquisitions, including the expansion of geographical coverage
that will facilitate the sale of industrial, medical, and specialty
gases and related supplies. Intangible assets related to fiscal 2010
acquisitions represent customer relationships and non-competition
agreements and amounted to $21.6 million and $2.3 million,
respectively. The remaining adjustments to intangible assets in
fiscal 2010 are related to changes in the useful lives of intangible
assets acquired in fiscal 2009. See Note 8 for further information
on goodwill and intangible assets, including the allocation by
segment.

In connection with acquisitions prior to fiscal 2010, the Company
is required to make future payments to sellers based on future
earnings of the acquired business in excess of predetermined
amounts. Amounts payable under contingent payment
agreements continue through 2019 and are limited to $8.7
million, the majority of which, if required, will be capitalized as
additional costs of the acquisitions.
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Pro Forma Operating Results
The following table provides unaudited pro forma results of
operations as if fiscal 2010 and 2009 acquisitions had occurred on
April 1, 2008. The pro forma results were prepared from financial
information obtained from the sellers of the businesses, as well as
information obtained during the due diligence process associated
with the acquisitions. The unaudited pro forma results reflect
certain adjustments related to the acquisitions, such as increased
depreciation and amortization expense resulting from the
Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets and adjustments
to reflect the Company’s borrowing and tax rates. The pro forma
operating results do not include any anticipated synergies related
to combining the businesses. Accordingly, such pro forma
operating results were prepared for comparative purposes only
and do not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred
had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 2008 or of results
that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2010 2009

Net sales $ 3,894,650 $ 4,485,016
Net earnings 197,807 263,586

Diluted earnings per share $ 2.36 $ 3.14

Fiscal 2009
During fiscal 2009, the Company purchased 14 businesses. The
largest of these businesses, acquired on July 31, 2008, was
Refron, Inc., a New York-based distributor of refrigerant gases
with historical annual sales of $93 million. With the acquisition of
Refron, Inc., the Company formed Airgas Refrigerants, Inc. and
merged the newly acquired operations with its existing refrigerant
gas business. Airgas Refrigerants, Inc. is reflected in the All Other
Operations business segment.

Other significant acquisitions included Oilind Safety, an Arizona-
based provider of industrial safety services offering a full array of
rental equipment, safety supplies and technical support and
training with historical annual sales of $23 million; A&N Plant, a
European-based supplier of positioning and welding equipment
for sale and rent with historical annual sales of $20 million; and
Gordon Woods Industrial Welding Supply, an industrial gas and
welding supply distributor with ten locations in the northern Los
Angeles area with historical annual sales of $25 million. These
acquisitions were merged into the operations of the Distribution
business segment.

The 14 businesses acquired in fiscal 2009 had aggregate historical
annual sales of approximately $205 million. A total of $274 million
in cash was paid for these businesses, including the settlement of
acquisition-related holdbacks. The Company acquired the
businesses to expand its geographic coverage and strengthen its
national network of branch-store locations, as well as strengthen
its refrigerant gas, safety product offerings, and international
presence.

Purchase Price Allocation
The table below summarizes the allocation of the purchase price
of all fiscal 2009 acquisitions by business segment, as well as
adjustments related to fiscal 2008 acquisitions. The credit of $46
thousand in the All Other Operations business segment is
attributable to a reduction of $1.43 million related to plant and
equipment adjustments to fiscal 2008 acquisitions, net of $1.39
million of plant and equipment acquired in acquisitions. Of the
total goodwill in the table below, $84 million is deductible for
income tax purposes. Additionally, $85 million of the $91 million
allocated to other intangible assets represents value assigned to
customer relationships, with the remaining $6 million representing
non-competition agreements.

(In thousands)

Distribution
Business
Segment

All Other
Operations

Business
Segment Total

Current assets, net $ 22,611 $ 72,460 $ 95,071
Property and equipment 32,380 (46) 32,334
Goodwill 34,138 65,228 99,366
Other intangible assets 65,344 25,662 91,006
Current liabilities (15,984) (7,660) (23,644)
Long-term liabilities (17,159) (3,224) (20,383)

Total cash consideration $ 121,330 $ 152,420 $ 273,750

Pro Forma Operating Results
The following represents unaudited pro forma operating results as
if the fiscal 2009 and 2008 acquisitions had occurred on April 1,
2007. The pro forma operating results were prepared for
comparative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of
what would have occurred had the acquisitions been made as of
April 1, 2007 or of results that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2009 2008

Net sales $ 4,433,158 $ 4,406,837
Net earnings 261,725 222,442

Diluted earnings per share $ 3.12 $ 2.65

Fiscal 2008
During fiscal 2008, the Company purchased 18 businesses,
including 15 associated with the distribution of packaged gases
and related hardgoods products. The largest of these acquisitions
was the June 30, 2007 acquisition of most of the U.S. packaged
gas operations (“Linde Packaged Gas”) of The Linde Group, AG
(“Linde AG”) for $310 million in cash. The operations acquired
included 130 locations in 18 states, with more than 1,400
employees, and generated approximately $346 million in revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2006. The Linde Packaged Gas
business was merged into the operations of the Distribution
business segment. A total of $162 million in cash was paid for the
14 other acquired packaged gas distributors and the settlement of
holdback liabilities related to prior year acquisitions. These
packaged gas distributors had aggregate historical annual sales of
approximately $150 million. The remaining three acquisitions were
purchased for $8 million in cash and had combined historical
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annual sales of approximately $13 million. These acquisitions are
included in the All Other Operations business segment. The
Company acquired the 18 businesses to expand its geographic
coverage and strengthen its national network of branch-store
locations.

Purchase Price Allocation
The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2008 acquisitions and the
settlement of holdback liabilities associated with certain prior year
acquisitions was $480 million. The Company negotiated the
respective purchase prices of the businesses based on the
expected cash flows to be derived from their operations after
integration into the Company’s existing distribution network. The
purchase price of each acquired business was allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated
fair values as of the date of each respective acquisition.

The table below summarizes the allocation of the purchase price
of all fiscal 2008 acquisitions by business segment as well as
adjustments related to prior year acquisitions. Of the total
goodwill in the table below, $93 million is deductible for income
tax purposes.

Linde
Acquisition Remaining Acquisitions

(In thousands)

Distribution
Business
Segment

Distribution
Business
Segment

All Other
Operations

Business
Segment Total

Current assets, net $ 85,227 $ 31,171 $ 1,341 $ 117,739
Property and equipment 153,756 68,272 4,583 226,611
Goodwill 54,714 77,909 1,584 134,207
Other intangible assets 73,609 23,426 3,465 100,500
Current liabilities (47,313) (15,490) (2,306) (65,109)
Long-term liabilities (10,003) (22,903) (946) (33,852)

Total cash consideration $ 309,990 $ 162,385 $ 7,721 $ 480,096

Pursuant to the Company’s plan to integrate the Linde Packaged
Gas business into its regional company structure, the Company
recorded accruals primarily associated with severance benefits to
acquired employees who were involuntarily terminated, facility
exit related costs associated with exiting certain acquired facilities
that overlap with the Company’s existing operations and a multi-
employer pension plan withdrawal liability associated with exiting
certain union contracts. Payments related to these severance
accruals were completed during fiscal 2010. Of the $3.3 million
remaining facility exit accrual, approximately $3.0 million relates
to a non-cancellable lease obligation through 2017 for the former
Linde corporate headquarters. Other integration accruals of $4.1
million consist primarily of the multi-employer pension accrual,
which is expected to be paid during fiscal 2011 and 2012.

The table below summarizes the liabilities established through
acquisition accounting, adjustments to these liabilities based on
revisions to the Company’s integration plan and the related
payments made during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008.

(In thousands)
Severance

Accruals

Facility
Exit

Accruals

Other
Integration

Accruals

Total
Integration

Accruals

Amounts originally included
in acquisition accounting $ 5,265 $ 5,700 $ — $ 10,965

Payments (2,781) (873) (962) (4,616)
Adjustments 892 369 6,213 7,474

Balance at March 31, 2008 3,376 5,196 5,251 13,823
Payments (2,577) (1,637) (839) (5053)
Adjustments (640) 19 221 (400)

Balance at March 31, 2009 159 3,578 4,633 8,370
Payments (159) (340) (487) (986)
Adjustments — 21 — 21

Balance at March 31, 2010 $ — $ 3,259 $ 4,146 $ 7,405

Note 4
Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in the Securitization Agreement with
three commercial banks to which it sells qualifying trade
receivables on a revolving basis. Upon its renewal in March 2010,
the maximum amount of the facility was established at $295
million, down from $345 million at March 31, 2009. The
Securitization Agreement expires in March 2012 and contains
customary events of termination, including standard cross default
provisions with respect to outstanding debt. During the year
ended March 31, 2010, the Company sold approximately $3.5
billion of trade receivables and remitted to bank conduits,
pursuant to a servicing agreement, approximately $3.5 billion in
collections on those receivables. The amount of receivables sold
under the securitization agreements was $295 million at
March 31, 2010 and $311 million at March 31, 2009.

The transaction has been accounted for as a sale, as control of the
receivables has been surrendered. Under the Securitization
Agreement, trade receivables are sold to bank conduits through a
bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity, which is consolidated
for financial reporting purposes. The difference between the
proceeds from the sale and the carrying value of the receivables is
recognized as “Discount on securitization of trade receivables” in
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings and varies
on a monthly basis depending on the amount of trade receivables
sold and market rates. The Company retains a subordinated
interest in the trade receivables sold, which is recorded at the
trade receivables’ previous carrying value. Accordingly, the
Company is exposed to credit risk associated with its retained
interest in the trade receivables. The Company is not exposed to
interest rate risk due to the short-term nature of the trade
receivables and their general collectability.

Subordinated retained interests of approximately $142 million, net
of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $23 million, and $148
million, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $26 million,
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are included in trade receivables in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. At March 31, 2010 and 2009, approximately 2.8%
and 6.4%, respectively, of the accounts included in the retained
interest were delinquent, as defined under the Securitization
Agreement. Credit losses for the years ended March 31, 2010 and
2009 were $13 million and $22 million, respectively. On a monthly
basis, management calculates the fair value of the retained
interest based on management’s best estimate of the
undiscounted expected future cash collections on the trade
receivables. Changes in the fair value are recognized as bad debt
expense. Actual cash collections may differ from these estimates
and would directly affect the fair value of the retained interest. In
accordance with the servicing agreement, the Company continues
to service, administer and collect the trade receivables on behalf
of the bank conduits. The servicing fees charged to the bank
conduits approximate the costs of collections. Accordingly, the net
servicing asset is immaterial. The Company does not provide any
financial guarantees of the bank conduits’ obligations.

On April 1, 2010, the Company adopted new guidance
establishing revised standards on accounting for the transfers of
financial assets. These standards apply to the Company’s
Securitization Agreement and effectively require the Company to
recognize the trade receivables sold under the Securitization
Agreement and the related proceeds as debt on its Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The Securitization Agreement will be reflected as
such on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet for the fiscal
quarter ending on June 30, 2010.

Note 5
Inventories, Net

Inventories, net, consist of:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2010 2009

Hardgoods $ 225,832 $ 252,293
Gases 108,129 138,152

$ 333,961 $ 390,445

Hardgoods inventories determined using the LIFO inventory
method totaled $32 million at March 31, 2010 and $34 million at
March 31, 2009. The balance of the hardgoods inventories is
valued using the FIFO and average-cost inventory methods. If the
hardgoods inventories valued under the LIFO method had been
valued using the FIFO method, the carrying value of hardgoods
inventories would have been $10.3 million higher at March 31,
2010 and $10.4 million higher at March 31, 2009. Substantially all
of the inventories are finished goods.

Note 6
Income Taxes

Earnings before income taxes and minority interest were derived
from the following sources:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

United States $ 307,381 $ 419,377 $ 358,381
Foreign 6,719 9,976 12,381

$ 314,100 $ 429,353 $ 370,762

Income tax expense consists of:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Current:
Federal $ 43,492 $ 52,562 $ 60,221
Foreign 2,457 2,658 3,718
State 5,685 9,765 5,520

51,634 64,985 69,459

Deferred:
Federal 62,386 87,751 62,351
Foreign 187 562 484
State 3,593 14,967 11,890

66,166 103,280 74,725

$ 117,800 $ 168,265 $ 144,184

Significant differences between taxes computed at the federal
statutory rate and the provision for income taxes were:

Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Taxes at U.S. federal
statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase (decrease) in
income taxes resulting
from:
State income taxes, net of

federal benefit 1.8% 3.6% 3.3%
Stock-based

compensation expense 0.6% 0.3% 0.3%
Change in state tax law — 0.1% (0.3%)
Other, net 0.1% 0.2% 0.6%

37.5% 39.2% 38.9%
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The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences and
carryforwards that gave rise to the significant portions of the
deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2010 2009

Deferred Tax Assets:
Inventories $ 15,788 $ 17,190
Accounts receivable 884 368
Deferred rental income 15,344 17,198
Insurance reserves 13,524 14,087
Litigation settlement and other reserves 1,512 1,721
Asset retirement obligations 4,236 3,766
Stock-based compensation 19,641 13,555
Other 19,084 15,707
Net operating loss carryforwards 22,218 20,240
Valuation allowance (8,192) (6,211)

104,039 97,621

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Plant and equipment (582,079) (517,225)
Intangible assets (111,572) (94,123)
Other (14,186) (17,296)

(707,837) (628,644)

Net deferred tax liability $ (603,798) $ (531,023)

Current deferred tax assets and current deferred tax liabilities have
been netted for presentation purposes. Non-current deferred tax
assets and non-current deferred tax liabilities have also been
netted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2010 2009

Current deferred tax asset, net $ 48,591 $ 45,692
Non-current deferred tax liability, net (652,389) (576,715)

Net deferred tax liability $ (603,798) $ (531,023)

The Company has recorded tax benefits amounting to $15.4
million, $11.8 million and $13.3 million in the years ended
March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, resulting from the
exercise of stock options. This benefit has been recorded in capital
in excess of par value.

The Company has recorded deferred tax assets related to the
expected future tax benefits of net operating losses of $22.2
million and $20.2 million as of March 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. State loss carryforwards expire at various times
through 2030.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which
those temporary differences and carryforwards become deductible
or utilized. Management considers the reversal of taxable
temporary differences and projected future taxable income in
making this assessment.

Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections
for future taxable income over the periods which the deductible
temporary differences and carryforwards reverse, at March 31,
2010 management believes it is more likely than not that the
Company will realize the benefits of these deductible differences,
net of the existing valuation allowances. Valuation allowances
relate to certain state net operating loss carryforwards. In fiscal
2010, the Company revised its estimates of the realizability of
certain tax benefits associated with state net operating loss
carryforwards. Those revisions along with changes due to the
realization and expiration of net operating loss carryforwards
resulted in a $2 million increase in the related valuation allowance
at March 31, 2010.

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on approximately $66
million of undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries because
it is the Company’s intention to continue to reinvest these
earnings in those subsidiaries to support their growth. Due to the
timing and circumstances of repatriation of such earnings, if any,
it is not practicable to determine the unrecognized deferred tax
liability relating to such amounts.

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted new guidance for
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which provides
assistance on how a company should recognize, measure and
disclose in its financial statements uncertain income tax positions
that a company has taken or expects to take on a tax return.
Unrecognized tax benefits represent income tax positions taken
on income tax returns that have not been recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. The adoption of the new
guidance in fiscal 2008 resulted in the Company recording a $290
thousand incremental liability for unrecognized tax benefits and a
corresponding reduction in retained earnings.

As of March 31, 2010, the Company has unrecognized tax
benefits of approximately $12 million, which have been recorded
as a non-current liability, and a related $4 million tax asset
recorded in other non-current assets. If recognized, all of the
unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penalties
would reduce tax expense. The Company does not anticipate
significant changes in the amount of unrecognized income tax
benefits over the next year.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of
unrecognized net income tax benefits, including potential interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions, is as follows:

(In thousands)

Unrecognized income tax benefits as of March 31, 2008 $ 6,963
Additions for current year tax positions 1,196
Additions for tax positions of prior years 518
Reductions for settlements with taxing authorities (175)
Reductions as a result of expiration of applicable statutes of limitations (93)

Unrecognized income tax benefits as of March 31, 2009 8,409
Additions for current year tax positions 1,547
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (320)
Reductions for settlements with taxing authorities (641)
Reductions as a result of expiration of applicable statutes of limitations (851)

Unrecognized income tax benefits as of March 31, 2010 $ 8,144

Interest and penalties of $74 thousand were recognized for the
year ended March 31, 2010 and were classified as income tax
expense in the consolidated financial statements. Consistent with
past practice, the Company will continue to record interest and
penalties associated with uncertain tax positions in income tax
expense.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and
various foreign jurisdictions. The Company also files income tax
returns in every state which imposes a corporate income tax. The
Company is not under examination by the IRS or in any significant
foreign, state and local tax jurisdictions. With limited exceptions,
the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local
or foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities for years
before fiscal 2006.

Note 7
Plant and Equipment

The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31,

Depreciable
Lives (Yrs) 2010 2009

Land and land improvements — $ 153,570 $ 145,412
Buildings and improvements 25 392,895 344,360
Cylinders 30 1,259,499 1,251,919
Bulk tank stations 10 to 30 (Average 17) 516,481 448,764
Rental equipment 2 to 10 241,411 222,302
Machinery and equipment 7 to 10 734,373 665,966
Computers, furniture

and fixtures 3 to 10 149,100 152,059
Transportation equipment 3 to 15 243,786 230,435
Construction in progress — 83,093 97,513

$ 3,774,208 $ 3,558,730

Note 8
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of cost of an acquired entity over the
amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
purchase business combination. The valuations of goodwill and
other intangible assets from recent acquisitions are based on
preliminary estimates of fair value and are subject to revision as
the Company finalizes appraisals and other analyses. Changes in
the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2010 and 2009 were as
follows:

(In thousands)

Distribution
Business
Segment

All Other
Operations

Business
Segment Total

Balance at March 31, 2008 $ 849,762 $ 119,297 $ 969,059
Acquisitions 34,138 65,228 99,366
Other adjustments, including foreign

currency translation (4,818) (237) (5,055)

Balance at March 31, 2009 879,082 184,288 1,063,370
Acquisitions 40,821 1,056 41,877
Other adjustments, including foreign

currency translation 2,815 1,214 4,029

Balance at March 31, 2010 $ 922,718 $ 186,558 $ 1,109,276

Test for Goodwill Impairment
The Company is required to perform an assessment of the
carrying value of goodwill associated with each of its reporting
units at least annually and whenever events or circumstances
indicate that it is more likely than not that goodwill may be
impaired. The Company elected to perform its annual assessment
of the carrying value of goodwill as of October 31 of each year.
The annual assessment of the carrying value of goodwill at
October 31, 2009 indicated that the Company’s goodwill was not
impaired.

As of October 31, 2009, the Company had 18 reporting units in
the Distribution business segment and six reporting units in the All
Other Operations business segment. The Company determined
the estimated fair value of each of its reporting units as of
October 31, 2009 using a discounted cash flow model and
compared those values to the carrying value of each of the
respective reporting units. Significant assumptions used in the
cash flow model include revenue growth rates and profit margins
based on specific reporting unit business plans, future capital
expenditures, working capital needs, discount rates and perpetual
growth rates. At October 31, 2009, the discount rates used in the
model were 10% for the Distribution business segment’s
reporting units and 11.0% to 11.5% for the reporting units in the
All Other Operations business segment. The perpetual growth rate
assumed in the discounted cash flow model was consistent with
the long-term rate of growth as measured by the U.S. Gross
Domestic Product. In addition to Company specific factors, the
estimated fair value of each of the Company’s reporting units is
impacted by general economic conditions, the long-term
economic outlook for the U.S. economy, and market conditions
affecting borrowing costs and returns on equity.
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The annual assessment indicated that the fair value of each of the
reporting units exceeded its carrying value by a substantial
amount with the exception of the refrigerants business. The
assessment for this reporting unit in the All Other Operations
business segment indicated that its fair value exceeded its carrying
value by 7%. Therefore, a hypothetical 7% reduction in that
reporting unit’s fair value would be an indication of impairment
and trigger the need to perform a second step to measure the
amount of impairment, if any. The forecasted cash flows for this
reporting unit reflect a changing regulatory environment, which
the Company believes will contribute to revenue growth and
improved profitability. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the
refrigerants business experienced an increase in sales and
exceeded its forecast cash flows. The Company will continue to
monitor this business and consider interim analyses of goodwill
should the markets in which this reporting unit operates not
respond as anticipated to the changing regulatory environment or
if an alternative to the reporting unit’s products is developed. The
amount of goodwill associated with this reporting unit was $88
million at March 31, 2010.

Other Intangible Assets
Other intangible assets amounted to $213 million and $216
million, net of accumulated amortization of $56 million and $39
million at March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These
intangible assets primarily consist of customer relationships, which
are amortized over the estimated benefit periods which range
from 7 to 17 years, and non-competition agreements, which are
amortized over the term of the agreements. The determination of
the estimated benefit period associated with customer
relationships is based on the analysis of historical customer sales
attrition information and other customer-related factors at the
date of acquisition. There are no expected residual values related
to these intangible assets. The Company evaluates the estimated
benefit periods and recoverability of its intangible assets when
facts and circumstances indicate that the lives may not be
appropriate and/or the carrying value of the asset may not be
recoverable. If the carrying value is not recoverable, impairment is
measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its
estimated fair value. Fair value is generally estimated based on
either appraised value or other valuation techniques. Intangible
assets also include trade names with indefinite useful lives valued
at $1.3 million. Estimated future amortization expense by fiscal
year is as follows: 2011 – $23.1 million; 2012 – $21.8 million;
2013 – $20.9 million; 2014 – $18.6 million; 2015 – $17.1 million;
and $110.0 million thereafter.

Note 9
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities include:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2010 2009

Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 86,320 $ 80,630
Business insurance reserves 42,414 44,986
Taxes other than income taxes 18,916 17,098
Cash overdraft 48,474 42,933
Deferred rental revenue 25,585 25,611
Accrued costs related to unsolicited takeover attempt

(Note 25) 22,472 —
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities 63,641 69,147

$ 307,822 $ 280,405

With respect to the business insurance reserves above, the
Company had corresponding insurance receivables of $10.6
million at March 31, 2010 and $9.7 million at March 31, 2009.
The insurance receivables represent the balance of probable claim
losses in excess of the Company’s self-insured retention for which
the Company is fully insured.

Note 10
Indebtedness

Long-term debt consists of:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2010 2009

Revolving credit borrowings—U.S. $ 198,500 $ 751,200
Revolving credit borrowings—Multi-currency 31,514 23,712
Revolving credit borrowings—Canadian 10,333 14,660
Revolving credit borrowings—France 1,351 —
Term loans 307,500 397,500
Senior notes, net 698,963 —
Senior subordinated notes 245,446 550,000
Acquisition notes and other 16,032 24,294

Total long-term debt 1,509,639 1,761,366
Less current portion of long-term debt (10,255) (11,058)

Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 1,499,384 $ 1,750,308

Senior Subordinated Note Redemption
On October 13, 2009, the Company redeemed its $150 million,
6.25% senior subordinated notes maturing July 15, 2014 (the
“2004 Notes”) at a price of 103.125% of the principal. A loss on
the early extinguishment of debt of $6.1 million was recognized
related to the redemption premium and write-off of unamortized
debt issuance costs.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Company
repurchased $154.6 million of its 7.125% senior subordinated
notes maturing October 1, 2018 (the “2008 Notes”) at an
average price of 106.4%. Losses on the early extinguishment of
the 2008 Notes were $11.8 million for the year ended March 31,
2010 and related to the redemption premiums and write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.
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Senior Credit Facility
The Company maintains a senior credit facility (the “Credit
Facility”) with a syndicate of lenders. At March 31, 2010, the
Credit Facility permitted the Company to borrow up to $991
million under a U.S. dollar revolving credit line, up to $75 million
(U.S. dollar equivalent) under a multi-currency revolving credit line,
and up to C$40 million (U.S. $39 million) under a Canadian dollar
revolving credit line. The Credit Facility also contains a term loan
provision through which the Company borrowed $600 million
with scheduled repayment terms. The term loans are repayable in
quarterly installments of $22.5 million through June 30, 2010. The
quarterly installments then increase to $71.2 million from
September 30, 2010 to June 30, 2011. Principal payments due
over the next twelve months on the term loans are classified as
“Long-term debt” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets
based on the Company’s ability and intention to refinance the
payments with borrowings under its long-term revolving credit
facilities. As principal amounts under the term loans are repaid, no
additional borrowing capacity is created under the term loan
provision. The Credit Facility will mature on July 25, 2011.

As of March 31, 2010, the Company had $548 million of
borrowings under the Credit Facility: $199 million under the U.S.
dollar revolver, $31 million (in U.S. dollars) under the multi-
currency revolver, C$10 million (U.S. $10 million) under the
Canadian dollar revolver, and $308 million under the term loans.
The Company also had outstanding letters of credit of $42 million
issued under the Credit Facility. The U.S. dollar borrowings and
the term loans under the Credit Facility bear interest at the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 50 basis points.
The multi-currency revolver bears interest based on a spread of
50 basis points over the Euro currency rate applicable to each
foreign currency borrowing. The Canadian dollar borrowings bear
interest at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance Rate plus 50 basis
points. As of March 31, 2010, the average effective interest rates
on the U.S. dollar revolver, the term loans, the multi-currency
revolver, and the Canadian dollar revolver were 0.73%, 0.79%,
0.96%, and 1.00%, respectively.

On January 25, 2010, the Company obtained a committed
revolving line of credit of up to 3 million Euro (U.S. $4 million) to
fund its expansion into France. The French revolving credit
borrowings are outside of the Company’s Credit Facility. At
March 31, 2010, French revolving credit borrowings were
1 million Euro (U.S. $1.35 million). The Company intends to
refinance the French revolving credit borrowings with the Credit
Facility. The variable interest rates on the French revolving credit
borrowings are based on the Euro currency rate plus 50 basis
points. As of March 31, 2010, the effective interest rate on the
French revolving credit borrowings was 0.90%.

As of March 31, 2010, approximately $823 million remained
unused under the Company’s Credit Facility. However, based
on the financial covenants of the Credit Facility, the Company’s
borrowing capacity at March 31, 2010 was limited to
$748 million. The Credit Facility contains customary events of

default, including nonpayment and breach of covenants. In the
event of default, repayment of borrowings under the Credit
Facility may be accelerated. The Company’s Credit Facility also
contains cross-default provisions whereby a default under the
Credit Facility would likely result in defaults under the senior and
senior subordinated notes discussed below.

With the October 13, 2009 redemption of the 2004 Notes, the
guarantees and collateral under the Credit Facility were released.
Prior to the redemption of the 2004 Notes, the Company’s
domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of the bankruptcy-remote special
purpose entity (the “domestic subsidiaries”), guaranteed the U.S.
dollar revolver, term loans, multi-currency revolver and Canadian
dollar revolver. The multi-currency revolver and Canadian dollar
revolver were also guaranteed by the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries. The guarantees were full and unconditional and were
made on a joint and several basis. The Company had pledged
100% of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the
stock of its foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under
the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility provided for the release of
the guarantees and collateral if the Company attained an
investment grade credit rating and a similar release on its 2004
Notes.

Money Market Loans
The Company has an agreement with a financial institution that
provides access to short-term advances not to exceed $35 million.
The agreement expires on December 1, 2010, but may be
extended subject to renewal provisions contained in the
agreement. The advances are generally overnight or for up to
seven days. The amount, term and interest rate of an advance are
established through mutual agreement with the financial
institution when the Company requests such an advance. At
March 31, 2010, there were no advances outstanding under the
agreement.

Senior Notes
On September 11, 2009, the Company issued $400 million of
senior notes (the “2009 Notes”). The 2009 Notes were issued at a
discount and mature on September 15, 2014 with an effective
yield of 4.527%. The net proceeds from the sale of the 2009
Notes were used to reduce the borrowings under the Company’s
revolving credit line under the Credit Facility. The 2009 Notes bear
interest at a fixed annual rate of 4.5%, payable semi-annually on
March 15 and September 15 of each year, commencing
March 15, 2010. Additionally, the Company has the option to
redeem the 2009 Notes prior to their maturity, in whole or in part,
at 100% of the principal plus any accrued but unpaid interest and
any applicable make-whole amounts.

On March 15, 2010, the Company issued $300 million of senior
notes (the “2010 Notes”). The 2010 Notes were issued at a
discount and mature on October 1, 2013 with an effective yield of
2.871%. The net proceeds from the sale of the 2010 Notes were
used to reduce the borrowings under the Company’s revolving
credit line under the Credit Facility. The 2010 Notes bear interest
at a fixed annual rate of 2.85%, payable semi-annually on
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April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing October 1,
2010. The Company has the option to redeem the 2010 Notes
prior to their maturity, in whole or in part, at 100% of the
principal plus any accrued but unpaid interest and any applicable
make-whole amounts. In addition to the discount, the balance of
the 2010 Notes at March 31, 2010 also reflects the change in the
carrying value of the 2010 Notes as a result of the change in the
hedged risk on the Company’s interest rate swaps designated as
fair value hedges – see Note 11 for derivatives disclosures.

Senior Subordinated Notes
At March 31, 2010, the Company had $245 million of its 2008
Notes outstanding with a maturity date of October 1, 2018. The
2008 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 7.125%,
payable semi-annually on October 1 and April 1 of each year. The
2008 Notes have a redemption provision which permits the
Company, at its option, to call the 2008 Notes at scheduled dates
and prices. The first scheduled optional redemption date is
October 1, 2013 at a price of 103.563% of the principal amount.

The 2008, 2009 and 2010 Notes contain covenants that could
restrict the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common
stock, the issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of
additional indebtedness and liens. With the July 31, 2009 credit
rating upgrade and the October 13, 2009 redemption of the 2004
Notes, the subsidiary guarantees on the 2008 and 2009 Notes
were released.

Acquisition Notes and Other
The Company’s long-term debt also included acquisition and
other notes, principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of
businesses acquired, which are repayable in periodic installments.
At March 31, 2010, acquisition and other notes totaled $16
million with an average interest rate of approximately 6% and an
average maturity of approximately two years.

Aggregate Long-term Debt Maturities
The aggregate maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2010
are as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ending March 31,(1)

Debt
Maturities

2011 $ 10,255
2012 553,082
2013 727
2014 300,518
2015 400,472
Thereafter 245,622

$ 1,510,676

(1) The Company has the ability and intention of refinancing current maturities related to the
term loans under its Credit Facility with its long-term revolving credit line. Therefore,
principal payments due in fiscal 2011 on the term loans have been reflected as long-term in
the aggregate maturity schedule.

Additionally, the 2009 and 2010 Notes are reflected in the debt
maturities schedule at their maturity values rather than their
carrying values, which are net of discounts of $432 thousand and

$213 thousand, respectively, at March 31, 2010. The 2010 Notes
also include an additional reduction in carrying value of $392
thousand at March 31, 2010 related to the Company’s fair value
hedges – see Note 11 for additional disclosure.

Note 11
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest
rates. The Company’s involvement with derivative instruments is
limited to highly effective interest rate swap agreements used to
manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The Company
monitors its positions and credit ratings of its counterparties and
does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties.
Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into for trading
purposes. The Company recognizes certain derivative instruments
as either assets or liabilities at fair value on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. At March 31, 2010, the Company was party to a
total of twelve interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate
notional amount of $550 million.

Cash Flow Hedges
The Company designates fixed interest rate swap agreements as
cash flow hedges of interest payments on variable-rate debt
associated with the Company’s Credit Facility. For derivative
instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion
of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and is
reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during
which the hedge transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses on
the derivative instruments representing hedge ineffectiveness are
recognized in current earnings.

During fiscal 2010, eleven fixed interest rate swap agreements
with an aggregate notional amount of $377 million matured. At
March 31, 2010, the Company had seven fixed interest rate swap
agreements outstanding with a notional amount of $250 million.
These swaps effectively convert $250 million of variable interest
rate debt associated with the Company’s Credit Facility to fixed
rate debt. At March 31, 2010, these swap agreements required
the Company to make fixed interest payments based on a
weighted average effective rate of 3.21% and receive variable
interest payments from the counterparties based on a weighted
average variable rate of 0.59%. The remaining terms of these
swap agreements range from six to nine months. For the year
ended March 31, 2010, the fair value of the liability for the fixed
interest rate swap agreements decreased and the Company
recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)” of $8.6 million, or $5.6 million after
tax. For the year ended March 31, 2009, the fair value of the
liability for the fixed interest rate swap agreements decreased and
the Company recorded a corresponding adjustment to
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” of $8.3
million, or $5.4 million after tax. For the year ended March 31,
2008, the fair value of the liability for the fixed interest rate swap
agreements increased and the Company recorded a

59

15565ACL.PDF   43 6/29/10   7:57:55 PM



Airgas, Inc. 2010

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)” of $21.0 million, or $13.6 million after tax.

The estimated net amount of existing losses recorded in
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” at March 31,
2010 that is expected to be reclassified into earnings within the
next twelve months is $2.6 million, net of estimated tax benefits
of $1.4 million. The amount of gain or loss recognized in current
earnings as a result of hedge ineffectiveness related to the
designated cash flow hedges is immaterial for the years ended
March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.

Fair Value Hedges
The Company also has variable interest rate swap agreements,
which are designated as fair value hedges. For derivative
instruments designated as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on
the derivative as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged
item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in current
earnings.

On March 15, 2010, the Company entered into five variable
interest rate swaps to effectively convert its $300 million of fixed
rate 2010 Notes to variable rate debt. At March 31, 2010, these
swap agreements required the Company to make variable interest
payments based on a weighted average forward rate of 2.96%
and receive fixed interest payments from the counterparties based
on a fixed rate of 2.85%. The maturity of these fair value swaps
coincides with the maturity date of the Company’s 2010 Notes in
October 2013. Through March 31, 2010, the fair value of the
variable interest rate swaps decreased to a liability of $625
thousand and was recorded in “Other non-current liabilities.” The
corresponding reduction in the carrying value of the 2010 Notes
caused by the hedged risk was $392 thousand and was recorded
in “Long-term debt.” The Company records the gain or loss on
the hedged item (the 2010 Notes) and the loss or gain on the
variable interest rate swaps in interest expense. Accordingly, the
ineffective portion of the hedge was $233 thousand for fiscal
2010 and was reflected as additional interest expense. At
March 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had no outstanding
variable interest rate swaps.

Tabular Disclosure
The following tables reflect the required tabular disclosure of the
fair values of derivative instruments on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity as well as the effect of derivative instruments
on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Fair Values of Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

(In thousands)
Balance Sheet
Location Fair Value

Balance Sheet
Location Fair Value

Interest rate swaps:
Fixed interest rate

swaps
Other non-current
liabilities $3,962

Other non-current
liabilities $12,525

Variable interest rate
swaps

Other non-current
liabilities $ 625

Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings and Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands)
Amount of Gain (Loss)

Recognized in OCI on Derivatives

Years Ended March 31,

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging
Relationships 2010 2009 2008

Fixed interest rate swaps $ 8,563 $ 8,325 $ (20,956)
Tax (expense) benefit (2,997) (2,914) 7,322

Net effect $ 5,566 $ 5,411 $ (13,634)

Location of Gain (Loss)
Reclassified from AOCI into Pre-tax
Income for Derivatives in Cash
Flow Hedging Relationships

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Reclassified from AOCI

into Pre-tax Income

Years Ended March 31,

2010 2009 2008

Interest expense, net $ (11,399) $ (13,130) $ 63

(In thousands)

Derivatives in Fair
Value Hedging
Relationships

Location of Gain
(Loss) Recognized in

Pre-tax Income

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in

Pre-Tax Income

Year Ended March 31, 2010

Change in fair value of
variable interest rate
swaps Interest expense, net $ (625)

Change in carrying value
of 2010 Notes Interest expense, net 392

Net effect Interest expense, net $ (233)

Note 12
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Assets and
liabilities recorded at fair value are classified based upon the level
of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair
value. The hierarchical levels related to the subjectivity of the
valuation inputs are defined as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable, directly or indirectly through
corroboration with observable market data at the measurement
date.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs that reflect
management’s best estimate of the assumptions (including
assumptions about risk) that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

The carrying value of cash, trade receivables exclusive of the
subordinated retained interest, other current receivables, trade
payables and other current liabilities (e.g., deposit liabilities, cash
overdrafts, etc.) approximate fair value.
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at
March 31, 2010 are categorized in the table below based on the
lowest level of significant input to the valuation.

(In thousands)
Balance at

March 31, 2010

Quoted
prices in

active
markets
Level 1

Significant
other

observable
inputs

Level 2

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Level 3

Assets:
Subordinated retained interest

in trade receivables sold
under the Company’s trade
receivable securitization $ 142,310 $ — $ — $ 142,310

Deferred compensation plan
assets 7,596 7,596 — —

Total assets measured at fair
value on a recurring basis $ 149,906 $ 7,596 $ — $ 142,310

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation plan

liabilities $ 7,596 $ 7,596 $ — $ —
Derivative liabilities – fixed

interest rate swap
agreements 3,962 — 3,962 —

Derivative liabilities – variable
interest rate swap
agreements 625 — 625 —

Total liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring
basis $ 12,183 $ 7,596 $ 4,587 $ —

(In thousands)
Balance at

March 31, 2009

Quoted
prices in

active
markets
Level 1

Significant
other

observable
inputs

Level 2

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Level 3

Assets:
Subordinated retained interest

in trade receivables sold
under the Company’s trade
receivable securitization $ 147,853 $ — $ — $ 147,853

Deferred compensation plan
assets 4,598 4,598 — —

Total assets measured at fair
value on a recurring basis $ 152,451 $ 4,598 $ — $ 147,853

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation plan

liabilities $ 4,598 $ 4,598 $ — $ —
Derivative liabilities – fixed

interest rate swap
agreements 12,525 — 12,525 —

Total liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring
basis $ 17,123 $ 4,598 $ 12,525 $ —

The following is a general description of the valuation
methodologies used for financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value:

Subordinated retained interest—The Company’s subordinated
retained interest in trade receivables sold under its trade receivable
securitization agreement is classified as “Trade receivables” on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company maintains an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $23.1 million and $26.4
million at March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, related to the
subordinated retained interests to adjust the carrying value to fair
value. The fair value of the subordinated retained interest reflects
management’s best estimate of the undiscounted expected future
cash flows adjusted for unobservable inputs (Level 3), which
management believes a market participant would use to assess
the risk of credit losses. Those inputs reflect the diversified
customer base, the short-term nature of the securitized asset,
aging trends and historical collections experience. Adjustments to
the fair value of the Company’s retained interest are recorded
through the Consolidated Statement of Earnings as bad debt
expense. The Company believes that the fair value of the
subordinated retained interest in trade receivables reflects the
amount expected to be realized when the receivables are
ultimately settled.

Deferred compensation plan assets and corresponding
liabilities—The Company’s deferred compensation plan assets
consist of exchange traded open-ended mutual funds with quoted
prices in active markets (Level 1), and are included within “Other
non-current assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
Company’s deferred compensation plan liabilities are equal to the
plan’s assets and are included within “Other non-current
liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Gains or losses on
the deferred compensation plan assets are recognized as other
income (expense), net, while gains or losses on the deferred
compensation plan liabilities are recognized as compensation
expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Derivative liabilities—interest rate swap agreements—
The Company has both fixed and variable interest rate swap
agreements, all with highly rated counterparties. The fixed interest
rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges and effectively
convert portions of the Company’s variable rate debt to fixed rate
debt. The Company’s variable interest rate swaps are designated
as fair value hedges and convert the Company’s fixed rate 2010
Notes to variable rate debt. The swap agreements are valued
using an income approach that relies on observable market inputs
such as interest rate yield curves and treasury spreads (Level 2).
Expected future cash flows are converted to a present value
amount based upon market expectations of the changes in these
interest rate yield curves. The fair values of the Company’s interest
rate swap agreements are included within “Other non-current
liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 11 for
additional derivatives disclosures.
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The following table presents the changes in financial assets for
which Level 3 inputs were significant to their valuation for the
year ended March 31, 2010:

(In thousands)
Subordinated

retained interest

Balance at April 1, 2009 $147,853
Net realized losses included in earnings (bad debt expense) (12,580)
Additional retained interest, net 7,037

Balance at March 31, 2010 $142,310

The carrying value of debt generally reflects the cash proceeds
received upon its issuance, net of subsequent repayments. The fair
value of the Company’s variable interest rate revolving credit
borrowings and term loans disclosed in the table below were
estimated based on observable forward yield curves and
unobservable credit spreads management believes a market
participant would assume for these facilities under market
conditions as of the balance sheet date. The fair value of the fixed
rate notes disclosed below were determined based on quoted
prices from the broker/dealer market, observable market inputs
for similarly termed treasury notes adjusted for the Company’s
credit spread and unobservable inputs management believes a
market participant would use in determining imputed interest for
obligations without a stated interest rate.

(In thousands)
Carrying Value at

March 31, 2010
Fair Value at

March 31, 2010
Carrying Value at

March 31, 2009
Fair Value at

March 31, 2009

Revolving credit
borrowings $ 241,698 $ 239,281 $ 789,572 $ 757,989

Term loans 307,500 304,425 397,500 381,600
Money market loans — — — —
2004 Notes — — 150,000 139,500
2008 Notes 245,446 269,706 400,000 378,000
2009 Notes 399,568 412,542 — —
2010 Notes 299,395 299,126 — —
Acquisition and other

notes 16,032 16,814 24,294 24,928

Total debt $ 1,509,639 $ 1,541,894 $ 1,761,366 $ 1,682,017

Note 13
National Welders Exchange Transaction

Since the December 2003 adoption of guidance on consolidation
of variable interest entities, the Company’s National Welders
Supply Company, Inc.’s joint venture (“National Welders”) was
consolidated with the operations of the Company. As a
consolidated entity, the assets and liabilities of the joint venture
were included with the Company’s assets and liabilities and the
preferred stockholders’ interest in those assets and liabilities was
reflected as “Minority interest in affiliate” on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Likewise, the operating results of the
joint venture were reflected broadly across the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings with the preferred stockholders’
proportionate share of the joint venture’s operating results
reflected, net of tax, as “Minority interest in earnings of
consolidated affiliate.”

On July 3, 2007, the preferred stockholders of the National
Welders joint venture exchanged their preferred stock for
common stock of Airgas (the “NWS Exchange Transaction”). The
Company issued 2.471 million shares of Airgas common stock to
the preferred stockholders in exchange for all 3.2 million preferred
shares of National Welders. As part of the negotiated exchange,
the Company issued an additional 144 thousand shares (included
in the 2.471 million shares) of Airgas common stock to the
preferred shareholders, which resulted in a one-time net after-tax
charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. The net
after-tax charge was reflected in the Consolidated Statement of
Earnings as “Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate”
and consisted of $7 million related to the additional shares issued
net of the reversal of a deferred tax liability related to the
undistributed earnings of the National Welders joint venture of
$4.5 million. Upon the exchange, National Welders became a
100% owned subsidiary of Airgas.

Note 14
Stockholders’ Equity

(a) Common Stock
The Company is authorized to issue up to 200 million shares of
common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. At March 31,
2010, the number of shares of common stock outstanding was
83.2 million, excluding 3.0 million shares of common stock held as
treasury stock. At March 31, 2009, the number of shares of
common stock outstanding was 81.4 million, excluding 4.1 million
shares of common stock held as treasury stock.

(b) Preferred Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock
The Company is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of
preferred stock. Of the 20 million shares authorized,
200 thousand shares have been designated as Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock, 200 thousand shares have been
designated as Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock and
200 thousand shares have been designated as Series C Junior
Participating Preferred Stock (see Stockholder Rights Plan below).
At March 31, 2010 and 2009, no shares of the preferred stock
were issued or outstanding. The preferred stock may be issued
from time to time by the Company’s Board of Directors in one or
more series. The Board of Directors is authorized to fix the
dividend rights and terms, conversion rights, voting rights, rights
and terms of redemption, liquidation preferences, and any other
rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of any series of
preferred stock, and the number of shares constituting such series
and designation thereof.

Additionally, the Company is authorized to issue 30 thousand
shares of redeemable preferred stock. At March 31, 2010 and
2009, no shares of redeemable preferred stock were issued or
outstanding.

(c) Dividends
The Company paid its stockholders quarterly cash dividends of
$0.18 per share at the end of each of the first three quarters of
fiscal 2010. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company
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paid dividends of $0.22 per share. On May 25, 2010, the
Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.22
per share, which is payable on June 30, 2010 to the stockholders
of record as of June 15, 2010. During fiscal 2009, the Company
paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.12 per
share at the end of each of the first two quarters and $0.16 per
share in the third and fourth quarters. During fiscal 2008, the
Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of
$0.09 per share during the first three quarters and $0.12 per
share during the fourth quarter. Future dividend declarations and
associated amounts paid will depend upon the Company’s
earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements
and other factors deemed relevant by management and the
Company’s Board of Directors.

(d) Stockholder Rights Plan
Effective May 8, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted
a stockholder rights plan (the “2007 Rights Plan”). Pursuant to the
2007 Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend
distribution of one right for each share of common stock. Each
right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one
ten-thousandth of a share of Series C Junior Participating
Preferred Stock at an initial exercise price of $230 per share. The
2007 Rights Plan is intended to assure that all of the Company’s
stockholders receive fair and equal treatment in the event of any
proposed takeover of the Company and to protect stockholders’
interests in the event the Company is confronted with partial
tender offers or other coercive or unfair takeover tactics.

Rights become exercisable after ten days following the acquisition
by a person or group of 15% (or 20% in the case of Peter
McCausland and certain of his affiliates) or more of the
Company’s outstanding common stock, or ten business days (or
later if determined by the Board of Directors in accordance with
the plan) after the announcement of a tender offer or exchange
offer to acquire 15% (or 20% in the case of Peter McCausland
and certain of his affiliates) or more of the outstanding common
stock. If such a person or group acquires 15% or more (or 20% or
more, as the case may be) of the common stock, each right (other
than such person’s or group’s rights, which will become void) will
entitle the holder to purchase, at the exercise price, common
stock having a market value equal to twice the exercise price. In
certain circumstances, the rights may be redeemed by the
Company at an initial redemption price of $0.0001 per right. If
not redeemed, the rights will expire on May 8, 2017.

(e) Stock Repurchase Plan
In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a
stock repurchase plan (the “Repurchase Plan”) that provided the
Company with the authorization to repurchase up to $150 million
of its common stock. The Repurchase Plan was suspended in July
2006 while the Company consummated its acquisitions of Linde
AG’s U.S. bulk and packaged gas assets. In March 2008, the
Company announced the reinstatement of its Repurchase Plan.
During fiscal 2009 and 2008, 2.4 million and 496 thousand shares
were repurchased for $115.6 million and $21.6 million,

respectively. Since inception, a total of 4.1 million shares have
been repurchased under the plan for $150 million satisfying the
original $150 million authorized for common stock repurchase.

(f) Comprehensive Income
The Company’s comprehensive income was $210 million, $255
million and $214 million for the years ended March 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively. Comprehensive income consists of
net earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments, the net
change in the fair value of fixed interest rate swaps and the net
tax expense or benefit of other comprehensive income items. Net
tax expense or benefit of comprehensive income items pertains to
the Company’s interest rate swap agreements only, as foreign
currency translation adjustments relate to permanent investments
in foreign subsidiaries. The net change in the fair value of fixed
interest rate swaps reflects valuation adjustments for changes in
interest rates, as well as cash settlements with the counterparties.
During the year ended March 31, 2010, cash settlements with the
counterparties amounted to $11.4 million and were reclassified
from “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” to net
earnings as interest expense. The table below presents the gross
and net changes in the balances within each component of
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” for the year
ended March 31, 2010.

(In thousands)

Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Interest
Rate Swap

Agreements

Total Accumulated
Other Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

Balance March 31, 2009 $ (2,530) $ (8,223) $ (10,753)
Foreign currency translation

adjustments 8,629 8,629
Change in fair value of interest

rate swap agreements 19,962 19,962
Reclassification adjustments to

income (11,399) (11,399)
Net change in fair value of

interest rate swap
agreements 8,563 8,563

Net tax expense of
comprehensive income items (2,997) (2,997)

Net change after tax of
comprehensive income items 8,629 5,566 14,195

Balance March 31, 2010 $ 6,099 $ (2,657) $ 3,442
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Note 15
Stock-based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for
its stock option plans and employee stock purchase plan. The
following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense
recognized by the Company in each of the years in the three-year
period ended March 31, 2010:

(In thousands)
Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Stock-based compensation expense
related to:

Stock option plans $ 16,455 $ 14,863 $ 12,660
Employee Stock Purchase Plan—

options to purchase stock 6,413 5,772 3,969
22,868 20,635 16,629

Tax benefit (6,913) (6,544) (5,282)
Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 15,955 $ 14,091 $ 11,347

2006 Equity Incentive Plan
The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Equity Plan”) was
approved by the Company’s stockholders in August 2006. On
August 18, 2009, the Company’s stockholders approved the
Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, which
included, among other things, a 2.6 million increase in the
number of shares available for issuance under the plan. At
March 31, 2010, a total of 7.4 million shares were authorized
under the 2006 Equity Plan, as amended, for grants of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted
stock units to employees, directors and consultants of the
Company, of which 3.8 million shares of common stock were
available for issuance.

Stock options granted prior to April 1, 2006 vest 25% annually
and have a maximum term of ten years. Stock options granted
subsequent to April 1, 2006 also vest 25% annually and have a
maximum term of eight years.

Fair Value
The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to
determine the fair value of stock options. The weighted-average
grant date fair value of stock options granted during the fiscal
years ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $14.50, $18.17
and $15.27, respectively. The following assumptions were used by
the Company in valuing the stock option grants issued in each
fiscal year:

Stock Option Grant Assumptions:

Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008

Expected volatility 39.5% 29.6% 30.8%
Expected dividend yield 1.75% 0.90% 0.82%
Expected term 5.6 years 5.6 years 5.6 years
Risk-free interest rate 2.3% 3.2% 4.7%

The expected volatility assumption used in valuing stock options
was determined based on anticipated changes in the underlying

stock price over the expected term using historical daily changes
of the Company’s closing stock price. The expected dividend yield
was based on the Company’s history and expectation of future
dividend payouts. The expected term represents the period of time
that the options are expected to be outstanding prior to exercise
or forfeiture. The expected term was determined based on
historical exercise patterns. The risk-free interest rate was based
on U.S. Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant commensurate
with the expected term.

Summary of Stock Option Activity
The following table summarizes the stock option activity during
the three years ended March 31, 2010:

Number
of Stock
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
Per Share

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(In thousands)

Outstanding at March 31, 2007 6,882,974 $ 19.12
Granted 1,082,550 $ 43.94
Exercised (1,238,457) $ 16.46
Forfeited (94,364) $ 32.18

Outstanding at March 31, 2008 6,632,703 $ 23.52 $ 145,588
Granted 1,120,273 $ 59.67
Exercised (1,027,129) $ 15.76
Forfeited (85,478) $ 31.63

Outstanding at March 31, 2009 6,640,369 $ 30.71 $ 60,142
Granted 1,425,650 $ 43.15
Exercised (1,299,528) $ 16.82
Forfeited (59,473) $ 18.50

Outstanding at March 31, 2010 6,707,018 $ 36.15 $ 184,230

Vested or expected to vest as of
March 31, 2010 6,545,771 $ 35.90 $ 181,461

Exercisable as of March 31, 2010 3,893,956 $ 28.03 $ 138,569

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between
the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of each
fiscal year and the exercise price of in-the-money stock options
multiplied by the number of stock options outstanding or
exercisable as of that date. The total intrinsic value of stock
options exercised during the years ended March 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008 was $46.7 million, $33.1 million and $37.0 million,
respectively. The weighted-average remaining contractual term of
stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2010 was 4.97 years.
Common stock to be issued in conjunction with future stock
option exercises will be obtained from either new shares or shares
from treasury stock.

As of March 31, 2010, $28.4 million of unrecognized
compensation expense related to non-vested stock options is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average vesting period
of 1.7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”)
encourages and assists employees in acquiring an equity interest
in the Company. The ESPP is authorized to issue up to 3.5 million
shares of Company common stock, of which 443 thousand shares
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were available for issuance at March 31, 2010, including
122 thousand shares issued on April 1, 2010.

Under the terms of the ESPP, eligible employees may elect to have
up to 15% of their annual gross earnings withheld to purchase
common stock at 85% of the market value. Employee purchases
are limited in any calendar year to an aggregate market value of
$25,000. Market value under the ESPP is defined as either the
closing share price on the New York Stock Exchange as of an
employee’s enrollment date or the closing price on the first
business day of a fiscal quarter when the shares are purchased,
whichever is lower. An employee may lock-in a purchase price for
up to 12 months. The ESPP effectively resets at the beginning of
each fiscal year at which time employees are re-enrolled in the
plan and a new 12-month purchase price is established. The ESPP
is designed to comply with the requirements of Sections 421 and
423 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Compensation expense is measured based on the fair value of the
employees’ option to purchase shares of common stock at the
grant date and is recognized over the future periods in which the
related employee service is rendered. The fair value per share of
employee options to purchase shares under the ESPP was $12.52,
$12.46 and $9.61 for the years ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively. The fair value of the employees’ option to
purchase shares of common stock was estimated using the Black-
Scholes model. The following assumptions were used by the
Company in valuing the employees’ option to purchase shares of
common stock under the ESPP:

ESPP Purchase Option Assumptions:

Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008

Expected volatility 72.2% 61.3% 23.6%
Expected dividend yield 1.61% 1.07% 0.86%
Expected term 3 to 12 months 3 to 6 months 3 to 12 months
Risk-free interest rate 0.4% 1.7% 5.0%

The following table summarizes the activity of the ESPP during the
three years ended March 31, 2010:

ESPP—Purchase Option Activity

Number
of Purchase

Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
Per Share

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(In thousands)

Outstanding at March 31, 2007 102,755 $ 30.86
Granted 412,917 $ 36.00
Exercised (407,038) $ 34.62

Outstanding at March 31, 2008 108,634 $ 36.21 $ 1,006
Granted 463,443 $ 35.52
Exercised (439,325) $ 37.57

Outstanding at March 31, 2009 132,752 $ 29.30 $ 599
Granted 512,327 $ 29.29
Exercised (523,507) $ 29.47

Outstanding at March 31, 2010 121,572 $ 28.53 $ 4,266

Note 16
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, consists of:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Interest expense $ 65,788 $ 87,142 $ 92,210
Interest and finance charge (income) (2,478) (2,747) (2,725)

$ 63,310 $ 84,395 $ 89,485

Note 17
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings by
the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s
common stock outstanding during the period. Outstanding shares
consist of issued shares less treasury stock. Diluted earnings per
share is calculated by dividing net earnings by the weighted
average common shares outstanding adjusted for the dilutive
effect of common stock equivalents related to stock options and
the Company’s ESPP.

Outstanding stock options that are anti-dilutive are excluded from
the Company’s diluted earnings per share computation. There
were approximately 2.4 million, 1.9 million, and 1.3 million
outstanding stock options that were not dilutive for the years
ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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The table below presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Basic Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:
Net earnings $ 196,300 $ 261,088 $ 223,348

Denominator:
Basic shares outstanding 82,129 81,926 81,402

Basic net earnings per share $ 2.39 $ 3.19 $ 2.74

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008(1)

Diluted Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:
Net earnings $ 196,300 $ 261,088 $ 223,348

Plus: Preferred stock dividends — — 711

Plus: Income taxes on earnings of National Welders — — 245

Net earnings assuming preferred stock conversion $ 196,300 $ 261,088 $ 224,304

Denominator:
Basic shares outstanding 82,129 81,926 81,402

Incremental shares from assumed exercises and conversions:

Stock options and options under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 1,658 1,890 2,242

Preferred stock of National Welders — — 591

Diluted shares outstanding 83,787 83,816 84,235

Diluted net earnings per share $ 2.34 $ 3.12 $ 2.66

(1) On July 3, 2007, the preferred stockholders of the National Welders joint venture exchanged their preferred stock for common stock of Airgas (see Note 13). Prior to July 3, 2007, the preferred
stockholders of National Welders had the option to exchange their 3.2 million preferred shares of National Welders either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or for approximately 2.3 million
shares of Airgas common stock. If Airgas common stock had a market value of $24.45 per share or greater, exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas common stock was assumed because it
provided greater value to the preferred stockholders. Based on the assumed exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas common stock, the 2.3 million shares were included in the diluted shares
outstanding.

The National Welders preferred stockholders earned a 5% dividend, recognized as “Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate” in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. Upon the
exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas common stock, the dividend was no longer paid to the preferred stockholders, resulting in additional net earnings for Airgas. For the periods in which
the exchange was assumed, the 5% preferred stock dividend was added back to net earnings in the diluted earnings per share computation.

For periods prior to the NWS Exchange Transaction, the earnings of National Welders for tax purposes were treated as a deemed dividend to Airgas, net of an 80% dividend exclusion. Upon the
exchange of National Welders preferred stock for Airgas common stock, National Welders became a 100% owned subsidiary of Airgas. As a 100% owned subsidiary, the net earnings of National
Welders are not subject to additional tax at the Airgas level. For the period in which the exchange was assumed, the additional tax was added back to net earnings in the diluted earnings per
share computation.

The diluted earnings per share computation for the year ended March 31, 2008 includes the effect of the items described above, weighted to reflect the impact of the NWS Exchange Transaction.
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Note 18
Leases

The Company leases certain distribution facilities, fleet vehicles and
equipment under long-term operating leases with varying terms.
Most leases contain renewal options and in some instances, purchase
options. Rentals under these operating leases for the years ended
March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 totaled approximately $102 million,
$99 million, and $96 million, respectively. Certain operating facilities
are leased at market rates from employees of the Company who
were previous owners of businesses acquired. Outstanding capital
lease obligations and the related capital assets are not material to the
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2010 and 2009. In
connection with the fleet vehicle operating leases, the Company
guarantees a residual value of $29 million, representing
approximately 16% of the original cost.

At March 31, 2010, future minimum lease payments under
non-cancelable operating leases were as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ending March 31,

2011 $ 82,075
2012 64,571
2013 48,474
2014 30,701
2015 17,500
Thereafter 25,947

$ 269,268

Note 19
Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Legal
The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory
proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of business
and have not been fully adjudicated. In addition, the Company is
the target of an unsolicited tender offer and proxy contest
commenced by Air Products & Chemicals, Inc. (“Air Products”). In
connection with this unsolicited tender offer, Air Products filed an
action against the Company and members of its Board in the
Delaware Court of Chancery. In the suit, Air Products seeks,
among other things, an order declaring that members of the
Company’s Board breached their fiduciary duties by refusing to
negotiate with Air Products. The Company and its directors
believe that the claims made by Air Products are without merit
and intend to defend them vigorously.

Additionally, a number of purported stockholder class action
lawsuits were commenced against the Company and/or the
members of the Airgas Board in the Delaware Court of Chancery.
These suits, which have now been consolidated, allege, among
other things, that the members of the Airgas Board have failed to
fulfill their fiduciary duties by refusing to negotiate with Air
Products, failing to seek more valuable alternatives and failing to
redeem the Company’s shareholder rights plan. The plaintiffs seek
equitable relief, as well as an award of compensatory damages,

costs and attorneys’ fees. The Company and its directors believe
that the claims made by the stockholder plaintiffs are without
merit and intend to defend them vigorously.

As disclosed in Note 25 – Unsolicited Takeover Attempt, the
Company has incurred substantial legal and professional fees
related to this takeover attempt and litigation through March 31,
2010. A significant portion of these fees represent up-front
accruals for the minimum obligations to the Company’s advisors.
The Company expects to incur additional costs in the future in
connection with the tender offer, proxy contest and the related
litigation.

(b) Insurance Coverage
The Company has established insurance programs to cover
workers’ compensation, business automobile and general liability
claims. During fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, these programs had
high deductible limits of $1 million per occurrence. For fiscal 2011,
the high deductible limits will remain $1 million per occurrence.
The Company believes its insurance reserves are adequate. The
Company accrues estimated losses using actuarial models and
assumptions based on historical loss experience. The nature of the
Company’s business may subject it to product and general liability
lawsuits. To the extent that the Company is subject to claims that
exceed its liability insurance coverage, such suits could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under
the plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not
reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,
some of which are subjective. The Company adjusts its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan
participants and an aging employee base.

(c) Supply Agreements
The Company purchases bulk quantities of industrial gases under
long-term take-or-pay supply agreements. The Company is a party
to a long-term take-or-pay supply agreement, in effect through
August 2017, under which Air Products will supply the Company
with bulk nitrogen, oxygen and argon. Additionally, the Company
has commitments to purchase helium and hydrogen from Air
Products under the terms of the take-or-pay supply agreement.
The Company is committed to purchase approximately $55 million
annually in bulk gases under the Air Products supply agreement.
The Company also has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements
with Linde AG to purchase oxygen, nitrogen, argon, helium and
acetylene. The agreements expire at various dates through July
2019 and represent almost $55 million in annual bulk gas
purchases. Additionally, the Company has long-term take-or-pay
supply agreements to purchase oxygen, nitrogen, argon and
helium from other major producers. Annual purchases under
these contracts are approximately $20 million and they expire at
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various dates through 2024. The annual purchase commitments
above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2010 purchases.

The Company also purchases liquid carbon dioxide and ammonia
under take-or-pay supply agreements. The Company is a party to
long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of
liquid carbon dioxide with approximately 15 suppliers that expire
at various dates through 2044 and represent approximately $18
million in annual purchases. The Company purchases ammonia
from a variety of sources and is obligated to purchase
approximately $1.2 million annually under these contracts. The
annual purchase commitments reflect estimates based on fiscal
2010 purchases.

The supply agreements noted above contain periodic pricing
adjustments based on certain economic indices and market
analyses. The Company believes the minimum product purchases
under the agreements are within the Company’s normal product
purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under the supply
agreements could differ materially from those presented above
due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying
sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions. The
Company believes that if a long-term supply agreement with a
major supplier of gases or other raw materials was terminated, it
would look to utilize excess internal production capacity and to
locate alternative sources of supply to meet customer
requirements. The Company purchases hardgoods from major
manufacturers and suppliers. For certain products, the Company
has negotiated national purchasing arrangements. The Company
believes that if an arrangement with any supplier of hardgoods
was terminated, it would be able to negotiate comparable
alternative supply arrangements.

At March 31, 2010, future commitments under take-or-pay supply
agreements were as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ending March 31,

2011 $ 149,064
2012 129,032
2013 122,668
2014 114,053
2015 107,044
Thereafter 317,484

$ 939,345

(d) Construction Commitments
At March 31, 2010, the Company’s remaining construction
commitments totaled approximately $4 million. Construction
commitments represent an outstanding commitment to a
customer to construct a raw liquid carbon dioxide plant in Camilla,
Georgia. The Camilla, Georgia plant is expected to be completed
mid-calendar year 2010.

(e) Letters of Credit
At March 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding letters of
credit of approximately $42 million. Letters of credit are
guarantees of payment to third parties. The Company’s letters of
credit principally back obligations associated with the Company’s
self-insured retention on workers’ compensation, business
automobile and general liability claims. The letters of credit are
supported by the Company’s Credit Facility.

Note 20
Benefit Plans
The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k)
plan”) covering substantially all full-time employees. Under the
terms of the 401(k) plan, the Company makes matching
contributions of up to two percent of participant’s wages.
Amounts expensed under the 401(k) plan for fiscal 2010, 2009
and 2008 were $9.2 million, $8.6 million and $6.9 million,
respectively.

Historically, the Company has participated in a number of multi-
employer pension plans providing defined benefits to union
employees under the terms of collective bargaining agreements
(“CBAs”). Contributions have been made to the plans in
accordance with negotiated CBAs. The plans generally provide
retirement benefits to participants based on their service to
contributing employers. The Company contributed $566
thousand, $753 thousand and $893 thousand to these plans in
fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

During fiscal 2010 and 2009, in connection with the renewal of
certain CBAs, the Company negotiated its withdrawal from multi-
employer defined benefit pension plans (“MEPP”) in about
two-thirds of its CBAs providing for such plans, replacing those
retirement plans for CBA employees with defined contribution
plans. As part of the withdrawal from a MEPP, the Company is
required to fund its portion of the MEPPs’ unfunded pension
obligation, if any. The ultimate amount of the withdrawal liability
assessed by the MEPP is impacted by a number of factors,
including investment returns, benefit levels, interest rates, and
continued participation by the Company and other employers in
the MEPP. The Company recognized charges related to the
withdrawal from these plans of $6.7 million ($4.1 million after tax)
and $2.1 million ($1.3 million after tax) for the years ended
March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Multi-employer pension
plan withdrawal liabilities amounted to $12.9 million at March 31,
2010 and $6.2 million at March 31, 2009. These estimates are
subject to change based on future market conditions, employer
contributions and benefit levels that will impact the ultimate
withdrawal.

Over the next two years, the Company intends to negotiate its
withdrawal from the MEPPs provided for in its five remaining
CBAs that provide for such plans. These CBAs cover approximately
60 employees and assuming a complete withdrawal from these
MEPPs, the Company estimates the additional withdrawal liability
to be approximately $6 million at March 31, 2010. Though the
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most recent plan data available from the remaining MEPPs was
used in computing this estimate, it is subject to change based on
future market conditions, employer contributions and benefit
levels that will impact the ultimate withdrawal liability should the
Company successfully negotiate the withdrawal from the MEPPs
provided for in the remaining CBAs.

Note 21
Related Parties
The Company purchases and sells goods and services in the
ordinary course of business with certain corporations in which
some of its directors are officers or directors. The Company also
leases certain operating facilities from employees who were
previous owners of businesses acquired. Payments made to
related parties for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $2.3 million,
$3.5 million and $1.1 million, respectively. Amounts paid to
related parties represented values considered fair and reasonable
and reflective of arm’s length transactions.

Note 22
Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash Paid for Interest and Taxes
Cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2010 2009 2008

Interest paid $ 74,984 $ 75,630 $ 93,076
Discount on securitization 5,651 10,738 17,031
Income taxes (net of refunds) 50,562 64,616 52,254

Significant Non-cash Investing and Financing Transactions
During the years ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the
Company purchased $4.0 million, $7.3 million and $13.7 million,
respectively, of rental welders, which were financed directly by a
vendor. The vendor financing was reflected as long-term debt on
the respective Consolidated Balance Sheets. Future cash payments
in settlement of the debt will be reflected in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows when paid.

In fiscal 2008 in connection with the NWS Exchange Transaction
(see Note 13), the Company issued 2.471 million shares of
common stock valued at approximately $64 million in a non-cash
transaction in exchange for the preferred stock of National
Welders.

In an acquisition consummated during fiscal 2008, a seller of a
business provided direct financing in the form of a $5 million note
payable by the Company. Approximately $2 million was
outstanding on the note at March 31, 2010. Payment of the note
will be reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
when the cash is paid. In addition, the Company assumed capital
lease obligations of $1.8 million in connection with an acquisition,
of which approximately $1.4 million was outstanding at
March 31, 2010.

In March 2008, the Company executed a $4.6 million purchase
transaction of its common stock under its Repurchase Plan (see

Note 14(e)) that settled in April 2008. The purchase was a
non-cash financing transaction that was recognized in treasury
stock and as an accrued liability on the March 31, 2008
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Note 23
Summary by Business Segment

The Company aggregates its operations, based on products and
services, into two reportable business segments, Distribution and
All Other Operations. The Distribution business segment’s principal
products include industrial, medical and specialty gases sold in
packaged and bulk quantities, as well as hardgoods. The
Company’s air separation facilities and national specialty gas labs
primarily produce gases that are sold by the Distribution business
segment’s business units. Gas sales include nitrogen, oxygen,
argon, helium, hydrogen, welding and fuel gases such as
acetylene, propylene and propane, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide,
ultra high purity grades, special application blends and process
chemicals. Business units in the Distribution business segment also
recognize rental revenue, derived from gas cylinders, cryogenic
liquid containers, bulk storage tanks, tube trailers and welding
and welding related equipment. Gas and rent represented 61%,
57% and 56% of the Distribution business segment’s sales in
fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Hardgoods consist
of welding consumables and equipment, safety products,
construction supplies, and maintenance, repair and operating
supplies. Hardgoods sales represented 39%, 43% and 44% of the
Distribution business segment’s sales in fiscal years 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively. The Distribution business segment
accounted for approximately 90% of consolidated sales in each of
the fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008.

The All Other Operations business segment consists of six business
units which primarily manufacture and/or distribute carbon
dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide, ammonia and refrigerant gases. The
business units reflected in the All Other Operations business
segment individually do not meet the thresholds to be reported as
separate business segments. Elimination entries represent
intercompany sales from the Company’s All Other Operations
business segment to its Distribution business segment.

The Company’s operations are predominantly in the United States.
However, the Company does conduct operations outside of the
United States, principally in Canada and, to a lesser extent,
Mexico, Russia, Dubai and Europe. Revenues derived from foreign
countries are based on the point of sale and were $77 million,
$86 million and $63 million in the fiscal years ended March 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Long-lived assets attributable
to the Company’s foreign operations represent less than 4.0% of
the consolidated total long-lived assets and were $141 million,
$116 million and $74 million at March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. The Company’s customer base is diverse with its
largest customer accounting for approximately 0.5% of total net
sales.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those
described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Note
1). Additionally, corporate operating expenses are allocated to
each segment based on sales dollars. However, the legal and
professional fees incurred as a result of Air Products’ unsolicited
tender offer were not allocated to the Company’s business
segments. These costs are reflected in the eliminations and other
column below. Corporate assets have been allocated to the
Distribution business segment, intercompany sales are recorded
on the same basis as sales to third parties, and intercompany
transactions are eliminated in consolidation. See Note 3 for the
impact of acquisitions and divestitures on the operating results of
each business segment.

Management utilizes more than one measurement and multiple
views of data to measure segment performance and to allocate
resources to the segments. However, the predominant
measurements are consistent with the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and, accordingly, are reported on the same
basis below.

(In thousands) Distribution
All Other

Operations
Eliminations

and Other Combined

Fiscal 2010
Gas and rent $ 2,106,128 $ 414,903 $ (24,240) $ 2,496,791
Hardgoods 1,361,199 6,038 (23) 1,367,214

Total net sales 3,467,327 420,941 (24,263) 3,864,005

Cost of products
sold (excluding
deprec. expense) 1,534,165 222,522 (24,263) 1,732,424

Selling, distribution
and administrative
expenses 1,345,583 128,016 — 1,473,599

Costs related
to unsolicited
takeover attempt — — 23,435 23,435

Depreciation 198,066 14,652 — 212,718
Amortization 18,196 4,035 — 22,231

Operating income $ 371,317 $ 51,716 $ (23,435) $ 399,598

Assets $ 4,035,018 $ 460,914 $ — $ 4,495,932
Capital expenditures $ 232,982 $ 19,846 $ — $ 252,828

(In thousands) Distribution
All Other

Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2009
Gas and rent $ 2,239,724 $ 452,037 $ (26,236) $ 2,665,525
Hardgoods 1,678,652 5,292 (14) 1,683,930

Total net sales 3,918,376 457,329 (26,250) 4,349,455

Cost of products
sold (excluding
deprec. expense) 1,813,125 258,145 (26,250) 2,045,020

Selling, distribution
and administrative
expenses 1,432,105 126,667 — 1,558,772

Depreciation 184,991 13,042 — 198,033
Amortization 18,267 4,495 — 22,762

Operating income $ 469,888 $ 54,980 $ — $ 524,868

Assets $ 3,948,112 $ 478,198 $ — $ 4,426,310
Capital expenditures $ 319,256 $ 32,656 $ — $ 351,912

(In thousands) Distribution
All Other

Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2008

Gas and rent $ 2,048,070 $ 339,455 $ (15,003) $ 2,372,522
Hardgoods 1,640,896 3,791 (185) 1,644,502

Total net sales 3,688,966 343,246 (15,188) 4,017,024

Cost of products
sold (excluding
deprec. expense) 1,770,000 174,451 (15,188) 1,929,263

Selling, distribution
and administrative
expenses 1,317,717 104,445 — 1,422,162

Depreciation 163,470 12,332 — 175,802
Amortization 11,857 2,116 — 13,973

Operating income $ 425,922 $ 49,902 $ — $ 475,824

Assets $ 3,694,717 $ 292,547 $ — $ 3,987,264
Capital expenditures $ 221,838 $ 45,540 $ — $ 267,378
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Note 24
Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

This table summarizes the unaudited results of operations for each
quarter of fiscal 2010 and 2009:

(In thousands, except
per share amounts) First Second Third Fourth

2010
Net sales $ 979,257 $ 962,266 $ 942,107 $980,375
Operating income 107,909 109,817 99,989 81,883
Net earnings 54,816 54,540 46,866 40,078
Basic earnings per share (a) $ 0.67 $ 0.67 $ 0.57 $ 0.48
Diluted earnings per share (a) $ 0.66 $ 0.65 $ 0.56 $ 0.47

2009
Net sales $1,116,714 $1,161,908 $1,078,733 $992,100
Operating income 134,852 144,988 130,522 114,506
Net earnings 68,883 72,821 62,903 56,481
Basic earnings per share (a) $ 0.83 $ 0.88 $ 0.77 $ 0.69
Diluted earnings per share (a) $ 0.81 $ 0.86 $ 0.76 $ 0.68

(a) Earnings per share calculations for each of the quarters are based on the weighted average
number of shares outstanding in each quarter. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings
per share does not necessarily equal the full year earnings per share disclosed on the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Note 25
Unsolicited Takeover Attempt

In February 2010, Air Products made public an unsolicited
proposal to acquire the Company and subsequently commenced a
tender offer for all outstanding shares of common stock of the
Company and initiated a proxy fight to elect three directors to our
board. The Company’s Board of Directors carefully evaluated each
proposal made by Air Products and, after consultation with its
financial and legal advisors, unanimously determined that Air
Products’ proposals were not in the best interests of the Company
or our shareholders. In response to Air Products’ actions, the
Company incurred $23.4 million of legal and professional fees,
which principally represent up-front accruals for the minimum
obligations to the Company’s advisors. The Company expects to
incur additional costs in the future in connection with Air
Products’ unsolicited tender offer and proxy contest.

Note 26
Subsequent Events

In April and May 2010, the Company repurchased $25.0 million of
the 2008 Notes at an average price of 110.6%. Losses on the early
extinguishment of debt of approximately $2.9 million ($1.8 million
after tax) will be recognized related to the redemption premiums and
the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs during the first
quarter ending June 30, 2010. On May 25, 2010, the Company
announced that its Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly
cash dividend of $0.22 per share. The dividend is payable June 30,
2010 to stockholders of record as of June 15, 2010.
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Reconciliation of Diluted Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations to Diluted Earnings per Share from Continuing
Operations, Excluding Certain Benefits and Charges

Years Ended March 31, 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 1.62 $ 1.92 $ 2.66 $ 3.12 $ 2.34

Costs related to unsolicited takeover attempt — — — — 0.18

Losses on the extinguishment of debt — 0.10 — — 0.14

Multi-employer pension plan withdrawal charges — — — — 0.05

Income tax benefits — (0.02) (0.01) — (0.03)

Hurricane-related losses 0.02 — — — —

National Welders exchange transaction — — 0.03 — —

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations, excluding
certain gains and charges $ 1.64 $ 2.00 $ 2.68 $ 3.12 $ 2.68

The Company believes that diluted earnings per share from continuing operations, excluding certain gains and charges, provides investors
meaningful insight into the Company’s earnings performance without the impact of costs related to Air Products’ unsolicited takeover
attempt, losses on the extinguishment of debt, multi-employer pension plan withdrawal charges, income tax benefits, hurricane-related
losses, and costs related to the National Welders exchange transaction.

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to, and
not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our diluted earnings per share from continuing operations, excluding certain gains and charges metric may
be different from diluted earnings per share from continuing operations, excluding certain gains and charges metrics provided by other
companies.

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 346,045 $ 326,343 $ 549,926 $ 582,767 $ 600,047

Adjustments to cash provided by operating activities:

Cash used (provided) by the securitization of trade

receivables (54,300) (20,200) (95,600) 48,600 16,400

Stock issued for employee stock purchase plan 10,534 11,951 14,091 16,507 15,428

Tax benefit realized from exercise of stock options — 9,013 13,327 11,846 15,444

Adjusted cash from operations 302,279 327,107 481,744 659,720 647,319

Capital expenditures (208,603) (238,274) (267,378) (351,912) (252,828)

Adjustments to capital expenditures:

Operating lease buyouts 14,558 9,509 979 5,575 1,687

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 8,202 8,685 9,345 14,360 14,466

Adjusted capital expenditures (185,843) (220,080) (257,054) (331,977) (236,675)

Free cash flow $ 116,436 $ 107,027 $ 224,690 $ 327,743 $ 410,644

The Company believes that free cash flow provides investors meaningful insight into the Company’s ability to generate cash
from operations, which is available for servicing debt obligations and for the execution of its business strategy, including acquisitions, the
prepayment of debt, the payment of dividends, or to support other investing and financing activities.

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to,
and not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our free cash flow metric may be different from free cash flow metrics provided by other companies.
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Reconciliation and Computation of Return on Capital

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Operating income $ 269,142 $ 341,497 $ 475,824 $ 524,868 $ 399,598

Add:

Costs related to unsolicited takeover attempt — — — — 23,435

Multi-employer pension plan withdrawal charges — — — — 6,650

Adjusted operating income $ 269,142 $ 341,497 $ 475,824 $ 524,868 $ 429,683

Five quarter average of total assets $ 2,378,324 $ 2,679,575 $ 3,710,066 $ 4,251,012 $ 4,434,239

Five quarter average of securitized trade receivables 216,360 246,240 310,880 350,280 288,500

Five quarter average of current liabilities (exclusive of debt) (326,618) (354,622) (423,266) (459,322) (424,454)

Five quarter average capital employed $ 2,268,066 $ 2,571,193 $ 3,597,680 $ 4,141,970 $ 4,298,285

Return on capital 11.9% 13.3% 13.2% 12.7% 10.0%

The Company believes this return on capital computation helps investors assess how effectively the Company uses the capital invested in
its operations.

Management uses return on capital as one of the metrics for determining employee compensation.

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to, and
not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our return on capital computation may be different from return on capital computations provided by other
companies.

Quarterly averages used in the computation of return on capital above reflect the impact of material acquisitions as of their respective
acquisition dates.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures (Unaudited) continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

Twenty-two Year Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted EBITDA to Cash from Operations

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

Operating income $ 15,958 $ 23,221 $ 17,286 $ 26,316 $ 34,367 $ 48,667 $ 72,600 $ 92,987 $ 80,480 $111,709
Add:
Depreciation & amortization 11,147 17,387 21,158 23,420 28,042 30,571 36,868 45,762 64,428 82,227
Costs related to unsolicited takeover

attempt — — — — — — — — — —
Multi-employer pension plan

withdrawal charges — — — — — — — — — —

Adjusted EBITDA 27,105 40,608 38,444 49,736 62,409 79,238 109,468 138,749 144,908 193,936

(Uses)/sources of cash excluded
from adjusted EBITDA, included
in cash from operations:

Interest expense, net (12,245) (16,198) (15,179) (12,838) (11,403) (12,486) (17,625) (24,862) (39,367) (52,603)
Discount on securitization of

receivables — — — — — — — — — —
Current income taxes 404 1,700 (599) (3,591) (5,653) (7,838) (12,345) (17,654) (20,012) (16,502)
Other income (expense) 215 157 870 214 546 453 1,607 781 1,695 9,811
Equity in earnings of Elkem joint

venture 1,415 1,435 2,009 2,019 (897) (1,258) (840) (1,428) (1,356) (1,478)
(Gains)/losses on divestitures — — — — — — (560) — — (1,452)
(Gain)/losses on sale of PP&E (32) 2 (715) (76) (292) (63) 110 (12) 616 (504)
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — — — — — — —
Income/(loss) on discontinued

operations — — — — — — — — 478 (635)
Costs related to unsolicited takeover

attempt — — — — — — — — — —
Multi-employer pension plan

withdrawal charges — — — — — — — — — —
Other non-cash charges 260 308 252 250 — — — — 3,930 11,422
Cash provided by (used in) changes in

assets and liabilities 4,379 702 6,712 15,968 13,608 6,752 (2,030) (6,948) (14,801) (13,548)

Net cash provided by operating
activities $ 21,501 $ 28,714 $ 31,794 $ 51,682 $ 58,318 $ 64,798 $ 77,785 $ 88,626 $ 76,091 $128,447

The Company believes adjusted EBITDA provides investors meaningful insight into the Company’s ability to generate cash from operations
to support required working capital, capital expenditures and financial obligations.

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to, and
not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our adjusted EBITDA metric may be different from adjusted EBITDA metrics provided by other companies.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures (Unaudited) continued

A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

$112,607 $105,461 $106,728 $124,938 $156,336 $168,544 $202,454 $269,142 $341,497 $475,824 $524,868 $399,598

83,839 85,262 82,796 71,757 79,279 87,447 111,078 127,542 147,343 189,775 220,795 234,949

— — — — — — — — — — — 23,435

— — — — — — — — — — — 6,650

196,446 190,723 189,524 196,695 235,615 255,991 313,532 396,684 488,840 665,599 745,663 664,632

(59,677) (56,879) (59,550) (46,775) (46,374) (42,357) (51,245) (54,145) (60,180) (89,485) (84,395) (63,310)

— — (1,303) (4,846) (3,326) (3,264) (4,711) (9,371) (13,630) (17,031) (10,738) (5,651)
(17,244) (16,902) (13,402) 4,546 (33,174) (24,623) (22,622) (30,718) (47,972) (69,459) (64,985) (51,634)
29,491 18,625 1,324 5,987 2,132 1,472 1,129 2,411 1,556 1,454 (382) 1,332

(869) — — — — — — — — — — —
(25,468) (17,712) (1,173) (5,548) 241 — (360) 1,900 — — — —

(222) (915) 502 405 (257) (837) (321) (1,330) 39 714 (964) 3,014
— — — — — — — — 15,445 16,629 20,635 22,868

(871) (335) (400) (3,529) (1,776) (457) 464 (1,424) — — — —

— — — — — — — — — — — (23,435)

— — — — — — — — — — — (6,650)
— 458 2,281 1,068 — — — — — — — —

(25,273) (22,686) 78,329 95,691 33,931 17,865 (23,456) 42,038 (57,755) 41,505 (22,067) 58,881

$ 96,313 $ 94,377 $196,132 $243,694 $187,012 $203,790 $212,410 $346,045 $326,343 $549,926 $582,767 $600,047
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Corporate Information
A I R G A S , I N C . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S

Corporate Office
259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087-5283
Telephone: 800 255-2165
Fax: 610 687-1052

www.airgas.com

Financial Information
The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to those reports filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) are available free of
charge on the Company’s website (www.airgas.com) under the
“Investors” section. The Company makes these documents
available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with
or furnished to the SEC, but no later than the end of the day on
which they are filed with or furnished to the SEC. Request for
copies of Airgas’ publicly filed documents and other stockholder
inquiries should be directed to:

Airgas, Inc.
Attention: Investor Relations
259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087-5283
Telephone: 610 902-6256
Fax: 610 225-3271

E-mail: investors@airgas.com

Quarterly Stock Information

High Low
Dividends Per

Share

Fiscal 2010
First Quarter $ 45.18 $ 34.46 $ 0.18
Second Quarter 50.21 37.44 0.18
Third Quarter 50.65 44.36 0.18
Fourth Quarter 65.71 42.26 0.22

Fiscal 2009
First Quarter $ 64.72 $ 45.98 $ 0.12
Second Quarter 60.00 44.35 0.12
Third Quarter 47.00 27.45 0.16
Fourth Quarter 40.65 27.09 0.16

Common Stock
Airgas’ common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange
under the ticker symbol ARG. The closing sale price of the
Company’s common stock as reported by the New York Stock
Exchange on May 25, 2010 was $62.23 per share. As of May 25,
2010, there were 396 stockholders of record.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG LLP
1601 Market Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Transfer Agent
The Bank of New York Mellon
480 Washington Boulevard
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900

Equal Opportunity at Airgas
Airgas is committed to providing equal opportunities in the
workplace.

Forward-Looking Statements
All forward-looking statements are based on current expectations
regarding important risk factors, which include, but are not
limited to, the factors described in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis” contained in this Annual Report.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
applicable to its employees, officers and directors. The Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct is available on the Company’s
website, under the link “Corporate Governance” under
“Company Information” and “About Airgas.” Amendments to
and waivers from the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct will
also be disclosed promptly on the website. In addition,
stockholders may request a printed copy of the Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct, free of charge, by contacting the Company’s
Investor Relations department.

Corporate Governance Guidelines
The Company has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines as
well as charters for its Audit Committee and Governance and
Compensation Committee. These documents are available on the
Company’s website, as noted above. Stockholders may also
request a copy of these documents, free of charge, by contacting
the Company’s Investor Relations department.

Certifications
The Company has filed certifications of its Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for
each of the years ended March 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.
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board of directors 
(from Left to Right)

W. Thacher Brown (1)(4) 
Former Chairman and President  
1838 Investment Advisors, LLC

Paula A. Sneed (2)(3) 
Former EVP Global Marketing  
Resources & Initiatives  
Kraft Foods

James W. Hovey (2)(4) 
President 
The Fox Companies

Peter McCausland (1) 
Chairman and CEO 
Airgas, Inc. 

David M. Stout (1)(3)(4) 
Former President, Pharmaceuticals 
GlaxoSmithKline 

Richard C. III (3) 
President and CEO 
Triumph Group, Inc. 

Ellen C. Wolf (2) 
Senior VP and CFO 
American Water

Lee M. Thomas (3) 
Chairman, President and CEO 
Rayonier, Inc.

John C. van Roden, Jr. (2)(4) 
Former EVP and Chief Financial Officer  
P.H. Glatfelter Company

(1) Executive Committee
(2) Audit Committee
(3) Governance and Compensation Committee
(4) Finance Committee
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